

Breat The

# Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

Katherine L. Turner, Evelina Börjesson, Amanda Huber and Cansas Mulligan



ISBN: 1-933095-64-4

© 2011 lpas.

Produced in the United States of America.

Suggested citation: Turner, Katherine L., Evelina Börjesson, Amanda Huber and Cansas Mulligan. 2011. Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Cover portraits photo credit: Richard Lord

The illustrations and photographs used in this publication are for illustrative purposes only. No similarity to any actual person, living or dead, is intended.

Ipas is a nonprofit organization that works around the world to increase women's ability to exercise their sexual and reproductive rights, especially the right to safe abortion. We seek to eliminate unsafe abortion and the resulting deaths and injuries and to expand women's access to comprehensive abortion care, including contraception and related reproductive health information and care. We strive to foster a legal, policy and social environment supportive of women's rights to make their own sexual and reproductive health decisions freely and safely.

Ipas is a registered 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization. All contributions to Ipas are tax deductible to the full extent allowed by law.

For more information or to donate to lpas:

lpas

P.O. Box 5027

Chapel Hill, NC 27514 USA

1-919-967-7052

ipas@ipas.org

www.ipas.org

Graphic designer: Jamie McLendon

Editor: Mélodie Hunter

✤Printed on recycled paper.

# Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

Katherine L. Turner, Evelina Börjesson, Amanda Huber and Cansas Mulligan

# Table of contents

Acknowledgements	1
About this toolkit	2
Part I: Introduction and barriers to care	7
Module 1: Introduction	9
1.1 Why focus on young women and abortion?	10
1.2 Defining and understanding young women	11
1.3 Abortion care for young women	14
1.4 Additional resources	16
1.5 References	16
Module 1 Tools	18
TOOL 1A: Introduction handout	19
TOOL 1B: Young women are	20
TOOL 1C: Gender and abortion	23
TOOL 1D: Defining a sexually healthy young person	27
TOOL 1E: Support we needed as youth	29
Module 2: Barriers to care	33
2.1 Introduction	34
2.2 Social barriers	34
2.3 Economic and logistical barriers	37
2.4 Legal and policy barriers	
2.5 Health system barriers	40



		lpas	Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit
	2.6 The interrelation of barriers		
	2.7 Additional resources		
	2.8 References		
	Module 2 Tools		
	TOOL 2A: Barriers to care handout		47
	TOOL 2B: Barriers to care		
Pa	rt II: Abortion care for young women		
Μ	odule 3: A rights-based approach to ca	re	
	3.1 Introduction		
	3.2 Young people's sexual and reproductive rights		
	3.3 Evolving capacities and the principle of capabil	lity	
	3.4 Additional resources		60
	3.5 References		61
	Module 3 Tools		
	TOOL 3A: A rights-based approach to care handou	t	
	TOOL 3B: Young women, international rights and a	abortio	n65
	TOOL 3C: The principle of capability		
Μ	odule 4: Building partnerships betweer	n you	ng people and adults77
	4.1 Introduction		
	4.2 Definition		
	4.3 Benefits		
	4.4 Partnering in abortion care		81
	4.5 Monitoring and evaluation		

lpas	Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit	
	4.6 Additional resources	83
	4.7 References	84
	Module 4 Tools	
	TOOL 4A: Building partnerships between young people and adults handout	87
	TOOL 4B: Working with young people	
	TOOL 4C: How young people can partner in, lead and transform abortion care	96
	TOOL 4D: Barriers to establishing successful partnerships with young people and h overcome them	
	TOOL 4E: Evaluating partnerships with young people	99
M	odule 5: Making abortion care accessible	101
	5.1 Introduction	102
	5.2 Addressing social barriers	102
	5.3 Addressing economic and logistical barriers	102
	5.4 Addressing legal and policy barriers	103
	5.5 Addressing health system barriers	104
	5.6 Additional resources	108
	5.7 References	109
	Module 5 Tools	110
	TOOL 5A: Making abortion care accessible handout	111
	TOOL 5B: Addressing barriers to care	113
	TOOL 5C: Service readiness assessment questions for providing abortion care to young women	117
	TOOL 5D: Improving abortion standards and guidelines for young women	120
	TOOL 5E: Improving abortion access for young women	123



Module 6: Making abortion care clinically appropriate	129
6.1 Introduction	130
6.2 Provider attitudes	130
6.3 Options counseling	130
6.4 Abortion counseling	132
6.5 Postabortion contraceptive counseling and methods	136
6.6 Clinical care	138
6.7 Additional resources	141
6.8 References	142
Module 6 Tools	146
TOOL 6A: Making abortion care clinically appropriate handout	147
TOOL 6B: Through their eyes: Young women's experiences with abortion	150
TOOL 6C: Counseling skills	152
TOOL 6D: Abortion counseling for young women skills checklist	158
TOOL 6E: Young women's perception of abortion care survey	161
TOOL 6F: Sample wall poster	170
Glossary of terms	171
Workshop tools	174
Four-day workshop agenda	175
Pre-workshop survey	178
Post-workshop survey	
Workshop survey answer key	192
Workshop evaluation form	196

### **CD-ROM** contents

#### Toolkit documents

- Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit
- Abortion care for young women PowerPoint presentation
- Abortion care for young women: Needs assessment survey results and recommendations
  - Abortion care for young women: Literature review
- Sample wall poster
- Workshop tools

#### Resources

- Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audiences, including:
  - Activities adapted for young women and abortion
- Effective training in reproductive health: Course design and delivery. Reference and Trainer's manuals
- Exploring abortion: A collection of self-reflection and sensitization activities for global audiences
- Woman-centered abortion care. Reference and Trainer's manuals

## Acknowledgements

The authors would like to express their gratitude to everyone who provided support and guidance in the conceptualization, development and review of this toolkit. We extend our deep appreciation to master's student intern Lauren Westervelt for her many important contributions. She was integral in determining the need and basis for this toolkit by conducting a global needs assessment and literature review (available on the CD-ROM) and provided valuable input during the early phase of the toolkit's development. Joan Healy provided several rounds of in-depth technical review and guidance. Thanks to consultant Lisa Moreau for developing first drafts of several tools.

An international team of Ipas technical reviewers provided substantive, thoughtful feedback and insightful recommendations: Mary Fjerstad, Leila Hessini, Brooke Levandowski, Makgoale Magwentshu, Joachim Osur, Bill Powell, Patty Skuster and Laura Villa. Thanks also to the Ipas Resource Center team – Julia Cleaver, Michael Hughes, Allison Long, Elese Stutts and Jean Vollrath – for their valuable assistance in locating the many references reviewed for the evidence-based recommendations.

The authors would like to acknowledge the following organizations and individuals who reviewed the toolkit and provided valuable feedback and recommendations:

*Balance Promoción para el Desarrollo y Juventud A.C.:* Gabriela García Patiño, Eugenia López Uribe and Oriana López Uribe

CHOICE for Youth and Sexuality: Annelies Mesman

*Fundación para la Salud del Adolescente del 2000:* Sandra Vazquez and Nina Zamberlin

*Gram Praudyogik Vikas Sansthan:* Ripudaman Kumar, Himani Mishra, Surendra K. Sinha and the 16 young people they surveyed

International Planned Parenthood Federation: Doortje Braeken, Katie Chau, Kelly Culwell and Kat Watson

International Planned Parenthood Federation - Western Hemisphere Region (IPPF-WHR): Marcela Rueda Gomez

Marie Stopes International: Kate Worsley

Pathfinder International: Gwyn Hainsworth

*Planned Parenthood Federation of America:* Jeanne Ewy, Nyanda Labor, Deborah Nucotola and Claire Tibbets

Swedish Association for Sexuality Education: Christina Rogala

Individuals:

Michelle Forcier

The following organizations have reviewed and endorsed this toolkit:

Balance Promoción para el Desarrollo y Juventud A.C.

CHOICE for Youth and Sexuality

Fundación para la Salud del Adolescente del 2000

Gram Praudyogik Vikas Sansthan

International Planned Parenthood Federation

International Planned Parenthood Federation - Western Hemisphere Region

Pathfinder International

Swedish Association for Sexuality Education

## About this toolkit

This toolkit was created to help ensure that all abortion care programs and services are accessible to and appropriate for young women. It is a global resource for health-care providers, trainers, administrators, program managers, health system officials and technical advisors of abortion care programs and services. It is designed to provide information and guidance on delivering and ensuring access to appropriate induced abortion care for young women (ages 10-24). It also provides experienced trainers with the background information, materials, instructions and tips necessary to effectively facilitate training sessions.

#### Focus

The focus of this toolkit is on induced abortion care for young women for all applicable legal indications. All but a few countries have one or more legal indications for abortion, although some laws are very restrictive. The intention is for health systems and providers to deliver abortion care to the full extent of the law and to ensure that all eligible women, including young women, are able to access the services to which they are rightfully entitled. This toolkit does not specifically address postabortion care (PAC) or other related services, although much of the content is also applicable to PAC and other health services. There are excellent existing resources on the provision of postabortion care tool (Hainsworth et al. 2008). This toolkit focuses on the provision of and access to abortion care for young women. Guidance and tools on abortion care for women in general are covered in other resource documents, such as lpas's woman-centered abortion care curriculum (Hyman and Castleman 2005, Hyman et al. 2005), available on the CD-ROM and www.ipas.org.

The toolkit contains more on advocacy, partnerships and service delivery than clinical issues because there is little empirical evidence on the clinical aspects of abortion care for young women specifically. Existing research demonstrates few differences in the clinical needs of young women compared to adults. Programmatic considerations, and the different ways providers address young women, are more significant. This toolkit provides guidance on identifying and removing barriers to abortion care and ensuring the care provided to young women is appropriate.

#### Toolkit development

To develop guidance on abortion care for young women, the authors reviewed current clinical evidence (particularly peer-reviewed journal articles), a global literature review of research on youth-oriented health service models, a survey and literature review of existing abortion-related training materials and approaches, and the perspectives of young people around the world as expressed through published research, survey responses, essays, poems and art work. A young master's student intern was actively involved in researching and gathering information for the toolkit. In addition, young people from four countries were also asked to review the toolkit, and their comments were incorporated into the final version.

### Audiences

While the primary audiences for this toolkit are health-care providers, trainers, administrators, program managers, health system officials and technical advisors of abortion care programs and services, some materials can also be used to engage a variety of stakeholders, including community groups, young people, policymakers, advocates and donors. Because this was developed as a global toolkit, content and activities were not tailored to any specific country or context. The content should be adapted to meet the needs of the specific audience. Information on adaptation is provided below.

#### Language

We refer to "young women" throughout most of the toolkit. Where the issues apply to both young women and men, we discuss "young people" and the roles and inclusion of young men in abortion care. We describe the distinction between sex and gender in Module 1 and respectfully acknowledge the important nuances of – and right to – people's unique sexual and gender identities and expressions.

In this toolkit we discuss abortion care that is appropriate for, accessible to and developed in partnership with young women. Ipas and partner agencies endorsing this toolkit recommend and promote health care for young people which respects human rights, engages young people as partners and leaders in their own health, is accessible to all young people and is clinically safe and appropriate.

### Background research

In 2010, lpas conducted a needs assessment on training and educational materials. experiences and provider practices on safe abortion care for young women using a literature review and survey. The literature review synthesized information from 45 key documents found in extensive searches of grey literature as well as published articles. The survey gathered data from Ipas staff, consultants and partner organization staff. The assessment found that the most commonly used training and educational materials were not youth-specific ones. Although there were materials on providing sexual and reproductive health care to young people, no materials were available on providing abortion to young women. The few youth-focused materials that did mention abortion mainly referred to postabortion care and contraception, avoiding inclusion of comprehensive abortion care. Many materials seemed to reflect the dearth of research on young people and sexual and reproductive health care, particularly abortion, and resultant scant evidence base for recommendations. The survey indicated that providers desired specialized training in the provision of abortion care to young women. Based on these findings, Ipas determined that a training toolkit on providing safe abortion to young women that addressed these considerations was needed, in addition to more research (Westervelt et al. 2011). The needs assessment report, including the literature review, is available on the CD-ROM.

### Organization of this toolkit

Part I provides background, core terms and key issues involved in abortion care for young women:

- Module 1 demonstrates why a focus on young women and abortion is necessary. It is an introduction to the topic and provides definitions of basic terms and issues.
- Module 2 describes the social, economic, logistical, legal, policy and health systems barriers to safe abortion care for young women. It can be used to identify areas that need improvement.

Part II provides guidance and tools for implementing the Four Pillars of abortion care for young women:

- Module 3 introduces sexual and reproductive rights for young people and young people's rights to decisionmaking in health care. It establishes abortion care that is rights-based.
- Module 4 is about building partnerships between adults and young people on abortion care to ensure that abortion care is participatory at all stages of service delivery.
- Module 5 discusses how to make abortion care accessible to young women by removing many of the social, logistical, policy and health systems barriers facing them.
- Module 6 presents considerations health-care providers should make in providing abortion care that is clinically safe and appropriate for young women.

Each module includes tools to improve abortion service delivery for young women, as well as a list of additional resources and references.

#### How to use this toolkit

The modules in this toolkit can be used in the order they appear in a comprehensive workshop or separately to meet specific programmatic or training needs. When using only one or a few modules, it is essential to ensure that participants have the appropriate background knowledge of the information provided in the preceding modules, as the modules build on each other.

#### Adaptation

Because nearly all countries in the world currently have one or more legal indications for abortion, the information in this toolkit is applicable in most settings. However, advance preparation and facilitator notes in the activity instructions provide guidance on when the content or format may need to be adapted to be more appropriate and relevant to the participants. Facilitators should gather information on local laws and policies, sociocultural norms, service delivery practices, barriers to access and other considerations and adapt content as needed.

It is important to consider the following:

- A regional workshop with participants from different countries lends itself to opportunities for people to be grouped in country teams for certain activities. Sessions that are offered in country may present the opportunity to group participants by regions or states.
- Participants' level of experience and skills may be varied. This will need to be addressed in advance when designing the workshop and tailoring activities and scenarios, although most of the materials are appropriate for a wide range of skills and experience.

#### Participant and workshop considerations

*Number of participants and room layout:* These activities were designed with a time frame that is based on an average number of 24 participants. Because many of the activities are designed for small group work, an ideal physical layout for the room is clusters of 6-8 people per table.

*Participant screening:* Support for abortion care is crucial for an effective workshop and outcomes. This toolkit is intended for people who are already supportive of sexual and reproductive rights, including abortion care. Providers who are still questioning their values or who are not supportive of abortion care may need to attend a **values clarification** workshop in advance. Please see *Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audiences* (Turner and Page 2008) on the CD-ROM or at www.ipas.org for more information.

*Training methods and materials:* Facilitators will need to read the toolkit in advance to familiarize themselves with the content and references. Facilitators can cover the content using PowerPoint slides, participant handouts and materials and activities that are facilitated according to the included instructions. The PowerPoint slides are not sufficient when used alone because they do not cover all of the content. In addition, using only the lecture method is strongly discouraged as it significantly decreases participants' learning and retention. Instructions for flipcharts are included for facilitators who prefer them to PowerPoint slides. Each module has a participant handout that summarizes key information and should be distributed to participants after covering the module contents. The activities and their accompanying materials were designed according to adult learning principles to facilitate active engagement and knowledge and skills acquisition for a range of learning styles.

For overall guidance and resources on effective training methodologies, including examples of icebreakers, energizers and evaluations, please see Ipas's *Effective training in reproductive health: Course design and delivery*, Reference and Trainer's manuals (Turner et al. 2003, Wegs et al. 2003), available on the CD-ROM and at www.ipas.org.

*Evaluation and follow-up:* Sample pre- and post-workshop surveys are included and can be used to assess initial knowledge, comfort levels and attitudes on abortion care for young women and discern changes from the beginning to the end of the workshop. Facilitators should review the surveys in advance and make any changes to reflect the content that will be covered in that workshop. A sample workshop evaluation form is also included to measure participant satisfaction against the objectives and suggestions for improvement.

Sample agenda: A sample four-day agenda is included to provide guidance on designing workshops. The sample agenda includes values clarification activities that have been adapted specifically to address abortion care for young women. We also recommend conducting general abortion values clarification before any workshop focusing on abortion care for young women. Facilitators should create a tailored agenda that meets the time frame and specific objectives for each workshop. Facilitators can also incorporate individual activities from this manual into workshops on other related topics.

Additional workshop content: We recommend additional content for workshops related to abortion care for young women that is not included in this toolkit. These include: Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audiences, including "Activities adapted for young women and abortion" (Turner and Page 2008) and "Exploring abortion: A collection of self-reflection and sensitization activities for global audiences" (McSmith et al. 2011), both available on the CD-ROM and at www.ipas.org. You can also consult the Additional Resources section in each module.

#### Workshop goal and objectives

GOAL: The goal of this workshop is to engage providers, health-care professionals and other stakeholders to ensure access to rights-based, participatory, clinically safe and appropriate abortion care for young women.

OBJECTIVES: By the end of this workshop, participants will be able to:

- Articulate how their perceptions and assumptions may affect their interactions and delivery of abortion care to young women.
- Demonstrate increased empathy for young women seeking abortion.
- Articulate how assumptions about gender and sexuality may affect their attitudes about young women's needs for abortion care.
- Define a sexually healthy young person.
- Describe the different barriers young women encounter when seeking safe abortion care.

- Identify human, sexual and reproductive rights that support a young woman's right to safe abortion.
- Describe their role in ensuring a young woman's right to safe abortion.
- Identify the assumptions they make about the decisionmaking capabilities of young women.
- Determine if a young woman can be considered capable of deciding if she needs abortion care, using the "principle of capability."
- Explore how young women can participate in abortion-related services and programs at the community and clinic levels.
- Identify strategies to address the challenges young women face in accessing abortion care, including involvement of young people.
- Develop strategies to improve abortion access and service delivery for young women.
- Identify strengths and weaknesses of an abortion counseling session.

#### References

Hainsworth Gwyn, Carolyn Boyce and Ellen Israel. 2008. Assessment of youth-friendly postabortion care services: A global tool for assessing and improving postabortion care for youth. Watertown, MA: Pathfinder International.

Hyman, Alyson G. and Laura Castleman. 2005. *Woman-centered abortion care: Reference manual.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Hyman, Alyson G., Teresa McInerney and Katherine Turner. 2005. *Woman-centered abortion care: Trainer's manual.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

McSmith, Deborah, Evelina Börjesson, Laura Villa and Katherine L. Turner. 2011. *Exploring abortion: A collection of self-reflection and sensitization activities for global audiences.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Turner, Katherine, Christina Wegs, and Betsy Randall-David. 2003. *Effective training in reproductive health: Course design and delivery. Trainer's Manual.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Turner, Katherine L. and Kimberly Chapman Page. 2008. *Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audiences*. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Wegs, Christina, Katherine Turner, and Betsy Randall-David. 2003. *Effective training in reproductive health: Course design and delivery. Reference Manual.* Chapel Hill: Ipas.

Westervelt, Lauren, Katherine L. Turner, Evelina Börjesson and Cansas Mulligan. 2011. Abortion care for young women: Needs assessment survey results and recommendations. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

## Part I: Introduction and barriers to care

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Barriers to care



## Module 1: Introduction



Image used with permission of Youth Coalition for Sexual and Reproductive Rights © 2007. Special thanks to the participants of the 2007 National Safe Abortion Advocacy Workshop in Ecuador.

### 1.1 Why focus on young women and abortion?

Human rights provide the foundation for the recommendations in this toolkit. All people, including young women, have a right to health. Young women face unique vulnerabilities and barriers to health-care access related to their age and gender, and their rights are often neither recognized nor upheld. Safe, respectful abortion information and care are essential to ensure young women's sexual and reproductive health and well-being. A rights-based approach assumes young women's capacity to be actively involved in and consent to their own health care in accordance with their capacities.

There are over 1.7 billion young people aged 10-24 in the world (PRB 2006). This is the largest population of young people in history. Their sociocultural environment and circumstances are changing, which can affect the likelihood of unwanted pregnancy and abortion:

- Girls are reaching puberty earlier now than in previous decades; for example, the average age of menarche in Kenya was 14.4 years in the late 1970s, compared to 12.9 years in the late 1980s (WHO et al. 2006).
- Due to global efforts to broaden opportunities for young women, many are now staying in school longer, migrating further away from their birth place, entering the workforce in larger numbers and marrying later.
- While puberty arrives earlier, the average age of marriage is increasing for both men and women in many countries; for example, in Eastern and Southern Africa, 37 percent of women currently 20-24, compared to 53 percent of women currently aged 40-44, were married by age 18 (Bremner et al. 2009). The time period during which young women may be unmarried while also able to become pregnant is expanding (Cook and Dickens 2000, Singh et al. 2000).
- Pregnancy and motherhood outside of marriage are stigmatized in many societies, which may cause young, unmarried pregnant women to seek abortion. Other reasons that are independent of marital status include a desire to continue education; an unsupportive or absent partner; inadequate resources; the pregnancy resulted from violence or abuse; health risks; or the woman does not want to become a mother at that time, or at all.

Pregnancy and childbirth-related complications continue to be one of the leading causes of death for women 15-19 years old (Rowbottom 2007). The United Nations estimates that more than 14 million young women give birth each year, and over 90 percent of these young women live in developing countries. Prevention of young women's unwanted pregnancy is essential to reduce pregnancy and childbirth complications and death. If contraception was accessible and used consistently and correctly by women wanting to avoid pregnancy, maternal deaths would decline by an estimated 25–35 percent (Lule et al. 2007). Because of the many barriers to safe abortion care, a young woman who decides to terminate her pregnancy is likely to resort to unsafe abortion. Unsafe abortion is a large contributor to maternal mortality and morbidity among young women:

- Adolescent girls in developing countries undergo at least 2.2 to 4 million unsafe abortions each year (WHO 2007).
- In Sub-Saharan Africa, over 60 percent of unsafe abortions are among women younger than 25 years (Greene et al. 2010).
- Worldwide, young women under the age of 20 make up 70 percent of all hospitalizations from unsafe abortion complications (Plan 2007).
- Approximately 47,000 women per year die from unsafe abortion complications (Shah and Ahman 2010). In 2003, young women accounted for approximately 45 percent of the estimated unsafe abortion-related deaths (WHO 2007).

The extremely high number of young women who continue to resort to unsafe abortion makes it critical to ensure that young women, independent of marital status, have access to safe abortion as part of comprehensive health-care services.

There are many social, economic, logistical, policy and health system barriers to safe abortion care for young women, including: stigma and negative attitudes, fear of negative repercussions, lack of access to comprehensive sexuality education, limited financial resources, cost of care, transportation, involvement laws and concerns over privacy and confidentiality. They explain why young women often find no alternative than to resort to unsafe abortion, even in settings where safe abortion is legal. They also shed light on why young women who obtain abortion care tend to access it later in the pregnancy than adults (Finer et al. 2006), and are more likely to delay seeking help for abortion-related complications than adults (WHO et al. 2006).

The changing environment and circumstances of young women, the extremely high number of young women who continue to risk their lives and health by resorting to unsafe abortion, and the many barriers they face in attempting to access safe care indicate a need for abortion care that is focused on young women.

#### Role and inclusion of young men

We focus on young women in this toolkit because they experience unwanted pregnancy and abortion in their bodies and bear the primary burden of the consequences. However, it is crucial to engage young men to take a proactive role in preventing unwanted pregnancy, supporting women's right to make decisions about their sexual and reproductive health and ensuring availability and access to safe abortion care. Young men should be considered and included in abortion care access and delivery in a constructive way that addresses challenges and barriers and does not limit or diminish women's rights.

"Involving young men from the early stages of their adolescence is an effective way of positively changing the traditional relationship between young men and women and their sexual and reproductive health practices." (IPPF 2004)

### 1.2 Defining and understanding young women

#### Defining young women

To provide abortion care that is appropriate for young women, we have to define and understand who young women are. People in the developmental stage between the onset of puberty and a culturally-determined entrance to adulthood are called adolescents, youth and young people. During the transition from childhood to adulthood, young people undergo significant biological, psychological, cognitive, sociocultural and economic changes (PRB 2000, WHO et al. 2006). People aged 10-19 are widely accepted as "adolescents," while "youth" are 15-24 years of age and "young people" encompasses both age ranges, ages 10-24 (PRB 2000, WHO et al. 2006). In this toolkit, "young women" will be used to refer to females aged 10-24.

Age alone cannot define young women or help us understand their needs. Young women are diverse and their circumstances, including marital, educational and socioeconomic status and living conditions, differ. The 10-24 years age range encompasses many developmental stages. Young women experience and express their gender and sexuality in different ways. Young women may engage in sexual relationships with women, men or both, whether or not they choose to identify as lesbian, bisexual or heterosexual. Their gender identity may exist at different points along a continuum. To better serve the needs of young women, it is important to recognize their diversity and their varying and fluctuating experiences.

#### Development

Young women's physical development is characterized by:

- Growth spurts and changes in body composition;
- The appearance of secondary sexual characteristics: breast development, hip enlargement and pubic and underarm hair;
- Enhancement of sexual capacity and establishment of reproductive capacity: increase in size, function and maturation of the sexual organs and onset of menstruation and fertility. (EngenderHealth 2002, PRB 2000, WHO et al. 2006).

Social development and a culturally-recognized transition into adulthood are more contextual. Adulthood is typically associated with possessing social maturity and independence from parents and other elders. Because the transition into adulthood is not a discrete event but occurs over several years, there is often uncertainty about when adulthood has been achieved and the degree of control young people should have over decisions affecting themselves and others; this includes codified markers such as the right to consent to sex, vote and bear legal responsibility for one's actions. As such, young people are often economically, politically and socially marginalized. Historically, however, they have frequently been powerful agents of social change (Ginwright et al. 2006).

#### Sex, gender and sexuality

For young people, the process of exploring and embracing their sexual and gender identity can be confusing amid the many sociocultural messages about what is "normal" or desirable. This process can be smoother for young people when adults, including healthcare providers, offer non-judgmental support and factual information. Sex, gender and sexuality are all important and relevant concepts for people involved in abortion care to understand and address.

Sex is a biological trait, determined by whether a person has female or male chromosomes and/or genitals. It is distinct from gender. Most people's sex is relatively straightforward to determine. However, some people's appearance may not fit strict social norms for their sex. Some people are born with genitalia, reproductive organs or chromosomes that do not fit the typical definitions of "male" and "female," and when they further develop during puberty, it becomes apparent that their sex is different than they had assumed at birth (SIECUS 2004).

*Gender* is complex and exists on multiple levels. At the individual level, it is a psychological trait, a person's internal sense of self that is somewhere along a continuum of female to male which can fluctuate throughout the life cycle. A person's gender self-perception, expression and preferences can be different from their sex; this may be challenging for some young people, especially in societies where gender non-conformity is taboo and stigmatized.



At a societal level, gender roles are a culture's expectations of how a girl/woman or boy/man should behave and cultural beliefs about what is inherently "feminine" and "masculine." Gender inequalities mean that gender roles are inextricably linked to power imbalances between women and men in most societies (EngenderHealth 2002, SIECUS 2004). Many mainstream societies see gender as binary, whereas some people may find that their gender is in fact more fluid and does not fit into one of two categories. Kumar et al. suggest that a woman terminating her pregnancy conflicts with widely-held ideas of what is "feminine": that female sexuality is solely for procreation, that motherhood is inevitable and that women instinctively nurture (2009). Cultural beliefs about gender can vary by age; certain behaviors are considered strictly feminine or masculine in adults but not necessarily in children or young people. For example, being interested in or curious about sex may be considered feminine, and thus desirable, in an adult, married woman but masculine, and thus undesirable, in a young woman. Cultural gender roles may also make it difficult for a young woman to refuse sex or marriage with a man because of a cultural value placed on women having a male partner. All of these cultural gender beliefs may make decisionmaking and access to abortion care difficult for young women if family members, abortion facility staff and providers have not examined their gender assumptions.

Sexuality is highly relevant to the issue of safe abortion care. A sexually healthy person, adult or youth, is someone who feels they have the right and ability – through accurate information and safe, respectful and comprehensive sexual and reproductive health care – to enjoy and express their sexuality. They are able to protect themselves while experiencing opportunities for love and intimacy (EngenderHealth 2002, SIECUS 2004). Societies contribute to the sexual health of their citizens if they provide low social stigma and strong social support, as well as decreased risks of sexually transmitted infections (STIs), unwanted pregnancy, coercion, violence and discrimination.

Sexuality is shaped by a person's understanding of their own sex and gender, their culture's gender roles, as well as their:

- Relationships with family, friends, romantic and sexual partners;
- Sexual behavior such as masturbation, kissing, touching, sexual intercourse, abstinence and fantasy;
- Sexual health, including knowledge of and access to counseling, contraception, abortion, prevention and treatment of STIs, other reproductive health concerns, and sexual dysfunction.

"sexuality i think refers to many things that are present in connection with sex, but not only to sexual intercourse. therefore, healthy sexuality refers to all the feelings/emotions, attitudes, towards having sex and the timing of having it, in its entirety." - young person, ethiopia

Sexuality can also be strongly influenced by sexual violence, defined as any abusive or unjust use of power that has a sexual aspect, including the use of sexuality to manipulate others (Irvin 2004).

#### Expectations

I am expected to be; But still remain weak. I am expected to become professional; But also a good mother. I am expected to submit, And never to rebel. I am expected to be caring; And never selfish. I am expected to satisfy my partner; No matter my feelings. I am expected to wash, cook and clean; And never feel tired. I have the right to freedom; But it is a myth to me.

(By Renee Maria Cozier, Trinidad, Youth Coalition, 2007)

### 1.3 Abortion care for young women

Abortion care for young women has Four Pillars:

- Respect for young women and their rights
- Participation by young women in all stages of service delivery
- Accessibility
- Safety and appropriateness

Guiding principles of abortion care for young women include:

- Young women have the right to decide whether, when and with whom to have sex.
- Young women have the right to decide whether, when and with whom to have a child.
- Young women have a right to high-quality health care which includes comprehensive abortion care and contraceptive services.
- Young women have a right to confidential care that protects their privacy and safety.
- Young women are the most important stakeholders in their sexual and reproductive health care.



- Young women have perspectives and experiences that older people do not, which can help improve service provision.
- By voluntarily seeking safe abortion care, young women can be presumed capable of informed consent to such care.

These principles should not be limited by a young woman's age, sexuality, marital, HIV or socioeconomic status or the legal framework for abortion in her country.

Key characteristics of abortion care for young women include: (Adapted from Senderowitz 1999)

- Young women are welcomed as clients.
- Facility staff show respect to all young women.
- Facility staff are trained in abortion care for young women.
- The facility/provider partners with young people in service delivery; for example: youth advisory board, youth counselor or young clients' advocate.
- The facility/provider collaborates with other community stakeholders where possible.
- Privacy and confidentiality are maintained.
- Involvement by a supportive adult is encouraged but not required.
- The facility has convenient hours and location.
- Fees are affordable.
- Waiting times are short and drop-ins are allowed.
- There is adequate time for services.
- A wide range of services are available, or referrals can be made.

### 1.4 Additional resources

Aggleton, Peter and Richard Parker, eds. 2010. *Routledge Handbook of Sexuality, Health and Rights.* New York, NY: Routledge.

De Bruyn, Maria and Nadine France. 2001. *Gender or sex: who cares? Skills-building resource pack on gender and reproductive health for adolescents and youth workers*. Chapel Hill: Ipas. Available online at: http://www.ipas.org/Publications/asset\_upload\_file99\_2439.pdf

EngenderHealth. 2002. Sexuality and Sexual Health online minicourse. New York, NY: EngenderHealth. Available online at: http://www.engenderhealth.org/files/pubs/ courses/sshcourse.pdf

EngenderHealth. 2002. *Youth-friendly services: A manual for providers*. New York, NY: EngenderHealth. Available online at http://www.engenderhealth.org/pubs/gender/ youth-friendly-services.php

The International Sexuality and HIV Curriculum Working Group. 2009. *It's All One Curriculum: Guidelines and Activities for a Unified Approach to Sexuality, Gender, HIV and Human Rights Education*. New York, NY: The Population Council. We recommend in particular Guidelines Unit 2 "Gender." Available online at: http://www.popcouncil. org/publications/books/2010\_ItsAllOne.asp

International Planned Parenthood Federation. 2011. Understanding Young People's Right to Decide, What is childhood and what do we mean by 'young person'? London: IPPF.

International Planned Parenthood Federation Western Hemisphere Region. 2008. Sexual Diversity Tool Kit. IPPF/WHR. Available online at: http://www.ippfwhr.org/en/SDtoolkit\_en

Ipas. 2011. What can men do to support reproductive choice? Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Available online at: http://www.ipas.org/Publications/asset\_upload\_file186\_5830.pdf

Senderowitz, Judith, Cathy Solter and Gwyn Hainsworth. 2002. "Module 16: Reproductive Health Services for Adolescents." In *Comprehensive Reproductive Health and Family Planning Training Curriculum*. Watertown: Pathfinder International. Available online at: http://www.pathfind.org/site/PageServer?pagename=Pubs\_ Training\_Curriculum

SIECUS. 2004. *Guidelines for Comprehensive Sexuality Education: Kindergarten through 12th Grade, Third Edition.* New York: SIECUS. Available online at: http://www.siecus.org/\_data/global/images/guidelines.pdf

UNESCO. 2009. International guidelines on sexuality education: An evidence informed approach to effective sex, relationships and HIV/STI education. Paris: UNESCO. Available online at: http://graphics8.nytimes.com/packages/pdf/world/082509\_unesco. pdf

#### 1.5 References

Bremner, Jason, Carl Haub, Marlene Lee, Mark Mather and Eric Zuehlke. 2009. World Population Highlights: Key Findings from PRB's 2009 World Population Data Sheet. *Population Bulletin* 64 (3). Washington, DC: PRB.

Cook, Rebecca and Bernard Dickens. 2000. Recognizing adolescents' 'evolving capacities' to exercise choice in reproductive healthcare. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics.* 70: 13-21.



Cozier, Renee Maria. 2007. "Expectations." In International Youth Perspectives on Abortion: A Collection of Essays, Poems and Drawings. Ottawa: The Youth Coalition.

EngenderHealth. 2002. *Youth-friendly services: A manual for providers.* New York, NY: EngenderHealth.

Finer, Lawrence B., Lori F. Frohwirth, Lindsay A. Dauphinee, Susheela Singh and Ann M. Moore. 2006. Timing of steps and reasons for delays in obtaining abortions in the United States. *Contraception.* 74 (4): 334-44.

Ginwright, Shawn, Pedro Noguera and Julio Cammarota, eds. 2006. *Beyond Resistance! Youth Activism and Community Change: New Democratic Possibilities for Practice and Policy for America's Youth*. New York, NY: Routledge.

Greene, Margaret E., Laura Cardinal and Eve Goldstein-Siegel. 2010. *Girls Speak: A New Voice in Global Development.* Washington, DC: International Center for Research on Women.

International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF). 2004. SRH: whose concern? *X-press,* 6 (1): 5.

Irvin, Andrea. 2004. *Positively Informed: Lesson Plans and Guidance for Sexuality Educators and Advocates.* New York, NY: International Women's Health Coalition.

Kumar, Anuradha, Leila Hessini and Ellen M. H. Mitchell. 2009. Conceptualising abortion stigma. *Culture, Health and Sexuality.* 11 (6): 625-39.

Lule, Elizabeth, Susheela Singh and Sadia Afroze Chowdhury. 2007. Fertility Regulation Behavior and Their Costs: Contraception and Unintended Pregnancies in Africa and Eastern Europe and Central Asia. HNP Discussion Paper. Washington, DC: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank.

Plan. 2007. Because I am a Girl: The State of the World's Girls 2007. London: Plan.

Population Reference Bureau. 2000. The World's Youth 2000. Washington, DC: PRB/ MEASURE Communication.

Population Reference Bureau. 2006. The World's Youth 2006 Data Sheet. Washington, DC: PRB/BRIDGE.

Rowbottom, Sara. 2007. *Giving girls today and tomorrow: Breaking the cycle of adolescent pregnancy.* New York: UNFPA.

SIECUS. 2004. *Guidelines for Comprehensive Sexuality Education: Kindergarten through 12th Grade*, Third Edition. New York: SIECUS.

Senderowitz, Judith. 1999. *Making Reproductive Health Services Youth Friendly. Research, Program and Policy Series.* Washington, DC: Focus on Young Adults/Pathfinder International.

Shah, Iqbal and Elisabeth Ahman. 2010. Unsafe abortion in 2008: Global and regional levels and trends. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 18 (36): 90-101.

Singh, Susheela, Deirdre Wulf, Renee Samara and Yvette P. Cuca. 2000. Gender Differences in the Timing of First Intercourse: Data from 14 Countries. *International Family Planning Perspectives*. 26 (1): 21-8.

World Health Organization, Commonwealth Medical Association Trust and UNICEF. 2006. *Orientation Programme on Adolescent Health for Health-care Providers.* Geneva: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. 2007. Unsafe abortion: Global and regional estimate of the incidence of unsafe abortion and associated mortality in 2003, 5th ed. Geneva: World Health Organization.

## MODULE 1 TOOLS

**TOOL 1A: Introduction handout** 

TOOL 1B: Young women are...

TOOL 1C: Gender and abortion

TOOL 1D: Defining a sexually healthy young person

TOOL 1E: Support we needed as youth



person	

# TOOL 1A: Introduction handout

### Why focus on young women and abortion?

- Young women have a right to health, including safe abortion.
- Pregnancy and childbirth complications are a leading cause of death for women 15-19 years old.
- Young women are more likely than adults to resort to unsafe abortion, and in 2003, young women accounted for approximately 45 percent of unsafe abortion-related deaths.
- Young women face unique barriers to access abortion care.

### Defining and understanding young women

Young women – In this toolkit, "young women" refers to females aged 10-24. They are diverse and their circumstances differ.

*Development* – Physical development is well-defined, while social development and a culturally-recognized transition into adulthood – around which there is often uncertainty – are determined by local culture.

Sex – This is a biological trait, determined by chromosomes and genitalia.

*Gender* – A person's internal sense of their place along a continuum of female to male may be different from their sex. At a societal level, gender roles are a culture's expectations of how a girl/woman or boy/man should behave and what is inherently "feminine" and "masculine."

Sexuality – Sexuality is shaped by a person's understanding of their sex and gender, their culture's gender roles, relationships, sexual behavior and sexual health. A sexually healthy person feels they have the right and ability to enjoy and express their sexuality.

#### Abortion care for young women

#### The Four Pillars:

- Respect for young women and their rights
- Participation by young women in all stages of service delivery
- Accessibility
- Safety and appropriateness

This toolkit provides information and tools to:

- Provide abortion care based on the sexual and reproductive rights of young people.
- Build partnerships between adults and young people in abortion care.
- Remove barriers to young women in accessing abortion care.
- Provide clinically safe and appropriate abortion care to young women.

## TOOL 1B: Young women are...



### Purpose

This activity is intended as an icebreaker to introduce the topic of working with young women, and young people in general, on safe abortion care.



By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Identify their perceptions and assumptions about young women, and young people in general.
- Articulate how these perceptions and assumptions may affect their interactions with young people and the delivery of abortion care to young women.



- Pens
- Young women are... worksheet



20 minutes total time



### Instructions

- 1. Distribute a worksheet and a pen to each participant.
- 2. Explain to participants that you will first say a word; each participant should write down the word followed by the first three words that come to mind. Ask them not to respond out loud, but rather to think and write in silence, without censoring or editing their responses. Explain that you will say six words in all.
- 3. Say the following words, one word or phrase at a time, allowing participants enough time to write the word followed by the first three words that come to mind, but not too much time to censor or edit their responses.
  - Children
  - Adolescents
  - Young women
  - Young men
  - Young people
  - Minors



- 4. After you have said all six words, ask the participants to look over and reflect on their responses. Remind participants that they should not judge or criticize what they wrote but rather simply reflect on what their responses might mean.
- 5. In a large group, review each word and solicit a few participants to share their responses to each word. Then discuss their responses by asking the following questions:
  - What observations do you have about the words you wrote?
  - Are the words you wrote mostly positive, negative or neutral? If they are negative, how would you explain that?
  - If your words for "young women" versus "young men" were very different, how would you explain that?
  - What assumptions do we sometimes make about young women? Young men? Young people?
  - How might your perceptions about young people affect your interactions with them? The abortion care you provide them?
  - Look at your words again. Do they convey that young people are active or passive? Did you denote a difference between young women and men in this regard? Did your words describe young women and men as agents of their own lives?
- 6. Highlight important points from the previous discussion. Ensure you address the following:
  - Many of us make assumptions about young people.
  - Some of us may even have negative associations with young people.
  - We may also tend to see young people as passive rather than active agents of their own lives.
  - This awareness of our perceptions and assumptions is the first step we take in assessing and improving our interactions and abortion care delivery.
  - We may need to make adjustments in how we think and speak about and with young people to improve the quality and effectiveness of our interactions and care delivery.
  - We can challenge ourselves and others to see young people in a broader and more nuanced and positive way.
- 7. Ask a few participants to share their reflections about this activity. End the session by sharing the following:
  - The purpose of this activity was to increase our awareness of our unexamined perceptions and assumptions about young people. We can use this awareness to assess and improve our interactions and delivery of care. We can also challenge ourselves to think more broadly and openly about young people.
- 8. Solicit and discuss any outstanding questions, comments or concerns with participants. Thank the group for their participation.

#### Young women are... worksheet

Instructions: When you hear each word, write it down, followed by the first three words that come into your mind. Please think and write in silence. Please do not censor or change your responses.

First three words that come to mind

22

# TOOL 1C: Gender and abortion



To explore how our understanding of gender may affect attitudes about young women and abortion care.



## Objectives

By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Identify their assumptions about young women's and men's sexuality.
- Articulate how assumptions about gender and sexuality may affect their attitudes about young women's needs for abortion care.



- Flipchart, easel, tape, markers
- Gender and abortion worksheets A and B



5 minutes: Introduction

20 minutes: Small group work

15 minutes: Large group discussion

40 minutes total time



## Preparation

- If participants need a better base understanding of gender, sex and gender socialization to get the maximum benefit from this activity, it may be advisable to first facilitate activities from Ipas's *Gender or sex: Who cares?*, which can be found in Module 1's Additional Resources section.
- Determine if you will divide participants into sex-segregated or mixed groups. While the discussion may be richer in mixed groups, in some contexts it may be unacceptable to discuss sexuality with people of another sex.

## Instructions

- 1. Introduce the activity by saying the following:
  - Gender is complex and exists on multiple levels. At the individual level, it is a psychological trait, a person's internal sense of self that is somewhere along a continuum of female to male. This can fluctuate throughout the life cycle. A person's gender self-perception, expression and preferences can be different from their sex; this may be challenging for some young people, especially in societies where gender non-conformity is taboo and stigmatized.
  - At a societal level, gender roles are a culture's expectations of how a girl/woman or boy/man should behave and cultural beliefs about what is inherently "feminine" and "masculine."
  - Gender inequalities mean that gender roles are inextricably linked to power imbalances between women and men in most societies.
  - A better understanding of gender allows us to analyze the relationships between young women and men, including the balance of opportunities and power.
- 2. Have participants form small groups, which may be sex-segregated or mixed.
- 3. Distribute the Gender and abortion worksheet A to one half of the groups and worksheet B to the other half of the groups. Explain that they will have 20 minutes to read the description and respond to all of the questions. Ask each group to designate one person to write the group's responses to questions and briefly present them to the large group.
- 4. Ask participants to return to the large group. Explain that, while each group had the same description, for half of the groups, Person X was a young woman and for the other half of the groups, Person X was a young man. Ask each group's presenter to first state whether they had a young woman or young man and then briefly summarize their group's responses. Then use some of the following questions to facilitate a discussion:
  - What differences did you see in group responses for the young woman versus young man?
  - What do these different responses tell us about the gender perceptions and assumptions we make about sexuality?
  - How might our perceptions and assumptions about young women versus young men affect our interactions with them? Our judgments about whether or not they should be entitled to engage in sexual activity? Whether or not they should be entitled to decide to terminate a pregnancy? The quality of care they are entitled to?
- 5. Summarize the discussion and highlight the following key points:
  - Through this activity, we gained a better understanding of gender that allows us to analyze the relationships between young women and men, including the balance of opportunities and power.
  - We can also gain a deeper understanding about how gender exists along a continuum and how gender stereotypes do not allow us to appreciate the diversity of people's gender expression.
  - Young women are often judged negatively for engaging in consensual sexual behavior.
  - We must ensure that providers' perceptions about sexuality and gender do not negatively impact a young woman's access to and quality of abortion care.
- 6. Solicit and discuss any outstanding questions, comments or concerns with participants. Thank the group for their participation.

### Gender and abortion: Worksheet A

#### Description:

Person X is 18 years old. This person has had three consensual sexual relationships over the past two years. This person has stated that they would have liked to remain abstinent until they married, and that they do plan to marry, but not right away. In the last relationship, this person had sex that resulted in a pregnancy and decided to terminate the pregnancy. This person has been treated for chlamydia, a sexually transmitted infection (STI).

Person X is a young woman.

#### Questions:

- If they knew about her sexual history, how is this young woman likely to be perceived by her family? Community? Peers?
- If she talked openly about her sexual history to the abortion or STI provider, how might their perceptions about her sexuality affect their interactions with her? The care they provide her?
- Would they perceive this young woman's sexual activity and STI diagnosis differently if she was a young man?
- How might she be treated or counseled differently than a young man with the same sexual history?
- What do these responses tell us about how we perceive young women's and men's sexuality differently?
- How might our perceptions, assumptions and judgments about young women's versus young men's sexuality affect our interactions with them? Our judgments about whether or not they should be entitled to engage in consensual sexual activity outside of marriage? Whether or not they should be entitled to decide to terminate a pregnancy? The quality of abortion care they are entitled to?

*Case example adapted from:* International Sexuality and HIV Curriculum Working Group. 2009. "First impressions." In *It's All One Curriculum: Guidelines and Activities for a Unified Approach to Sexuality, Gender, HIV and Human Rights Education*, International Sexuality and HIV Curriculum Working Group, 56-58. New York, NY: The Population Council.

### Gender and abortion: Worksheet B

#### Description:

Person X is 18 years old. This person has had three consensual sexual relationships over the past two years. This person has stated that they would have liked to remain abstinent until they married, and that they do plan to marry, but not right away. In the last relationship, this person had sex that resulted in a pregnancy and decided to terminate the pregnancy. This person has been treated for chlamydia, a sexually transmitted infection (STI).

Person X is a young man.

#### Questions:

- If they knew about his sexual history, how is this young man likely to be perceived by his family? Community? Peers?
- If he talked openly about his sexual history to the abortion or STI provider, how might their perceptions about his sexuality affect their interactions with him? The care they provided him?
- Would they perceive this young man's sexual activity and STI diagnosis differently if he was a young woman?
- How might he be treated or counseled differently than a young woman with the same sexual history?
- What do these responses tell us about how we perceive young women's and men's sexuality differently?
- How might our perceptions, assumptions and judgments about young women's versus young men's sexuality affect our interactions with them? Our judgments about whether or not they should be entitled to engage in consensual sexual activity outside of marriage? Whether or not they should be entitled to decide to terminate a pregnancy? The quality of abortion care they are entitled to?

*Case example adapted from:* The International Sexuality and HIV Curriculum Working Group. 2009. "First impressions." In *It's All One Curriculum: Guidelines and Activities for a Unified Approach to Sexuality, Gender, HIV and Human Rights Education*, International Sexuality and HIV Curriculum Working Group, 56-58. New York, NY: The Population Council.

# TOOL 1D: Defining a sexually healthy young person



## Purpose

This activity is used to examine young people's definitions of healthy sexuality and a sexually healthy young person, and how they may differ from the definitions of providers and other adults.



## Objectives

By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Articulate their definitions of a sexually healthy young person.
- Identify diverse views among participants and young people.



- Flipchart or board
- Markers or chalk
- PowerPoint slides



25 minutes total time



### Instructions

- 1. Ask participants to define a sexually healthy young person. Record all responses on a board or flipchart. Responses may include:
  - Having accurate information
  - Able to express their sexuality positively and pleasurably
  - Having opportunities for love and intimacy
  - Having access to safe and respectful sexual and reproductive health care
  - Sexual health encompasses psychological and social health in addition to physical health
  - Able to make decisions and act to protect themselves from sexually transmitted infections (STIs), unwanted pregnancy and other negative outcomes
- 2. Show slides and review some young people's definitions of healthy sexuality.

27

- 3. Solicit participants' reactions to young people's definitions compared with their own.
- 4. Discuss the experience. Some discussion questions may include:
  - What did you learn about your views on healthy sexuality for young people compared with those of some young people?
  - How do we consider sexual health differently for young people in comparison to adults? What does this tell us about our views on young people's sexuality?
  - Some definitions focused on avoiding harmful outcomes, such as disease or pregnancy, instead of positive aspects of sexuality, such as love, pleasure and intimacy. Why might some people focus on the negative instead of the positive aspects?
  - How might a provider's definition of a sexually healthy young person affect their provision of abortion care to young women?
- 5. Solicit and discuss any outstanding questions, comments or concerns with participants. Thank the group for their participation.


# TOOL 1E: Support we needed as youth



This activity is designed to remind participants about their experiences with gender, sexuality and abortion in their youth, raise their awareness of the support young people need on sexuality-related concerns and increase their empathy for young women seeking abortion. At least two facilitators are needed.



By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Identify the feelings and perceptions they had about their bodies and sexuality when they were young.
- Demonstrate increased empathy for young women.



None





10 minutes: Introduction

20 minutes: Guided imagery

20 minutes: Small group discussion

10 minutes: Large group summary

1 hour total time



# Preparation

Take a break immediately before this activity and create a comfortable, safe atmosphere in the room with comfortable chairs or cushions on the floor, dim lights, soft, instrumental music and other items to create comfort and reduce external distractions.

**Note to facilitators:** This activity centers on a guided imagery process that encourages participants to remember emotional experiences from their youth. It may bring up uncomfortable or even traumatic thoughts or memories for participants. This requires at least two highly-skilled facilitators who have the capacity to continue the large group discussion while providing individual emotional support when necessary. Be prepared to support participants to take care of their emotions; they may need to do this by stopping their participation in the activity, leaving the room, asking for a facilitator to accompany them out of the room, or anything else that makes them feel safe. In some contexts, it may be more appropriate to hold separate discussions with women and men.

# Instructions

- 1. Introduction: Begin the activity by saying the following:
  - In this activity, we will examine how our views on gender and sexuality influence our values and beliefs about abortion. Many factors influence how we see ourselves as sexual beings, how we feel and behave sexually, our sexual and reproductive choices and, specifically, our values and beliefs about abortion. One important influence is our gender socialization, or how we were raised by our family and society to view ourselves and our expected roles as girls and boys, women and men. Typically, we are taught early in life what physical and sexual characteristics and behaviors are considered acceptable for girls and boys and for women and men. We learn this from our parents and extended family, community members, religious or spiritual leaders, educators, the media and other sources. How our family and society taught us to view ourselves and our sexuality in childhood continues to shape our values and beliefs about abortion into adulthood.
- 2. Explain the guided imagery process:
  - Explain that you will lead them through a guided imagery process, or journey in their minds, during which they will close their eyes and imagine they are experiencing feelings and events that happened during puberty. Invite them to participate as fully as they are comfortable.
  - Let participants know that if they become uncomfortable with the images or feelings they are experiencing, they can open their eyes and stop the exercise or even leave the room. If they need support from a facilitator, they should raise their hand. They should do whatever they need to feel comfortable and safe.
  - Explain that some of the questions focus on sexual intercourse and pregnancy. For those participants who were not engaging in heterosexual intercourse during this time in their lives, ask them to imagine how they might have been feeling if they were.
  - Explain that you would like them to silently experience the journey without expressing anything out loud.
  - When the exercise is finished, they will have the opportunity to share their experience, first in small groups and then in the large group, if they choose.
- 3. Prepare participants for the guided imagery.
  - Ask participants to find a comfortable position and close their eyes. Lead participants through a series of several relaxing deep breaths. Guide participants through the following scenarios and questions, using an even, soothing tone of voice and remaining silent for a long time after each statement or question to allow participants time to reflect.

**Note to facilitators:** When reading each statement out loud, be sure to pause between each one longer than you may think is necessary or comfortable. It is important to give participants enough time to remember this period of their lives and enter the right frame of mind to respond to the question or statement.

- 4. Facilitate the guided imagery.
  - Travel back in time to your puberty, when your body was maturing and you were becoming aware of your sexual feelings. Remember your body's state of physical and sexual development. Imagine a clear image of yourself and see yourself exactly as you were at that time.
  - Remember what things were most important to you at that time. Travel into your mind and remember some of your most important thoughts. Travel into your heart and remember some of your most important feelings. Think about the people who were in your life at that time and who the most influential people were.

- As you ask the following questions, ask participants to imagine and feel what they were experiencing during that period of time. Remind them not to say their responses out loud.
  - What were you feeling about the physical changes in your body? How were you feeling about your sexual development?
  - Was anyone talking to you about your developing body and sexuality and what it meant to be a young woman or young man? Who were they? Adults? Which adults? Peers? What were they saying? What were you learning on your own?
  - What were you being told were "normal" feelings for a young woman or young man of your age? How did your actual feelings relate to what you were being told was "normal"?
  - How were you told you should behave sexually?
  - What did you know about how women become pregnant and how to prevent pregnancy?
  - If you were having heterosexual intercourse, were you able to obtain effective contraception?
  - Was anyone talking to you about preventing unwanted pregnancy? Was anyone talking to you about abortion? What were they telling you? Was there silence surrounding these issues?
  - Now, staying in your body as you were in puberty, imagine that you might be pregnant. If you are a man, imagine that your girlfriend or close female friend might be pregnant. Even if you were not having intercourse at the time, imagine what it would have felt like to be pregnant.
  - What are the first thoughts and images going through your mind?
  - What are your fears?
  - What information and resources do you need?
  - Who might you talk to or not talk to about the possible pregnancy? Would you tell your parents or guardians? Other family members? Friends? If you're a young woman, would you tell the person who fathered the pregnancy?
  - What might you decide to do about this pregnancy?
  - If you decide to terminate the pregnancy, where would you go?
  - What is your likelihood of getting a safe versus unsafe abortion?
  - How do you think you would be treated by the person performing the abortion?
  - Where would you go for contraception to prevent a future unwanted pregnancy?
  - How do you think you would be treated by the person offering contraceptive services?
  - What is your likelihood of obtaining and using your contraceptive methods of choice over the long term?
- Invite participants to gently return to the present when they are ready. Ask them to open their eyes, stretch and readjust to their surroundings. Observe how participants are doing and whether anyone needs emotional assistance. Be mindful of the shifts in energy in the room and transition slowly to the next part of the activity.
- 5. Tell participants that they will divide into small groups to discuss their experiences with the guided imagery. Ask one person per group to keep notes and report a summary of the discussions to the large group.
- 6. Invite participants to talk about their experiences in youth:
  - As a youth, what messages were you given from adults or peers about your developing body and sexuality and what it meant to be a young woman or young man?
  - What were you being told were "normal" feelings for a young woman or young man of your age?
  - What were you told about unwanted pregnancy and abortion? Was there only silence on these?

- Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit
  - What parts of your experience would you like to remain the same for the next generation of young people? What would you like to change?
  - 7. Solicit participants' experiences when they imagined they or a girlfriend might be pregnant. Acknowledge that not all participants may have had such concerns but that we asked them to imagine that they did.
    - What were the first thoughts and images to go through your mind?
    - What were your fears?
    - What information and resources did you need?
    - Who might you have talked to or not talked to about the possible pregnancy?
    - If you decided to terminate the pregnancy, where would you have gone? What is the likelihood that you would have gotten a safe abortion?
    - How would the person performing the abortion have been likely to treat you?
    - Where would you have gone for contraception to prevent a future unwanted pregnancy?
    - What is the likelihood you would have been able to obtain and use your contraceptive methods of choice over the long term?
  - 8. Ask participants to return to the large group for discussion. Ask group note takers to briefly summarize the main themes raised in small group discussions.
  - 9. Ask participants to imagine the thousands of young people all over the world who are in similar situations.
    - From our discussions, what have we learned about the information, resources and support young people may need from us?
    - From our discussions, what have we learned about the diversity of needs among young people?
    - What do we need to know and do in order to provide young people with better support?
    - What are initial steps we can take today?
  - 10. Solicit and discuss any outstanding questions, comments or concerns with participants. Thank the group for their participation.

Adapted from: Turner, Katherine L. and Kimberly Chapman Page. 2008. "Gender, Sexuality and Abortion" and "What Would You Do." In *Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audiences.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.



# Module 2: Barriers to care



Image by Ipas's African Youth Art Contest winner Kiwelu Ainaeny of Kenya

### 2.1 Introduction

The purpose of this module is to increase understanding of the social, economic, logistical, legal, policy and health system barriers young women face when seeking safe abortion care. These barriers drive young women to resort to unsafe abortion or delay seeking care until later in the pregnancy when the risk of complications increases. Part II of this toolkit will discuss how to overcome many of these barriers and increase access to safe abortion care for young women.

"unsafe abortion has eaten into our society, gradually destroying the lives of young women, as people have closed their eyes at the issue hoping it will disappear: but on the other hand they are also directly and indirectly worsening the situation." - young woman, nigeria (youth coalition 2007)

### 2.2 Social barriers

Social barriers to safe abortion care for young women include gender and age discrimination, gender-based violence, sexuality and abortion stigma, and the lack of information and social support.

*Gender discrimination* occurs when a distinction is made about a person based on the particular group they belong to, in this case women and girls, that results in unfair and unjust treatment expressed through negative attitudes and behaviors (EngenderHealth and ICW 2006). Gender discrimination has a direct effect on access to abortion care. For example, young women may be required to do more house chores and have less personal freedom than young men of the same age, leaving them little opportunity to seek health care. In many countries, girls are less likely to attend school than boys are. If they work for pay, they are likely to be paid less than young men and have less ability to pay for health services on their own. Many cultural beliefs about gender include that young, unmarried women should not be sexually active and therefore should not need to access sexual and reproductive health services. Young women may have to hide trips to a health-care facility or may be prevented from going at all. They may therefore not have the means to prevent pregnancy, and they may deny a pregnancy and delay seeking care due to fear of repercussions from family members or a partner (Davis and Beasley 2009).

*Gender-based violence* is the abuse of power to control another individual who is in a submissive position due to social beliefs about gender. It can be physical, sexual or mental (de Bruyn and France 2001).

Violence against women and girls includes physical, sexual, psychological, and economic abuse. It is often known as "gender-based" violence because it evolves in part from women's subordinate status in society. Many cultures have beliefs, norms, and social institutions that legitimize and therefore perpetuate violence against women. The same acts that would be punished if directed at an employer, a neighbor, or an acquaintance often go unchallenged when men direct them at women, especially within the family (Heise et al. 1999).

Beyond gender discrimination, women may fear or experience violence for seeking abortion or other sexual and reproductive health services. Perpetrators can be family members, intimate partners or even abortion providers. Because of their socioeconomic status, young women are often more vulnerable and sometimes intentionally targeted for assault. Studies suggest that at least one-third of all rape survivors worldwide are less than 16 years old (Heise et al. 1999). Shame, particularly after a sexual assault, or physical injury may cause a woman not to access care. Perpetrators may threaten further violence to maintain secrecy, particularly within a family. Violence may also be directed against young women who do not conform to cultural gender expectations or who have sexual orientations other than heterosexual. These women may be subjected to "corrective" sexual assaults, ostensibly to make them heterosexual or more feminine.

Women who experience gender-based violence often wish to abort any resulting pregnancy.

*Stigma* is a characteristic or attribute that causes a person to become "reduced in our minds from a whole and usual person to a tainted, discounted one" (Goffman 1963). Sexuality, age and abortion stigma can all be barriers to young women seeking safe abortion care.

**Abortion stigma** is a cultural belief that women who have or seek an abortion are inferior to the ideal of womanhood and should feel shame or remorse, even in countries where abortion is legal and safe services are available (Kumar et al. 2009). Many religious leaders and institutions maintain that abortion is immoral and that a woman who has an abortion has transgressed against religious tenets. In communities or families where these beliefs predominate, a woman may be afraid to have an abortion and risk negative judgment. A woman from Zambia, a country in Africa where abortion is legal for a number of indications, expressed stigma this way: "The one that has an abortion is treated as bad, as a killer and the other one is a good woman, she has a good heart, she loves children" (Mupeta et al. 2010). Young women who rely upon their communities for economic and social support may be especially hesitant to risk being stigmatized and potentially ostracized for seeking an abortion. In addition, stigma against abortion often makes health system and facility administrators and providers less likely to offer abortion services and leads to underreporting of abortions, which in turn reinforces the idea of abortion as a deviant practice rather than a routine component of women's health care.

"When students know that another female student has induced an abortion, the students, especially the boys will organize a funeral ceremony for the aborted child. they will make a coffin for that child, organize a morning ceremony during which they will cry, roll on the ground just to humiliate the girl. girls are not always left out in this practice. once the boys start, the girls too follow." - woman, zambia (mudeta et al. 2010)

• Sexuality stigma is characterized by a culture's unwillingness to discuss sex and sexuality, often even in private, and the assigning of pejorative labels to any people who are known to be sexually active or who talk about sex and sexuality openly. This stigma is sometimes related to religion. For example, in many Islamic schools of thought, sexuality within marriage is permitted and socially accepted, while outside of marriage it is seen as illegitimate and stigmatized (Smerecnik et al. 2010). In many Islamic, Christian and other religious schools of thought, sexuality stigma often makes young people feel that they must conceal sexual activity (Wood and Aggleton 2003), and young women particularly may pretend that they do not know anything about sex or sexuality in order to avoid being labeled as promiscuous. This makes it difficult to prepare for sexual activity in any way, including gathering information and obtaining contraceptives, and is also a barrier to finding and accessing abortion care.

"the reason they may not go to the community is because in the village information spreads like bushfire... by the time i buy the condom or go to the health unit - the person in the health unit is well known to everyone - and if i go there to get a condom, i will be tagged as a wrong person in the community because our society is not yet fully open to discussing sex freely."

- participant, uganda (kipp et al. 2007)
- Age stigma is also a barrier to care for young people, because they are often not considered mature enough to make decisions about having sex, using contraceptives, or handling an unwanted pregnancy. In most cultures, adults are expected to have control over young people's lives, including their access to health care. Even in nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) and health services that specifically assist young people, they are often not included in any level of decisionmaking (Wood and Aggleton 2003). See Module 4: Building partnerships between young people and adults.

Lack of information: Because of cultural taboos against speaking openly about sexuality, young women may not have been given factually correct information on menstruation, pregnancy, preventing pregnancy, recognizing the signs and symptoms of pregnancy, and where and how to seek qualified assistance. Peers can be an additional source of misinformation about sexual and reproductive health, because parents and other adults or the young people themselves are often embarrassed or fearful to discuss these issues, due to sexuality stigma (Ngwena et al. 2005, Olukoya et al. 2001). Studies have shown that lack of or inaccurate information is a primary reason that young women tend to seek abortion services later than adult women (Davis and Beasley 2009, Finer et al. 2006).

### "some grown-ups think that we are too young to know. they should know that we are too young to die."

- young person, honduras (youth incentives and ipas 2010)

# Young people's lack of recognition of abortion as a legitimate health-care service

The Center for Reproductive Rights found that adolescents and young women across Kenya did not identify abortion care as a service that a legitimate health-care provider would provide. One young participant said, "Women don't go to doctors to terminate their pregnancies. Doctors don't terminate pregnancies." (2010) Lack of social support: Research conducted with young female factory workers in Nepal shows that "social networks were important for the young factory workers in reaching decisions regarding the method for termination of pregnancy, to locate a provider and pay the cost for the services. Firstly, the young workers reported to mothers, sisters-in law, female friends, relatives and partners about their unwanted pregnancy and sought advice from them. Female friends and husbands or boyfriends occasionally forced a young girl to undergo an abortion or to carry the unwanted pregnancy to full term, against the girl's wishes" (Puri 2002). Because of beliefs, stigma and lack of information in her community, a young woman may be unable to ask for information or help in getting to or paying for services for fear of negative repercussions and refusal to assist in any way. If she seeks support, she may be denied it or faced with actions that compromise her safety.

"While on holiday, the first thing i asked my sister was if it was true that every month blood comes out of the vagina of young women who have reached puberty, she angrily asked me how i had found out. i told her about the discussions at school and she said: "it seems that you want to become a loose woman now? i tell you, if i found out that blood is coming out of your vagina, i will kill you because it shows you are having sex with a man and that is a sin."

#### - young woman, tanzania (youth incentives and ipas 2010)

These social barriers reinforce each other to a large degree. Gender discrimination leads to a lack of or inaccurate information being provided to young women. This makes genderbased violence more possible and sustains the illusion that a "good" young woman is not willingly sexual and thus healthy sexuality in young women should not be supported. This also supports the notion that "good" women do not have abortions, which decreases the likelihood that a young woman will have social support if she chooses to seek an abortion. Adults can learn techniques and increase their own awareness to address these barriers, as will be explored in later modules.

### 2.3 Economic and logistical barriers

Even with accurate information and social support, young women may not be able to access abortion care if they do not have transportation or sufficient financial resources.

*Financial resources:* For some women, it can take time to gather enough money to pay for an abortion, thereby delaying care and increasing the risks and costs associated with later procedures (Finer et al. 2006). Young women are less likely than adult women to have money of their own, and any money they have may be controlled or monitored by their guardians. Because of this economic disadvantage, young women may also be more likely than adults to resort to providing sex in exchange for money or food. Financial help from peers is often unrealistic since young people generally have few financial resources. Lacking funds, young women are especially vulnerable to coercion by abortion providers to pay by other means, including sexual favors. Some young women without the means to pay for safe services resort to unsafe abortion. Research in Nepal shows that young female factory workers are particularly at risk for unsafe abortion due to their inability to pay for safe services (Puri 2002). In settings where there are no facilities offering free or subsidized care, safe abortion is only available to women with money, regardless of the law.

"i went to the medical shop in sallaghari and got a liquid medicine for vs. 150 (2 u.s. dollars). i took it regularly but it didn't work. When i went there again to complain, they said that they couldn't get rid of it (the pregnancy) unless i gave them vs. 4000 (55 usd). the women around told we to carry heavy things to get rid of it since it was only one month old. it also didn't work out. i didn't have much money so i decided to keep the baby." - young woman, 18 years old, we pal (puri 2002)

In countries where abortion is illegal, or not legally accessible to young women, abortion services are driven underground and providers typically charge higher, sometimes exorbitant, fees to provide them. In these cases, young women who cannot afford services, regardless of their legality, often resort to unsafe methods that are cheaper, and often ineffective, such as drinking laundry detergent.

*Transportation:* Young women, especially those who live in rural areas, may be far from any health-care facility. Lack of transportation is a barrier for many young women. In some communities, young or unmarried women cannot or are unlikely to own a car, scooter or bicycle. Public transportation, even for emergencies, may not exist at all or may be too expensive or unsafe to use for young women in particular.

Economic and logistical barriers also reinforce each other. Young women who must travel to find a facility that offers abortion services may find that they need to take more time off of work, which could result in lost income or unemployment. Transportation also costs money, so the farther away the facility is, the more expensive the full cost of an abortion becomes.

### 2.4 Legal and policy barriers

Laws prohibiting abortion are obvious barriers to anyone seeking safe abortion services. As of 2009, at least 26 percent of people in the world live in countries where abortion is generally prohibited although most of these countries have at least one legal indication for abortion (Center for Reproductive Rights 2009).

Abortion laws: National and state laws can be major barriers to young women seeking abortion services. Most countries permit abortion for some indications, such as pregnancies resulting from rape or incest or that endanger the woman's health or life (Center for Reproductive Rights 2009). Some countries' laws specify young age as an indication for legal abortion. Mental health may be an indication that enables access to young women, as denying abortion services to a young woman can have particular risks to her mental health. Some laws are vague on age or other limitations, requiring interpretation by the provider or a judge, and causing confusion for providers who are unclear about whether they can legally perform the service (de Bruyn and Packer 2004). Statutory rape is also an indication for legal abortion in some countries, if the young woman is below the legal age of consent. See 2.7 Additional Resources for links to the full text of abortion laws in most countries and general interpretation of those laws.

*Third-party involvement laws:* For legal indications, one of the largest barriers for young women is the mandated notification and/or consent of a third-party (parent, guardian, psychiatrist or other adult) in the decision to have an abortion. Involvement laws are based on one of the following approaches:

- A fixed minimum age limit
- A capability determination by the provider

- A fixed minimum age limit combined with capability determination (by which a minor can acquire the right to majority at an earlier age)
- A presumption of capability (no third-party consent needed unless the minor is proven incapable).

Research shows that involvement laws do not increase communication within families, and can cause harm by driving young women to have an unsafe abortion. A U.S. coalition of medical experts states:

The American Medical Association, the Society for Adolescent Medicine, the American Public Health Association, the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, the American Academy of Pediatrics, and other health professional organizations have reached a consensus that **minors should not be compelled or required to involve their parents in their decisions to obtain abortions**, although they should be encouraged to discuss their pregnancies with their parents and other responsible adults. These conclusions result from objective analyses of current data, which indicate that legislation mandating parental involvement does not achieve the intended benefit of promoting family communication but does increase the risk of harm to the adolescent by delaying access to appropriate medical care. (American Academy of Pediatrics 1996, emphasis added)

While some third-party involvement laws allow for an alternative process, where a young woman asks permission from a judge to have an abortion (judicial bypass), this tends to cause significant delays or denial of care. Third-party involvement laws also "wholly ignore the health needs of young people who do not live with their parents or who head their own households" (IPPF 2011). Despite this, at least 24 countries had third-party notification or consent requirements for abortions for minors in 2003 (de Bruyn and Packer 2004). Where national laws permit young women to have an abortion without third-party involvement, state or local laws may override that right, or facility policies (such as a committee review) may still cause delays, even to the point where abortion is no longer an option (Human Rights Watch 2010).

### "Where restrictive laws or provider practices deny young women access to safe and confidential health services and counseling, without regard to their individual capacity, this constitutes age-based discrimination." - ippf 2011

*Sexual violence:* Types of sexual violence, especially rape and incest, are indications for legal abortion in many countries. However, some of these laws make it difficult or impossible for a woman to maintain confidentiality; in addition, getting official permission for the abortion can be a difficult, slow and emotionally painful process. Proof of rape may be required, or believed to be required, in order to have a legal abortion. Obtaining proof or even filing a complaint can be particularly difficult in societies where women need male witnesses or tangible proof of the rape. Going through the bureaucratic procedures to have the rape investigated and validated can be emotionally painful and may subject the woman to further discrimination and victimization. If consent of a third-party is legally necessary for a young woman to have an abortion, this may be especially difficult to obtain if the rapist is a family member.

Interaction with other laws: In the case where the abortion law is in conflict with other laws, providers or facilities may not know which law takes precedence and refuse to provide care, while confused clients may simply avoid seeking care. This is particularly true for young women, as there may be separate laws on the age of consent for general health procedures. For example, the South African Choice on Termination of Pregnancy (CTOP) Act states that young women of any age can consent to an abortion. However, separate legislation, the Children's Act, provides ages of consent for medical and surgical procedures. The CTOP Act takes legal precedence, but many people remain unclear on this point (McQuoid-Mason 2010, Strode et al. 2010).

Reporting requirements for sexual violence can also complicate the process and create a barrier. In South Africa, for example, the Criminal Law (Sexual Offenses and Related Matters) Amendment Act ("the Sexual Offenses Act") requires the reporting of sexual offenses against children; however, the CTOP Act supersedes this and leaves the young woman to decide whether or not to report an offense. When providers or young women do not interpret the laws correctly, the breach of confidentiality may prevent some young women from seeking care, including abortion care after sexual violence (McQuoid-Mason 2010).

*Implementation documents:* Often, implementation documents include steps and procedures (policies, standards and protocols) meant to protect against mistakes or abuses but which end up creating barriers to service. Examples that particularly affect young women include the addition of third-party notification or consent measures that do not exist in the law, or waiting periods required in protocol that do not exist in the law. These procedures result in additional time, and increased expense and exposure for young women, who must return later for the actual procedure.

Policies, standards and protocols to implement laws at all levels should follow the WHO's (2003) recommendations on non-evidence-based policies and protocols, and make abortion care available unless specifically prohibited by the law:

- to unmarried and married women
- without spousal or parental notification or consent
- without minimum age requirement
- without proof of police certification, legal action, or court authorization for rape cases
- without authorization required by hospital abortion committees or other committees
- without a waiting period
- without mandatory contraception after abortion
- with "conscientious objector" providers required to refer the woman to another provider

### 2.5 Health system barriers

Young people face barriers at the health system and facility levels. Services that meet the particular needs of young people sometimes cannot be within the same systems that serve adults (Heunis et al. 2000, Mouli 2003, Ngwena et al. 2005, Van Look 2003), but sometimes serve young people's needs better when they are integrated. Privacy, provider and staff attitudes, hours of operation, and some aspects of processes and paperwork as well as cost are under the direct control of individual facilities, or can be mandated by a health system. Improving these barriers to care can go a long way toward making abortion care more accessible to young women.

Lack of or unavailability of facilities providing abortion: Facilities providing abortion are often far apart geographically and may be concentrated in urban areas. They may also be open at inconvenient times for young women: transportation may be unavailable or more expensive during open hours; open hours may conflict with work or school hours and missing work/school would result in loss of job or grade; or open hours may be during the busiest hours of the facility and the young woman may fear being seen by someone she knows. Finally, services are often not appropriate for young women in terms of timing, privacy and provider/staff attitudes, which may further deter young women from requesting care. If safe abortion services are only available in the private sector, this also limits the facilities at which young women can access services.

Lack of privacy and confidentiality: Privacy and confidentiality are important issues in reproductive health care, and are an even greater concern for young people, who may

want to avoid being seen by a family member or neighbor while seeking sexual and reproductive health services. A young person may not seek care at a facility that presents long waiting times, lengthy detailed medical history and counseling sessions, and poorly isolated counseling and treatment rooms (Ngwena et al. 2005). Exit interviews in a study in Ghana found that, pre-intervention, a quarter of young women felt that they did not have enough physical privacy, and more than half were unsure that the health provider would keep their situation confidential. Processes that violate confidentiality include paperwork posted outside examination rooms or left in a visible place, and access to records by non-abortion service staff and providers.

*Processes and forms:* For example, registration paperwork that includes the husband's name as required information even though unmarried women are legally allowed to receive services may make young, often unmarried, women feel unwelcome. Protocols requiring numerous visits are also a barrier, creating more economic and logistical challenges with each trip to the facility.

Providers may assume that processes are more complex or restrictive than they actually are. In restrictive legal environments, for example, facilities and providers may not be aware of or clearly understand the legal indications for abortion and may refuse to provide care. In general, a lack of institutional clarity on the legal indications for abortion care create a barrier for young women, as providers may feel they are taking a risk even when providing high-quality services appropriately.

*Cost:* Young women often cite their inability to pay as the reason they delay seeking abortion services. In addition, some health systems and facilities may set higher fees as a punitive measure or to offset the cost of other services they deem less morally difficult. Other facilities may offer free or low-cost abortion care only if the young woman accepts a contraceptive method, usually a long-term or permanent method, which is coercive.

Negative provider and staff attitudes about youth sexuality and abortion: Provider and staff attitudes can be significant barriers to care, and may be the final barrier that drives a young woman to unsafe abortion. A study in South Africa found that, of health-care providers who were asked for a referral to a facility that provided abortion, a third only gave referrals for special cases such as rape despite the country's broad legal indications, and nearly a third refused to provide information on abortion to those requesting a referral (Ngwena et al. 2005). A young woman who visits a facility where she is denied care and/ or a referral may feel discouraged at the prospect of challenging barriers at another facility and may not seek care. In addition, the counseling provided to young people often focuses on the risks and dangers of sexuality (Klingberg-Allvin et al. 2006) rather than assisting them in achieving a healthy sexuality.

"When it would come time to talk to doctors about my options, my birth control options... it was written all over their face like disgust... i would just feel like so horrible and this doctor who is supposed to be knowledgeable thinks i am doing something completely horrible."

- young woman, united states (california bativas for reproductive justice 2010)

It is important to note that past negative attitudes on the part of providers and staff can be an ongoing barrier, as young women may hear of other women's past treatment, or have their own negative past experiences, and decide not to risk going to the same facility. A health worker in Uganda states:

"For example, somebody comes here, a young girl of 14, imagine a service provider says 'even at your age, you have started doing this?' Just imagine. Immediately that girl will never come back and even tell others 'you don't go there.' These adolescents you have to appreciate that it is hard to come and even what they want to discuss is confidential. Some of these service providers will go and share some of these things with people outside and these adolescents come to know about it. Something small like that can spread very, very fast, and the other people will never come back." (Kipp et al. 2007)

Many health system barriers originate in negative staff and provider attitudes, as there is no will to make services available to young people, and there may be a desire to actively discourage young women seeking abortion. For example, young women may be charged more for abortion services than adult women, not given appropriate pain management, or their privacy intentionally violated, in order to punish them for being sexually active or getting an abortion.

### 2.6 The interrelation of barriers

Social barriers like stigma and gender discrimination heavily influence other barriers, particularly the laws, policies, processes, documentation, and provider/staff attitudes. They may also influence availability of facilities offering safe abortion care to young women; for example, in countries where abortion and young people's sexuality are stigmatized many providers do not want to be associated with providing abortion care at all and in particular not to young women. Laws that limit legal abortion indications also serve to reinforce social barriers. Addressing health system and logistical barriers may cause facilities to incur more costs, causing them to raise the price of abortion care and thus create even more of a cost barrier for young women.

"We do not have access to contraception. We are stignatized if we have a child before marriage. We do not have the right to abortion. What a dilemma! how can we not die if we are exposed to risky [unsafe] abortions? how can we not resort to abortion if a child before marriage is a sacrilege? how can we avoid having children when there are no contraceptive services? we wish to affirm that one of the best weapons in the fight against risky [unsafe] abortions among the young is to respect our rights, starting with the right to information." - young woman, democratic republic of the congo (greene et al. 2010)

### 2.7 Additional resources

Russell, Lisa and Ipas. 2009. *Not Yet Rain.* DVD. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Available online at: http://notyetrain.org/noflash.html

Center for Reproductive Rights. 2009. World Abortion Laws 2009 Fact Sheet. New York: Center for Reproductive Rights. http://reproductiverights.org/en/document/ world-abortion-laws-2009-fact-sheet (does not specify laws which apply to young women, but may in future years)

Harvard University. Annual Review of Population Law. Available online at: http://www. hsph.harvard.edu/population/annual\_review.htm

Ipas. 2010. Young women and abortion: A guide for conducting situation assessments using participatory methods. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Expected to be available online in 2011 at www.ipas.org

EngenderHealth. 2006. "Informed and Voluntary Decision Making." In Sexual and Reproductive Health for HIV Positive Women and Adolescent Girls: A Manual for Trainers and Program Managers. New York, EngenderHealth. pp. 129-31. Available online at: http://www.engenderhealth.org/pubs/hiv-aids-sti/srh-hiv-positive-women-girls.php

Mitchell, Katy, Brad Kemer, Cecile Mazzacurati and Jennifer Kim. 2009. Adolescent sexual and reproductive health toolkit for humanitarian settings: A companion to the inter-agency field manual on reproductive health in humanitarian settings. New York: UNFPA and Save the Children. Available online at: http://www.unfpa.org/public/publications/pid/4169

### 2.8 References

American Academy of Pediatrics. 1996. The adolescent's right to confidential care when considering abortion. *Pediatrics*. 97 (5): 746-51.

California Latinas for Reproductive Justice. 2010. Young Women Speak Out! Perspectives and Implications of Reproductive Health, Rights and Justice Policies. Los Angeles, CA: California Latinas for Reproductive Justice.

Center for Reproductive Rights. 2009. World Abortion Laws 2009 Fact Sheet. New York, NY: Center for Reproductive Rights.

Center for Reproductive Rights. 2010. In Harm's Way: The Impact of Kenya's Restrictive Abortion Law. New York, NY: Center for Reproductive Rights.

Davis, Anne R. and Anitra D. Beasley. 2009. Abortion in adolescents: Epidemiology, confidentiality and methods. *Current Opinions in Obstetrics and Gynecology.* 21: 390-5.

De Bruyn, Maria and Nadine France. 2001. *Gender or sex: Who cares? Skills-building resource pack on gender and reproductive health for adolescents and youth workers.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

De Bruyn, Maria and Sarah Packer. 2004. Adolescents, unwanted pregnancy and abortion. Policies, counseling and clinical care. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

EngenderHealth and ICW. 2006. Sexual and Reproductive Health for HIV Positive Women and Adolescent Girls: Manual for Trainers and Program Managers. New York, NY: EngenderHealth.

Finer, Lawrence B., Lori F. Frohwirth, Lindsay A. Dauphinee, Susheela Singh and Ann M. Moore. 2006. Timing of steps and reasons for delays in obtaining abortions in the United States. *Contraception.* 74 (4): 334-44.

Goffman, Erving. 1963. *Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity.* Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Greene, Margaret E., Laura Cardinal and Eve Goldstein-Siegel. 2010. *Girls Speak: A New Voice in Global Development.* Washington, DC: International Center for Research on Women.

Heise, Lori, Mary Ellsberg and Megan Gottemoeller. 1999. Ending Violence Against Women. *Population Reports,* Series L, No. 11. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, Population Information Program.

Heunis, C., D. van Rensburg and C. Ngwena. 2000. A 'Youth Multi-function Centre' in the Free State: An alternative to clinic-based HIV/AIDS prevention and care. *Curationis*, 23 (4): 54-62.

Human Rights Watch. 2010. *Illusions of care: Lack of accountability for reproductive rights in Argentina*. New York, NY: HRW.

International Planned Parenthood Federation. 2011. Understanding young people's right to decide: Why is it important to develop capacities for autonomous decision-making? London: IPPF.

Kipp, W., S. Chacko, L. Laing and G. Kabagambe. 2007. Adolescent reproductive health in Uganda: Issues related to access and quality of care. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health*, 19 (4): 383-93.

Klingberg-Allvin, Marie, Nguyen Thu Nga, Anna-Berit Ransjo-Arvidson and Annika Johansson. 2006. Perspectives of midwives and doctors on adolescent sexuality and abortion care in Vietnam. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health.* 34 (4): 414-21.

Kumar, Anuradha, Leila Hessini and Ellen M. H. Mitchell. 2009. Conceptualising abortion stigma. *Culture, Health and Sexuality.* 11 (6): 625-39.

McQuoid-Mason, David. 2010. Some consent and confidentiality issues regarding the application of the Choice on Termination of Pregnancy Act to girl-children. *South African Journal of Bioethics and Law*, 3 (1): 12-5.

Mouli, V. Chandra. 2003. "Adolescent-friendly health services." In *Towards adulthood: exploring the sexual and reproductive health of adolescents in South Asia,* eds. Sarah Bott et al., 195-8. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Mupeta, Stephen, Reuben Mbewe, Paschal Awah, Tia Palermo and Joachim Osur. 2010. Community attitudes on unwanted pregnancy and abortion in Zambia. Project Report. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Ngwena, Charles, Dingie van Rensburg and Michelle Engelbrecht. 2005. Accessing termination of pregnancy by minors in the Free State: Identifying barriers and possible interventions. Bloemfontein, South Africa: Centre for Health Systems Research and Development.

Olukoya, A.A., A. Kaya, B.J. Ferguson and C. AbouZahr. 2001. Unsafe abortion in adolescents. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*. 75: 137-47.

Puri, Mahesh. 2002. Sexual risk behavior and risk perception of unwanted pregnancy and sexually transmitted infection among young factory workers in Nepal. Kathmandu, Nepal: CREPHA.

Smerecnik, Chris, Herman Schaalma, Kok Gerjo, Suzanne Meijer and Jos Poelman. 2010. An exploratory study of Muslims adolescents' views on sexuality: Implications for sex education and prevention. *BMC Public Health*, 10: 533. Strode, Ann, Catherine Slack and Zaynab Essack. 2010. Child consent in South African law: Implications for researchers, service providers and policy-makers. *South African Medical Journal*, 100 (4): 247-9.

Van Look, Paul F. A. 2003. "On being an adolescent in the 21st century." In *Towards adulthood: exploring the sexual and reproductive health of adolescents in South Asia,* eds. Sarah Bott et al., 31-42. Geneva: World Health Organization.

WHO. 2003. *Safe Abortion: Technical and Policy Guidance for Health Systems.* Geneva: World Health Organization.

Wood, Kate and Peter Aggleton. 2003. *Promoting young people's sexual and reproductive health: Stigma, discrimination and human rights.* Southampton, UK: Safe Passages to Adulthood.

The Youth Coalition. 2007. International Youth Perspectives on Abortion: A Collection of Essays, Poems and Drawings. Ottawa: The Youth Coalition.

Youth Incentives and Ipas. 2010. *Abortion and Young People*. Utrecht, Netherlands: Youth Incentives.



# **MODULE 2 TOOLS**

TOOL 2A: Barriers to care handout

TOOL 2B: Barriers to care

# TOOL 2A: Barriers to care handout

### Social barriers

*Gender discrimination* – Women are often treated unfairly on the basis of being female, and may not have the freedom or means to access safe abortion care because of it.

*Gender-based violence* – Young women are particularly vulnerable to gender-based violence and fear of or shame after such violence may prevent them from accessing abortion services.

Stigma – Stigma is defined as a characteristic or attribute for which a person is considered tainted or lesser.

Abortion stigma – Young women who depend on others may be especially hesitant to risk being stigmatized for seeking an abortion, and stigma may make health facilities and providers less likely to offer abortion services.

Sexuality stigma – Young women may not enjoy their sexuality, prepare for sexual activity, or seek sexual and reproductive health care to avoid being labeled as promiscuous.

Age stigma – Young people often are not considered mature enough to make decisions about having sex, using contraceptives, and how to handle an unwanted pregnancy.

*Lack of social support* – Because of stigma in her community, a young woman may be unable to ask for information or help regarding safe abortion for fear of negative repercussions.

### Economic and logistical barriers

Financial resources - Young women often don't have access to money.

Transportation – Distances may be far and transportation unavailable or expensive.

### Legal and policy barriers

Abortion laws – These may be restrictive, although they rarely completely outlaw abortion.

*Third-party involvement laws* – Mandated notification and/or consent of a parent, guardian, psychiatrist or other adult is a significant barrier for young women.

*Sexual violence* – Sexual violence is often a legal indication, but the process may not protect confidentiality, and may be difficult, slow and emotionally painful.

*Interaction with other laws* – Providers or facilities may not know which law takes precedence and refuse care; confused clients may not seek care.

*Implementation documents* – Steps or procedures required by policies, standards or guidelines that are not required by the law act as barriers, even when they are intended to be helpful.

### Health system barriers

- Lack of/unavailability of facilities providing abortions
- Lack of privacy and confidentiality
- Unnecessarily complex or adult-focused processes and forms
- Cost
- Negative provider and staff attitudes about youth sexuality and abortion

### Interrelation of barriers

Many barriers influence other barriers, such as stigma's impact on policies and attitudes.



# TOOL 2B: Barriers to care



## Objectives

By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Identify the different barriers young women encounter when seeking safe abortion.
- Recognize the ways these barriers affect young women differently than older women.



• Flipcharts, markers, tape, post-it notes (or other note cards), color paper



15 minutes: Identification and grouping of barriers

15 minutes: Barriers to care story

20 minutes: Discussion and presentation

50 minutes total time

## Preparation

- Review the barriers to care in Module 2.
- Place several post-it notes (or note cards and tape) on each table.
- Write the four categories of barriers on different color papers: 1) Social, 2) Economic and logistical, 3) Legal and policy and 4) Health system.
- Draw a sample story about barriers to care on a flipchart.
- Write discussion questions on a flipchart.



- 1. Inform participants that in this activity they will identify the barriers to abortion care that young women encounter and explore how those barriers may impact young women's access differently than for older women.
- 2. Ask participants to write down barriers young women may encounter to abortion care on post-it notes. Instruct participants to only write one barrier per note, in large handwriting, and then place the note on the wall. Each participant can write several notes.
- 3. Tell participants that they will group the barriers into categories. Put the four color papers with the categories of barriers on the wall with the notes and read them aloud.

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

4. Ask a participant to come to the wall and, with input from other participants, group the barriers under the most appropriate category.

**Note to facilitator:** If there is a barrier that participants decide does not fit under one of the four categories, temporarily place it to the side and then revisit it after all others have been categorized. Ask participants to consider if an additional or different category might be needed.

- 5. Make sure participants have mentioned all the key barriers covered in Module 2. Add any barriers that might be missing under each category.
- 6. Tell participants that for the next part of the activity they will explore how these barriers affect young women.
- 7. Instruct participants to form small groups of no more than five people each. Give each group a flipchart sheet and markers. Ask one person per group to take notes and report a summary of the discussions to the large group.
- 8. Give the following instructions on how to draw their story about barriers to safe abortion care:
  - Divide your group's flipchart sheet into six boxes.
  - Number the boxes from one to six. Draw a picture of a young woman with an unwanted pregnancy in the first box and a picture of a facility that provides safe abortion care in the last box. (Show example.)
  - The story begins in the first box and ends in the sixth box.
  - Draw a picture for each box, portraying different barriers that this young woman encounters as she tries to seek a safe abortion.

	2	
Picture of young woman		
	4	
	6	
		Picture of facility
	Picture of young woman	Picture of young woman 4

9. Inform the groups that they have 15 minutes to draw their story. Check in with all the groups as they work.



- 10. When groups are finished drawing their barrier story, post the flipchart with questions and ask them to discuss.
  - How does each of these barriers impede the young woman's efforts to terminate her pregnancy safely?
  - What is this young woman's likelihood of having a safe abortion?
  - How might young women experience these barriers differently than older women? Which barriers may be unique to young women?
  - How do barriers like these explain young women's disproportionately high rate of unsafe abortion? Reluctance to seek care? Delay in seeking care?
- 11. Invite each group to post their flipchart, share their story and briefly summarize their group discussion.
- 12. After all of the groups have presented, highlight key points from the discussion. You may wish to summarize by saying:
  - Young women face many barriers to abortion care. They can be as large as social attitudes and beliefs that allow gender and age discrimination to occur. They can be a lack of financial resources. Even something as seemingly small as being required to fill in a blank for a husband's name when one is unmarried can become a barrier.
  - These barriers can be divided into categories such as social, economic and logistical, legal and policy, and health system barriers.
  - Young women often experience these barriers differently than adult women. Some barriers like consent laws or policies may even be unique to young women below a certain age.
  - The barriers that they face make young women especially vulnerable to delays in seeking and receiving care and feeling that unsafe abortion is their only option. Young women who obtain abortion care tend to access it later in pregnancy than adults. Young women who have an unsafe abortion are more likely to delay seeking help for complications than adults. They risk possible injury or death because of these barriers.
  - Some young women will be forced to become mothers against their will, while others will become socially ostracized from their community and forced to leave home.
  - It is therefore urgent to remove as many barriers as possible to ensure that young women get the care they need and have a right to, and do not resort to life-threatening unsafe abortions.
  - Parents, peers, the community, policymakers, and health-care providers and staff can all play an important role in removing barriers to abortion care for young people.
- 13. Solicit and discuss any outstanding questions, comments or concerns with participants. Thank the group for their participation.

**Note to facilitator:** If you select this exercise, make sure also to cover Module 5: Making abortion care accessible, including Tool 5B: Addressing barriers to care.

# Part II: Abortion care for young women

- 3. A rights-based approach to care
- 4. Building partnerships between young people and adults
- 5. Making abortion care accessible
- 6. Making abortion care clinically appropriate



### Safe Abortion Services for Young People

**S**ervices for young people

**A**dvocacy efforts towards starting up new services & upgrading the existing ones

Fair & equal treatment from service providers

**E**nabling youth – Friendly environment

Ample of information

 $\pmb{B}$ ridge the information with back-up of confidential services

**O**rganized efforts on the part of [government organizations] & [non-governmental organizations]

Respect our decision

**T**rust us

Informed choices

**O**ff with the myths and misconceptions

**N**eed your support

(By Smita Pawar, India, Youth Coalition 2007)

# Module 3: A rights-based approach to care



Image used with permission of Youth Coalition for Sexual and Reproductive Rights © 2007. Special thanks to the participants of the 2007 National Safe Abortion Advocacy Workshop in Ecuador.

### 3.1 Introduction

Recognition of and respect for young people's rights to health and information should guide abortion care for young women. It means that all young women are entitled to safe abortion care, and there are no conditions or circumstances that make some young women more "worthy" of safe services than others. It also implies upholding young women's capacity to be actively involved in and consent to their own health-care treatment. A deeper understanding of young women's rights can positively impact health system and social barriers, as well as legal and policy barriers like consent laws. This module provides information and tools on young people's sexual and reproductive rights, and young women's right to decisionmaking in abortion care.

### 3.2 Young people's sexual and reproductive rights

Health is a human right to which all people are entitled under the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights. The Declaration also establishes that all humans are born equal and have rights to life, liberty, security of person, to own property and to information and education, among others (1948, Arts. 3, 17, 25). Human rights are the foundation of the recommendations in this toolkit.

Since 1948, additional international conventions and conferences have clarified and expanded human rights. While conventions and covenants are legally binding for governments who sign and ratify them, conferences result only in recommendations for governments. Conventions and covenants are protected by Committees that monitor violations against them. Aside from the Declaration of Human Rights, some important conventions and conferences for young women's access to safe abortion care include:

• The International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1966)

It affirms all persons' right to self-determination and to freely pursue economic and social development (Art. 1). If a young woman is denied safe abortion, her right to self-determination could be violated. The Covenant also affirms the right to the highest attainable standard of health, both physical and mental (Art. 12). If a young woman is denied safe abortion, her right to health is violated.

#### • The International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD) (1994)

While the concept of "reproductive rights" grew out of the 1968 International Conference on Human Rights in Tehran, reproductive health was defined at the ICPD as:

A state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity, in all matters relating to the reproductive system and to its functions and processes. Reproductive health therefore implies that people are able to have a satisfying and safe sex life and that they have the capability to reproduce and the freedom to decide if, when and how often to do so (UNFPA 1995 Art. 7.2).

If a young woman is denied safe abortion, her right to control her own fertility has been violated. If she subsequently seeks an unsafe abortion and experiences complications, her right to have a satisfying and safe sex life may be violated too.

The ICPD established a number of goals and targets, including universal access to reproductive health services by 2015 (UNFPA 1995). On induced abortion, the ICPD consensus statement noted:

All Governments and relevant intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations are urged to strengthen their commitment to women's health, to deal with the health impact of unsafe abortion as a major public health concern and to reduce the recourse to abortion through expanded and improved family-planning services...In circumstances where abortion is not against the law, such abortion should be safe. In all cases, women should have access to quality services for management of complications arising from abortion. Postabortion counseling, education and family-planning services should be offered promptly, which will also help to avoid repeat abortion (UNFPA 1995, Arts. 7.6, 7.16 and 8.25).



#### • The Fourth World Conference on Women in Beijing's Platform for Action (1995)

The conference urged countries to "consider reviewing laws containing punitive measures against women who have undergone illegal abortions" (UNESCO 1995). Then, in 1999, a Special Session of the United Nations General Assembly stated that, for the indications legal in each country, "health systems should train and equip health-service providers and should take other measures to ensure that such abortion is safe and accessible" (UN 1999).

All human beings are entitled to these rights independent of any biological, social, economic or political distinctions, such as gender or age. For example, the Convention on the Rights of the Child affirms the right of the child to freedom of thought and expression, and health (UN 1989, Arts. 13, 14, 24). It has been ratified by all countries worldwide except the United States and Somalia. The Committee on the Rights of the Child further specifies that governments should "provide access to sexual and reproductive health services, including family planning, contraception and safe abortion services where abortion is not against the law [to girls and young women]" (UN 2003).

Denying young women safe abortion care violates many of their human rights, including the right to health and sometimes life, and numerous sexual and reproductive rights. To be able to access safe abortion care young women need other human rights to be realized first: without information and education it is much harder to identify pregnancy, options for handling the pregnancy, and where to seek care. Without the confidence that their rights to privacy and confidentiality will be fulfilled, young women may refrain from seeking safe abortion and resort to unsafe, but more private, options instead. Access to safe abortion is closely linked to many different human rights.

### 3.3 Evolving capacities and the principle of capability

While there are no universally accepted definitions of young people's capacity to make decisions, it is widely recognized that this capacity is evolving, and is not linked directly to chronological age (Lansdown 2005). Young people of a given age can have a wide range of decisionmaking capacities. The Convention on the Rights of the Child affirms children's and young people's right to independent decisionmaking in accordance with their capacities. It requires that:

States parties shall respect the responsibilities, rights and duties of parents or, where applicable, the members of the extended family...or other persons legally responsible for the child, to provide, **in a manner consistent with the evolving capacities of the child**, appropriate direction and guidance in the exercise by the child of the rights recognized in the present Convention (UN 2003, emphasis added).

This international convention recognizes that support and guidance can be helpful for any young person, but parents and guardians should provide direction only "in a manner consistent with" the young person's capacities. No adult should attempt to direct a young person's decisionmaking if s/he has the capacity to make a decision. In further recommendations, the Committee on the Rights of the Child called on the Ukraine to "take urgent measures to reduce maternal deaths related to teenage abortions and to ensure by law and in practice that **the views of the child should always be heard and respected in abortion decisions"** (UN 2011, emphasis added).

Furthermore, different decisions require different types and thresholds of capacity. A young person who is otherwise inclined to impulsive decisionmaking, and perhaps made such a decision when choosing to have unprotected sex, is unlikely to make decisions on medical care, including abortion, in the same way. In structured situations, such as medical care and basic information processing, the American Psychological Association has found that most young people can understand the risks and benefits of medical procedures as well as adults, and are able to make decisions about their medical care independently (Ehrlich 2003, IPPF 2011, Steinberg et al. 2009, Tillett 2005). When local laws and policies allow, providers should assume a young person's capacity to make a decision, unless counseling reveals the young woman desires the support of a guardian in decisionmaking. The International Planned Parenthood Federation-Western Hemisphere Region states:

The professional's assessment aims to determine not whether or not young people have the right to make decisions, but the degree of support they require to appropriate and make use of the capacities that enable them to exercise their rights (2010).

"basing the capacity to consent to abortion on chronological age as opposed to ability to understand the procedure, its inherent risks, and alternatives is oblivious to the human rights duty to recognize and give expression to the evolving capacity of the child. it diminishes the dignity of many adolescents and certainly all young Women." (ngwena 2010)

Because determining capacity (or incapacity) remains subjective, a useful **principle of capability** has been provided by Cook and Dickens in their article in the *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics:* Young people who understand that they need to protect their reproductive health, and who request reproductive health services to that end, can be considered capable of receiving reproductive health counseling and services without parental oversight (2000).

The same principle of capability can be applied to abortion care for young women. A young woman – who identifies that she has an unwanted pregnancy and voluntarily requests a safe abortion to terminate her pregnancy – is capable to consent to a safe abortion procedure.

If an involvement law restricts young women's right to decide to have an abortion, providers can still play an important role in protecting young women's lives and health without third-party consent or notification:

- The Committee on the Rights of the Child affirms the right to private and confidential counseling and advice as distinct from the right to give medical consent, which is not subject to any age limit: Children have a right to access "[private and] confidential medical counseling and advice without parental consent, irrespective of the child's age, where this is needed for the child's safety or well-being" (UN 2009). Providers should give accurate and comprehensive information about safe abortion, which may include information about local abortion hotlines and organizations like Women on Web, as well as provide counseling and advice about medical abortion, without third-party involvement.
- Providers have an ethical duty to provide care without delay when a young woman's life is in danger. Almost all national abortion laws in the world allow abortion when the life of the woman is in danger, and most involvement laws also make exceptions to third-party consent or notification when the young woman's life is in danger or the pregnancy is due to incest.
- Postabortion care, for women presenting complications from incomplete or unsafe abortion, should always be available to all women who need it, independent of age.
- Providers can also work to address legal and policy barriers in direct ways, as described in Module 5 (5.4 Addressing legal and policy barriers).
- See Successful strategies in restrictive settings in Module 5 for more examples.



### SOME DAY, I HOPE...

With a heavy heart I approach the place

All eyes I feel stare at my face

"I don't want a child" is all I say.

"You don't want 'this' child" is what they say

As if there is always a child in there.

I have made my mind.

I know it's right.

Even the law I know is on my side.

These are people I know who believe in me

But then there are others who just don't see.

My honor, my body, my health is my own

Yet they think of someone who is unborn,

Something which is just cells, yet to be grown.

I walk inside, hoping some day,

My rights will be mine and not put at stake.

Someday I hope all people will understand,

Respect me as a person and give my decision a stand.

(By Arpita Chaudhary, India, Youth Coalition 2007)

### 3.4 Additional resources

EngenderHealth and ICW. 2006. "Overview of Sexual and Reproductive Rights." In Sexual and Reproductive Health for HIV Positive Women and Adolescent Girls: Manual for Trainers and Programme Managers, 117-21. New York: EngenderHealth. Available online at: http://www.engenderhealth.org/pubs/hiv-aids-sti/srh-hiv-positive-women-girls.php

Global Justice Center. 2011. The right to an abortion for girls and women raped in armed conflict: States' positive obligations to provide non-discriminatory medical care under the Geneva Conventions. New York: Global Justice Center. Available online at: http://globaljusticecenter.net/publications/Reports/GJCbrief-final.pdf

IPPF. 1996. IPPF Charter on Sexual and Reproductive Rights. London: IPPF. Available online at http://www.ippf.org/en/Resources/Statements/IPPF+Charter+on+Sexual+and +Reproductive+Rights.htm

Lansdown, Gerison. 2005. *The Evolving Capacities of the Child*. Florence, Italy: UNICEF. Available online at: http://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/evolving-eng. pdf

Women on Web. http://www.womenonweb.org/

### 3.5 References

Chaudhary, Arpita. 2007. "Some Day, I Hope..." In International Youth Perspectives on Abortion: A Collection of Essays, Poems and Drawings. Ottawa: The Youth Coalition.

Cook, Rebecca and Bernard Dickens. 2000. Recognizing adolescents' 'evolving capacities' to exercise choice in reproductive healthcare. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*. 70: 13-21.

Ehrlich, J. Shoshanna. 2003. Grounded in the reality of their lives: Listening to teens who make the abortion decision without involving their parents. *Berkeley Women's Law Journal*, 18: 61-180.

International Planned Parenthood Federation. 2011. Understanding Young People's Right to Decide: Why is it important to develop capacities for autonomous decision-making? London: IPPF.

International Planned Parenthood Federation/Western Hemisphere Region. 2010. Sexual and Reproductive Rights of Young People: Autonomous Decision Making and Confidential Services. New York: IPPF/WHR and Profamilia.

Lansdown, Gerison. 2005. *The Evolving Capacities of the Child.* Innocenti Insight. Florence, Italy: UNICEF.

Ngwena, Charles G. 2010. Inscribing abortion as a human right: Significance of the protocol on the rights of women in Africa. *Human Rights Quarterly*, 32 (4) 783-864.

Pawar, Smita. 2007. "Safe Abortion Services for Young People." In International Youth Perspectives on Abortion: A Collection of Essays, Poems and Drawings. Ottawa: The Youth Coalition.

Steinberg, Laurence, Elizabeth Cauffman, Jennifer Woolard, Sandra Graham and Marie Banich. 2009. Are adolescents less mature than adults? Minors' access to abortion, the juvenile death penalty, and the alleged APA "flip-flop." *American Psychologist*, 64 (7): 583-94.

Tillett, Jackie. 2005. Adolescents and informed consent: Ethical and legal issues. *Journal of Perinatal & Neonatal Nursing.* 19 (2): 112-21.



United Nations (UN). 1948. Universal Declaration of Human Rights. New York: UN.

United Nations (UN). 1966. The International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. New York: UN.

United Nations (UN). 1989. Convention on the Rights of the Child. New York: UN.

United Nations (UN). 1999. Report of the Ad Hoc Committee of the Whole of the Twenty-first Special Session of the General Assembly, including Key Actions for the Further Implementation of the Programme of Action of the International Conference on Population and Development (A/S-21/5/Add.1). New York: UN.

United Nations (UN). 2003. General Comment No. 4: Adolescent Health and Development in the Context of the Convention on the Rights of the Child (U.N. Doc. CRC/GC/2003/4). New York: UN.

United Nations (UN). 2009. General Comment No. 12: The right of the child to be heard (CRC/C/GC/12). New York: UN.

United Nations (UN). 2011. Committee on the Rights of the Child 56th Session, Concluding Observations: Ukraine, advanced unedited version. New York: UN.

UNESCO. 1995. Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action, Fourth World Conference on Women. New York: UN.

UNFPA. 1995. Report of the International Conference on Population and Development, Cairo, 1994. New York: UN.

# MODULE 3 TOOLS

Tool 3A: A rights-based approach to care handout

Tool 3B: Young women, international rights and abortion

Tool 3C: The principle of capability

MODULE 3 TOOLS

# TOOL 3A: A rights-based approach to care handout

### Sexual and reproductive rights of young people

Conventions and covenants are legally binding for governments who sign and ratify them, while conferences provide recommendations for governments.

### Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948)

- Health is a human right to which all people are entitled.
- All humans are born equal.
- They have the rights to life, liberty, security of person, to own property, and to information and education, among others.

### The International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1966)

All people have the right to:

- self-determination
- freely pursue economic and social development
- the highest attainable standard of health, both physical and mental

#### The International Conference on Population and Development (1994)

- Health includes reproductive health.
- Where abortion is not against the law, abortion should be safe.
- Postabortion counseling, education and contraception should be offered promptly.

#### Special Session of the United Nations General Assembly (1999)

Health systems should train and equip health-service providers and take other measures to ensure that abortion is safe and accessible.

#### Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989)

Children have the right to health.

#### Committee on the Rights of the Child (2003)

Governments should provide access for young people to sexual and reproductive health services, including family planning, contraception and safe abortion services where abortion is not against the law.

# The right to decisionmaking: Evolving capacities and the principle of capability

It is widely accepted that the capacity to make decisions evolves and is not linked directly to chronological age.

### Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989)

Children and young people have the right to independent decisionmaking in accordance with their capacities. The Committee on the Rights of the Child (2011) has interpreted this to apply to abortion.

### Principle of capability

Young people who understand that they need to protect their reproductive health, and who request reproductive health services to that end, can be considered capable of receiving reproductive health counseling and services without parental oversight, including abortion.

#### The right to information

The Committee on the Rights of the Child (2009) affirms that children of any age have a right to private and confidential medical counseling and advice without parental consent, where needed for their safety or well-being.


# TOOL 3B: Young women, international rights and abortion



### Purpose

For participants to understand how certain international conferences, conventions and declarations uphold young women's human, sexual and reproductive rights and their role in ensuring young women's rights are respected.



## Objectives

By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Identify human, sexual and reproductive rights that support a young woman's right to a safe abortion.
- Describe possible consequences when a young woman's human, sexual and reproductive rights are violated.
- Describe their role in ensuring a young woman's right to a safe abortion.



- Flipchart, tape, markers
- Prepared flipchart: Timeline of Rights (optional)
- Prepared flipchart: Discussion questions
- Copies of Timeline of Rights
- Copies of case study: Why did she die?



40 minutes: Part 1: A Question of Rights

35 minutes: Part 2: Why did she die?

75 minutes total time



## Preparation

- Photocopy Timeline of Rights handout, one per participant.
- Research which of the conventions, conferences and declarations on the Timeline of Rights have been signed or ratified by participants' countries.
- Adapt Why did she die? handout to your local context, if necessary.
- Photocopy Why did she die? handout, one per participant.

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

- Photocopy discussion questions, one per group.
- Write Timeline of Rights discussion questions on flipchart.
- Write Timeline of Rights on flipchart (optional).



Part 1:

- 1. Introduce the activity by telling participants that during this activity they will discuss rights, in particular sexual and reproductive rights, as they apply to young women 10 24 years of age.
- 2. Ask participants what they think of when they hear the term "human rights." Allow for a few responses. Show slide and read the following definition:

Human rights are basic rights held by all persons by virtue of being born a human being. They are inalienable and interlinked, and protect our freedom, safety, health and quality of life. All human beings are entitled to these rights independent of any biological, social, economic or political distinctions, such as gender or age.

- 3. Ask participants to share any international conventions and conferences that they think are relevant to a young woman's sexual and reproductive rights, and specify how. List responses on a flipchart.
- 4. Give each participant a copy of the Timeline of Rights handout. (**Note to facilitator:** Post Timeline of Rights flipchart at this time if you have chosen to include it.) Briefly highlight similarities or differences to the list that the group identified.
- 5. Divide participants into five small groups. Inform the groups that they have 25 minutes to read the Timeline of Rights handout and answer all five discussion questions. However, tell them that they will only present their response to one question to the larger group. Ask each group to identify one person who will report back.
- 6. Post the Timeline of Rights discussion questions flipchart:
  - What human rights are covered in the Timeline of Rights? How do rights like these change or evolve over time?
  - Which of these rights and conventions are ratified, and legally enforced or upheld in your country? How are they upheld?
  - How do these conventions and conferences relate to the sexual and reproductive health and rights of young women? What are the sexual and reproductive rights of young women? How do they relate to safe abortion?
  - What do these rights and conventions mean for abortion care providers who are or want to serve young women?
  - How do you provide abortion care while respecting the laws in your country, the human, sexual and reproductive rights of the individual young woman, and medical ethics? What are some of the challenges and how can you overcome them?
- 7. Ask participants to join the larger group. Assign each group one of the five questions. Invite each group to share their assigned question and highlights from their group's discussion. After each group presents, allow time for additional discussion, asking other groups to add anything that is missing.
- 8. Summarize highlights from the participants' discussions and conclude with the following key points:

All human beings are born with a set of inalienable rights that provide basic protections to life, safety, shelter and health among others. These rights are not limited by any factors such as gender or age. Young women have the same human rights as all other persons. Denying a young woman accurate and comprehensive information about safe abortion or safe abortion care is a violation of her rights. When local laws and policies allow, providers should provide safe abortion care to all young women who want or

need it. In cases of legal restrictions, providers can play important roles in protecting young women's lives and health – by giving information, counseling and advice, identifying alternative legal indications for safe abortion, and advocating for legal and policy changes.

9. Inform participants that for the second half of this activity they will practice applying these international rights to a young woman's situation.

**Note to facilitator:** An option for this activity is to extend Part 1 and add an overview of national laws and rights frameworks for the country participants come from. Allow time for participants to discuss how their national laws and rights frameworks interact with international human rights.

#### Part 2:

- 10. Provide all participants with a Why did she die? handout.
- 11. Inform participants that for this activity they will read the handout, Why did she die? and then, in their small groups, identify the various human, sexual and reproductive rights that have been violated in the case study. Inform the groups that they have 15 minutes for this task. You may wish to refer participants back to the Timeline of Rights handout and their discussion about the different rights.
- 12. Ask the participants to join the larger group.
- 13. Read the first paragraph and ask one of the small groups to identify the rights that have been violated. Ask other groups for additional input if not all of the rights violations were identified. Use the Why did she die? key as a guide and point out any rights violations that the groups did not identify.
- 14. Continue in a similar fashion, asking a different small group to identify the rights violated for each of the four paragraphs.
- 15. Ask participants to reflect on the human rights, particularly the sexual and reproductive rights that they have identified as being violated. Use the following questions to facilitate the discussion. Allow approximately 15 minutes for the discussion.
  - What are the different circumstances that lead to violations of young women's rights?
  - What challenges do young women face in exercising their rights? How does this affect their options?
  - What challenges exist for young women to exercise their full rights in your country/region?
  - Who is responsible for fulfilling young women's rights? What needs to happen to uphold young women's rights at the government level? At the facility level? At the community level? At the individual level?
  - What is your responsibility in ensuring Meena's rights are respected? What actions can you take at your level?
- 16. Highlight unique points and summarize using the following key points:
  - Across the world, young women face human rights violations each day. They are disproportionately affected by violations compared to their male peers or adults.
  - We have also seen how interconnected human rights are: without information it can be much harder to seek or receive health care. Similarly, without freedom from discrimination – equal pay, for example – safe abortion care may not be financially accessible to a young woman.
  - This means that we have to work for young women's rights at many levels, from the government to communities to individuals, and in many different areas. We are all responsible for fulfilling the human rights of young women.
  - As providers of health care and safe abortion, you have a particularly important role to play.
- 17. Solicit and discuss any outstanding questions, comments or concerns with participants. Thank the group for their participation.

## Timeline of Rights handout

1948	Universal Declaration of Human Rights
	Art. 1: "All human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights."
	All humans have rights to life, liberty and security of person, health, to own property, and education, among others (Arts. 3, 17, 25).
1966	International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights
	Art. 1: "All people have the right of self-determination. By virtue of that right they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development."
	Art. 12: "The States Parties to the present Covenant recognize the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health."
1974	World Population Plan of Action
	Art. 14(f): "All couples and individuals have the basic right to decide freely and responsibly the number and spacing of their children and to have the information and means to do so."
1979	Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women
	Art. 12.1: "States Parties shall take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination against women in the field of health care in order to ensure, on a basis of equality of men and women, access to health care services, including those related to family planning."
1989	Convention on the Rights of the Child
	Art. 5: "States parties shall respect the responsibilities, rights and duties of parents or, where applicable, the members of the extended familyor other persons legally responsible for the child, to provide, in a manner consistent with the evolving capacities of the child, appropriate direction and guidance in the exercise by the child of the rights recognized in the present Convention."
	Art. 24: "States Parties recognize the right of the child to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health and to facilities for the treatment of illness and rehabilitation of health. States Parties shall strive to ensure that no child is deprived of his or her right of access to such health care services."
	In 2003, the Committee on the Rights of the Child called on governments to "provide access to sexual and reproductive health services, including family planning, contraception and safe abortion services where abortion is not against the law [to girls and young women]" and in 2009, it urged the Ukraine to ensure by law and in practice that the views of the child should always be heard and respected in abortion decisions."



1994	International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD), Cairo, Egypt
	Art. 7.20: "Reproductive health is a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity, in all matters relating to the reproductive system and to its functions and processes. Reproductive health therefore implies that people are able to have a satisfying and safe sex life and that they have the capability to reproduce and the freedom to decide if, when and how often to do so."
	Art. 8.19: "Greater attention to the reproductive health needs of female adolescents and young women could prevent the major share of maternal morbidity and mortality through prevention of unwanted pregnancies and any subsequent poorly managed abortion."
	Art. 8.25: "In circumstances where abortion is not against the law, such abortion should be safe. In all cases, women should have access to quality services for management of complications arising from abortion."
1995	Beijing Declaration, Fourth World Conference on Women, Beijing, China
	The conference urged countries to "consider reviewing laws containing punitive measures against women who have undergone illegal abortions" (UNESCO1995).
1996	Charter on Sexual and Reproductive Rights, IPPF, London, United Kingdom
	The original 1996 charter highlights established human rights such as the right to choose whether or not to marry and to found and plan a family, the right to decide whether or when to have children, the right to health care and health protection, and the right to the benefits of scientific progress, among others.
2009	The Berlin Call to Action, ICPD+15, Berlin, Germany
	Para. 3: "Ensure the sexual and reproductive rights of adolescents and young people: Empower young people to make informed decisions about their life and livelihood in an environment that removes all barriers to accessing the full range of sexual and reproductive health information and services. Guarantee confidentiality and eliminate parental and spousal consent and age restrictions. Expand and allocate the resources needed to deliver effective, continuous, gender sensitive and youth-friendly services and evidence-based, timely, and comprehensive sexuality education. Acknowledge and respect the diversity of young people and collect age and gender disaggregated data."



#### Why did she die? Handout

My name is Meena, and I am a 17-year-old woman. I have worked in a factory for over a year. It is hard work, and I earn a very small salary, far below the national standard. Most of what I earn I send home to my family in a rural area. I can read and write a little, but I did not go to school very long because my parents could not afford the fees for both my brother and me, and so he went. I did not receive any information about sexual and reproductive health issues at home or school.

During my first month at the factory, one of the supervisors pressured me to have sex with him. He did not use a condom or any other protection. He told me to wash afterwards so I would not get pregnant and not to tell anyone. Because no one talks about such things, I never told anyone. Luckily I did not get pregnant. My parents want to arrange my marriage to a boy from a neighboring village soon, and they want me to stay pure for him.

Not too long ago I met a boy in the factory. He treated me nicely and asked me if I wanted to go out with him. We started going out, and after a while, we started having sex. When we could get them, we used condoms. But it was hard to get condoms, and sometimes when we had a condom we put it on late, after already starting to have sex.

Last month I missed my bleeding. My breasts became tender and a little bigger. I wasn't sure if I was pregnant, but I knew that I could not have a child. My manager would make me leave my job at the factory if he found out. I could never travel home because it would bring such shame on my parents and I could no longer be married. I heard of a lady who helps young women with these situations. She charges less money than the health clinic, and I wouldn't risk being seen by someone who knows me, so I went to her. She inserted something deep inside of me. It hurt a lot and there was a lot of blood. All night I felt very weak and was in a lot of pain. My friend found me dead the next morning.

### Why did she die? Key

My name is Meena, and I am a 17-year-old woman. I have worked in a factory for over a year. It is hard work, and I earn a very small salary, far below the national standard. (**Right to fair and equitable income, freedom** from discrimination). Most of what I earn I send home to my family in a rural area. I can read and write a little, but I did not go to school very long because my parents could not afford the fees for both my brother and me, and so he went. (**Rights to information and education, and freedom from discrimination**). I did not receive any information about sexual and reproductive health issues at home or school. (**Right to information and education**).

During my first month at the factory, one of the supervisors pressured me to have sex with him. (Right to security of person). He did not use a condom or any other protection. He told me to wash afterwards so I would not get pregnant and not to tell anyone. (Right to information and education). Because no one talks about such things, I never told anyone. Luckily I did not get pregnant. My parents want to arrange my marriage to a boy from a neighboring village soon, and they want me to stay pure for him. (Right to decide if, when and with whom to marry).

Not too long ago I met a boy in the factory. He treated me nicely and asked me if I wanted to go out with him. We started going out, and after a while, we started having sex. When we could get them, we used condoms. But it was hard to get condoms, **(Rights to health care and benefits of scientific progress)** and sometimes when we had a condom we put it on late, after already starting to have sex. **(Right to information and education)**.

Last month I missed my bleeding. My breasts became tender and a little bigger. I wasn't sure if I was pregnant, but I knew that I could not have a child. My manager would make me leave my job at the factory if he found out. (Right to freedom from discrimination). I could never travel home because it would bring such shame on my parents and I could no longer be married. (Right to decide if, when and with whom to marry). I heard of a lady who helps young women with these situations. She charges less money than the health clinic, and I wouldn't risk being seen by someone who knows me, so I went to her. She inserted something deep inside of me. It hurt a lot and there was a lot of blood. (Right to health care and benefits of scientific progress). All night I felt very weak and was in a lot of pain. My friend found me dead the next morning (Rights to life, and to decide if, when and with whom to have a child).



## TOOL 3C: The principle of capability



Participants will question assumptions about young women's capability to make decisions about abortion and understand the possible negative consequences when they are denied care based on these assumptions.



By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Identify the assumptions they make about the decisionmaking capabilities of young women.
- Describe possible consequences when a young woman is denied access to abortion care services based on these assumptions.
- Identify the two indicators for the "principle of capability," which helps determine if a young woman can be considered capable of deciding if she needs abortion care services.



- Laptop, LCD projector, screen
- Flipchart, easel, tape, markers
- PowerPoint slides (4): Is she capable?; Evolving capacities definition; Evolving capacities quotes; Principle of capability



25 minutes: Activity: Is she capable?

50 minutes: Discussion: Evolving capacities and the principle of capability

75 minutes total time



## Preparation

- Set up LCD projector and screen in advance.
- Upload the Activity 3C PowerPoint onto the computer that will be used.
- Alternative: If no LCD projector or computer is available, write the case studies on a flipchart, and print copies of the case study pictures, enough for each participant or table.
- Write Is she capable? questions on flipchart.



Part 1:

#### Is she capable?

- 1. Show the activity objectives slide. (If you are not using slides, you can write the objectives on the flipchart.) Inform participants that for this activity they will discuss when a young woman should be considered capable of making the decision to have an abortion.
- 2. Inform participants that they will see images of four young women. Highlight that in this activity each of the four young women live in countries where there are no third-party involvement laws so the provider is allowed to determine whether the young woman is capable of making the decision to have an abortion.
- 3. Tell participants that for each image, they should write their responses to the following questions. Post the Is she capable? flipchart, and read the questions aloud:
  - Is she capable of making the decision to have an abortion? Why? or, Why not?
- 4. Show the four slides. (If you are not using slides, you can write the case studies on the flipchart, and hand out pictures of the young women.) Read the descriptions that correspond to each of the slides:
  - Slide 1: Neena is 15 years old. She won't disclose anything about her circumstances other than the fact that she had unprotected sex six weeks ago and believes she is pregnant. She says she wants an abortion.
  - Slide 2: Bintu is 17 years old and accompanied by her aunt. She is approximately eight weeks pregnant. Her aunt is answering all of the questions for her and states that Bintu wants an abortion.
  - Slide 3: Ana-Maria is 22 years old and married. She is 11 weeks pregnant and wants an abortion. She says that she has been pregnant twice before and terminated each pregnancy.
  - Slide 4: Anjula is 12 and unaccompanied. She says that she lives with her aunt and uncle. She says she was raped by her uncle. She knows that it may result in pregnancy, which she says she doesn't want. Her cousin told her to come here. She appears very calm.
- 5. Invite participants to pair up with the person next to them. Ask them to discuss the slides and their responses to the questions in pairs for 10 minutes.
- 6. Ask participants to return to the larger group. Ask several pairs to share what they discussed. Use the following questions to facilitate discussion. It may be helpful to write the discussion questions on a flipchart. Allow 10 minutes for discussion:
  - Which, if any, of the young women were considered capable by your group? How did your group come to that conclusion?
  - Which, if any, of the young women were not considered capable by your group? How did your group come to that conclusion?
  - How did it feel to decide if the young woman was capable or not? Did anything surprise you about the process of deciding her capacity? Was anything difficult?
- 7. Thank participants for sharing their discussions. Inform them that during the next part of the activity they will further discuss how to determine capacity.

#### Part 2:

Evolving capacities and the principle of capability

8. Divide the participants into small groups.

- 9. Ask participants if they are familiar with the term "evolving capacities." Ask a volunteer to share what they know, if applicable.
- 10. Share the slide, **Evolving capacities definition.**
- 11. Share the slides, **Evolving capacities quotes 1 3.**
- 12. Ask the small groups to reflect upon the concept of evolving capacities and what the quotes are saying.
  - If we do not base our decision on chronological age, how do we determine when a young woman is capable of consenting to abortion?
  - How do we evaluate her ability to understand the procedure, risks and alternatives?
  - How might our evaluation impact her human, sexual and reproductive rights?
- 13. Ask participants if any of them are familiar with the "principle of capability." Ask a volunteer to share what they know, if applicable.
- 14. Share the slide, **Principle of capability:**

Say the following:

Because determining capacity is subjective, a useful principle has been provided by Cook and Dickens in their article in the International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics: Young people who understand that they need to protect their reproductive health, and who request reproductive health services to that end, can be considered capable of receiving reproductive health counseling and services without parental oversight.

When applied to abortion care for young women, this **principle of capability** means that a young woman – who identifies that she has an unwanted pregnancy and voluntarily requests a safe abortion to terminate the pregnancy – is capable to consent to a safe abortion procedure. This principle limits the role of the provider in assessing capacity, and supports the 'presumption of capacity' approach. The young woman's capacity is sufficiently demonstrated by her voluntary action to seek and request safe abortion.

15. Ask the small groups to apply the principle of capability to the cases of Neena, Bintu, Ana-Maria, and Anjula from Part 1 of the activity.

Which young women should be considered capable of deciding they want an abortion according to this definition?

**Note to facilitator:** Neena, Ana-Maria and Anjula can all be considered capable according to the principle of capability. Bintu's case may be put into question because her aunt is speaking for her, but a conversation with Bintu without her aunt could show that it is indeed her own decision to have an abortion. In Anjula's case, participants may be concerned about any regulations on reporting sexual abuse of a minor, but this is a separate issue from her capacity to consent to abortion care.

- 16. Ask the small groups to discuss the principle of capability. Inform them they have 15 minutes to answer four discussion questions. Inform the groups that they should try to answer all questions, and they will present key points for one of the discussion questions. Ask the groups to identify a presenter who will report out to the larger group. Use the following questions to facilitate discussion:
  - What are the benefits of using the principle of capability? For young women seeking services? For your clinic or organization? For you personally?
  - What are the challenges? For young women seeking services? For your clinic or organization? For you personally?
  - How can you address some of the challenges?
  - What are the options for young women who are determined incapable of deciding to have an abortion? What are the different risks associated with those options?

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

- 17. Assign each group one of the questions. Invite each group to share their assigned question and brief highlights from their group's discussion. After each group presents, allow time for additional discussion, asking other groups to add anything that is missing.
- 18. Remind participants of the risks associated with delayed or unsafe abortion and childbirth, particularly for very young women, if they are not mentioned:
  - Evidence shows that young women who are denied safe abortion care are less likely than adult women to seek care from another provider.
  - Anecdotal evidence also shows that young women who are considered incapable of independent decisionmaking or requested to get third-party consent for an abortion procedure are likely to resort to unsafe abortion, commit suicide or are forced to carry the pregnancy to term, rather than give up their privacy. Even in the cases when a young woman goes to another provider or gets third-party consent the abortion will be delayed, which also carries higher risks.
  - Unsafe abortion or childbirth at an early age both have a higher risk of death than safe abortion. There are health risks from delayed or unsafe abortion, as well as childbirth at an early age, including for example hemorrhage, infection, obstetric fistula or ruptured uterus.
  - There are social risks including becoming ostracized, kicked out of the parental home or from school, or bullied, tormented and threatened.

**Note to facilitator:** It is important to highlight the risks that a young woman is likely to face if she is denied safe abortion care. In addition, the facilitator may also want to point out the flawed logic that determines that a young woman is not capable (or mature enough) to consent to a safe abortion procedure, but considers her capable (or mature enough) of raising a child.

- 19. Summarize what has been discussed in this activity and reinforce the following key points:
  - Evolving capacities means that maturity is not linked to chronological age, and that young women have a right to independent decisionmaking in accordance with their capacities.
  - A young woman who identifies that she has an unwanted pregnancy and voluntarily requests a safe abortion to terminate the pregnancy can be considered capable to consent to a safe abortion procedure.
  - If a young woman is denied safe abortion care her life and health may be jeopardized.
  - See toolkit section 3.3 for more information.
- 20. Solicit and discuss any outstanding questions, comments or concerns with participants. Thank the group for their participation.



# Module 4: Building partnerships between young people and adults



Image by Ipas's African Youth Art Contest winner Yonas Abdela of Ethiopia.

#### 4.1 Introduction

Abortion care for young women should be participatory and should recognize that young women are not just beneficiaries of services but key stakeholders in their own health care. Building partnerships between young people and adults is an important and effective way of including young women's experiences, skills and ideas in abortion care. We often rely on adult-generated information to determine health care that is appropriate for young people – which commonly results in inaccurate assumptions about what young people need and want. This module provides guidance and tools for building partnerships between young people and adults in abortion care.

#### "youth are resources... they are not problems to be solved." - provider, wigeria

#### 4.2 Definition

A partnership between adults and young people is a relationship in which both parties work together to address issues facing young people or on programs meant to serve young people. In a true partnership each party has the opportunity to make suggestions and decisions and the contribution of each is recognized and valued (Advocates for Youth 2001). A partnership also implies:

- Voluntary and meaningful participation. Participation implies work *with and by* people, not merely *for* them (DFID 2010, Royal College of Pediatrics and Child Health 2010).
- Transfer of responsibility to young people (YouthNet and FHI 2005). When young people are either only assigned tasks or consulted about certain processes, they cannot be considered partners. As young people receive and take responsibility they transition from being beneficiaries of programs to partners and leaders (DFID 2010).

"When i am handed responsibility, i feel as if people trust me... if an adult trusts a young person, the youth is most likely to treat that responsibility with care and pride and grow as a person." - christine, north america \*curtis 2008\*

### 4.3 Benefits

Partnering with young people has many benefits:

• Fulfilling rights and desires: Partnering with young people fulfills their right and desire to be actively involved in any program meant to serve them. It can also build civic engagement skills and empower young people to become active citizens. The International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the Convention on the Rights of the Child establishes participation as a right for all children and young people, which is not limited by age, sex, gender, socioeconomic status, physical or mental ability, or any other characteristic of the child or young person (UN 1966, UN 1989, Arts. 12, 23 and 24). Young people all over the world want opportunities to exercise their right to participation.





• Learning and empowerment: Partnerships with adults can support young people to learn about and question laws, policies and norms that generate and perpetuate inequalities, such as restrictive abortion or consent laws. Through these learning processes, young people can begin to realize their own power to affect change (Instituto Promundo et al. 2009). By partnering with young people, service providers and managers of abortion care can gain an increased understanding of what young women need and want and become empowered to serve young women better.

#### "We the children are experts on being 8, 12 or 17 years old in the societies of today, to consult us would wake your work more effective and give better results for children." - young woman, norway (greene et al. 2010)

- Improving communication about difficult topics: Partnerships between young people and adults facilitate intergenerational communication about subjects that are considered taboo or difficult (Instituto Promundo et al. 2009). This is especially important for abortion, as it is a taboo and stigmatized topic in many cultures, and practices related to abortion are often shrouded in secrecy and shame (Kumar et al. 2009). Improved provider-client communication in health-care delivery can also improve the quality of care (Ngo-Metzger et al. 2010).
- Reducing barriers to and improving health care: Community involvement increases the likelihood of meeting clients' needs and improves health outcomes (Ahluwalia et al. 2003). This is the principle behind Save the Children's tool "partnership defined quality" (2003) (see textbox).

#### "remedies for service quality issues may rest within the youth themselves, if they are engaged and empowered to share their views."

- save the children 2008

#### Partnership Defined Quality for Youth (PDQ-Y)

PDQ-Y is a method used to increase the quality and accessibility of health-care services for young people, through youth-provider collaboration. Responsibility for better health goes beyond the health system, and solutions to deficiencies in care for young people can be found outside facility walls. Because of this, it is important for providers and young people to come to a shared understanding of what constitutes high-quality care: "Perception of poor quality health services can cause delays in seeking and receiving appropriate service, which can lead to greater morbidity and mortality" (Save the Children 2003). The PDQ-Y process includes four steps: Building Support, Exploring Quality, Bridging the Gap, and Working in Partnership. Young people must be valued and active partners or leaders in all steps.

The PDQ-Y toolkit can be found in the additional resources.

Health-care providers and managers partnering with young people to define high-quality abortion care together are better able to meet young women's abortion-related needs and encourage positive care-seeking behaviors. Implementing community and youth-generated solutions could also mitigate or eliminate barriers that young women face when trying to access safe abortion care. Partnering with young people is therefore a crucial component of abortion care for young women.

"never underestimate the absolutely profound impact [you] can have on the world by working with youth... and never underestimate what they can do." - michael, united states \*quoted in curtis 2008\*

#### 4.4 Partnering in abortion care

There are many ways to partner with young people. Contacting local organizations that work with young people, including diverse and marginalized communities, can help to identify possible partnerships. Since adults do not know what type of partnership is most beneficial from young people's perspectives, young people must be active partners not only in implementing the partnership, but in designing and establishing it (Save the Children 2008). Providers may find young people eager to lead a partnership in which they serve as resources.

Through partnerships young people can:

- Define and design more accessible and appropriate abortion care for young women. For example:
  - Conduct or participate in interviews, focus groups, surveys and non-traditional forms of information gathering, analyze responses and make recommendations for or design services.
  - Lead or participate in clinic walkthroughs to assess service delivery gaps.
  - Lead or participate in (youth) advisory councils or boards that make recommendations and decisions about services, including resource allocation.
- Lead and contribute to service provision.

For example:

- Conduct community outreach, information and education to increase awareness of services, including designing and leading non-traditional forms of outreach that may be more appropriate for youth.
- Provide or direct accompaniment, resources and social support before, during and/or after the abortion.
- Provide services, which may include pre- and postabortion counseling, medical abortion, voluntary counseling and testing for HIV, postabortion contraception counseling and provision of select contraceptive methods.
- Work in facility management or administration.
- Evaluate quality of services and influence quality improvement efforts. For example:
  - Conduct or participate in client exit interviews, focus groups and surveys, analyze responses and make recommendations for quality improvement.
  - Implement non-traditional evaluation processes designed by and for young women.
  - Serve as a young clients' advocate within the facility or district.

#### Example: Young women leading the way to increase access to abortion care in Mexico

Abortion care is legal and available in Mexico City; however, it remains highly restricted in the rest of the country. Many women travel great distances from rural areas to the city to access abortion services, experiencing an enormous strain on their time and resources. Wealthy women can often afford the arrangements and care needed, but many poor women may not have the means to, turning abortion access into a class issue, in addition to a human rights issue. In response to this, two young women formed the MARIA Abortion Fund for Social Justice (MARIA), which helps women plan and pay for transportation and lodging costs, assists with scheduling and paying (fully or partially) for the procedure, and provides counseling, information and education tools. In addition, MARIA fosters awareness of women's right to abortion, and creates a feeling of solidarity between women who believe in and protect this right.

To learn more, visit http://www.redbalance.org/maria/ inicio\_maria\_usa.html.

There are several barriers to establishing and maintaining successful partnerships between young people and adults; it is important to be aware of common pitfalls and how to avoid them. One of them is tokenism, which occurs when young people are included in, but not allowed to influence processes or decisions (Royal College of Pediatrics and Child Health 2010). Tokenism can prevent partnerships from being formed. A partnership can also deteriorate into tokenism if it is not structured or implemented well (Bergdorf 2008).

#### Tokenism

In an attempt to increase service use among young people, a district health management team has taken the important step to improve youth participation. They agree that a certain number or percentage of their decisionmaking body should include youth and invite a few young people from the local university to join. They report success once they have included the desired number of youth participants. However, the young people are not supported with the necessary skills or trusted to participate meaningfully. As a result, their contributions are not taken into consideration in decisionmaking or translated into action. The young people grow frustrated, resign from the decisionmaking body and lose faith in adult-driven processes.

Negative personal attitudes held by adults or young people, stereotyping of young people, and institutions or communities that do not value young people's participation or are directly prejudicial against their participation all constitute additional barriers (Bergdorf 2008, IPPF 2004, Tayo 2002, YouthNet and FHI 2005). Stigma around young people's age, sexuality, gender and abortion can also affect partnerships that are dealing specifically with abortion care (see Module 2: Barriers to care).

In order to succeed, partnerships must be based on guiding principles of trust, respect and civic values that put young people's best interest first (Bergdorf 2008, Instituto Promundo et al. 2009). In partnerships on sexual and reproductive health and abortion care, it is also important to value access to health care as a right for all young people.

#### 4.5 Monitoring and evaluation

Monitoring and evaluation (M&E) is a critical component of partnering with young people, who should be trained to participate in or lead M&E activities (IPPF 2008). For example, to most effectively evaluate if a partnership with young people is successful, young people and adults must have a shared understanding of what success looks like. The definition of success must be co-created, supported and evaluated by the young people in and throughout the partnership.

Monitoring and evaluation should be an ongoing practice that occurs throughout a project rather than as an afterthought or separate activity (Participation Works 2008). When monitoring and evaluating partnerships with young people it is important to assess participants' satisfaction with partnership processes, the partnership's effectiveness and impact toward reaching the identified goal, and any unexpected outcomes. Conducting ongoing M&E throughout the lifespan of the partnership will help to strengthen and improve it (IPPF 2008, YouthNet and FHI 2005).

## 4.6 Additional resources

Austrian, Karen and Dennitah Ghati. 2010. *Girl Centered Program Design: A Toolkit to Develop, Strengthen and Expand Adolescent Girls Programs*. Nairobi, Kenya: The Population Council. Available online at: http://www.ungei.org/resources/files/2010PGY\_AdolGirlToolkitComplete.pdf

DFID. 2010. Youth Participation in Development, a Guide for Development Agencies and Policy Makers. London: DFID–CSO Youth Working Group. Available online at: http://www.ygproject.org/

IPPF. 2004. Setting Standards for Youth Participation: Self Assessment Guide for Governance and Programmes. London: IPPF. Available online at: http://www.ippf.org/en/Resources/Guides-toolkits/Setting+Standards+for+Youth+Participation.htm

Royal College of Pediatrics and Child Health. 2010. *Not Just a Phase, a Guide to the Participation of Children and Young People in Health Services*. London: Royal College of Pediatrics and Child Health. Available online at: http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/Policy/Advocacy/Not-Just-a-Phase-Guide

Save the Children. 2008. Partnership Defined Quality for Youth: A Process Manual for Improving Reproductive Health Services through Youth-Provider Collaboration. Westport, CT: Save the Children. Available online at: http://www.savethechildren.org/atf/cf/%7B9def2ebe-10ae-432c-9bd0-df91d2eba74a%7D/PDQ-Y-Manual.pdf

YouthNet and Family Health International. 2005. Youth Participation Guide: Assessment, Planning and Implementation. Arlington, VA: Family Health International. Available online at http://www.fhi.org/en/youth/youthnet/rhtrainmat/ypguide.htm

Women Deliver. 2010. *Youth Guide to Action on Maternal Health.* New York: Women Deliver. Available online at: http://www.womendeliver.org/assets/Youth\_Guide\_to\_Maternal\_Health\_FINAL.pdf

#### 4.7 References

Advocates for Youth. 2001. Building Effective Youth-Adult Partnerships. *Transitions*, 14 (1): 10-2.

Ahluwalia, I.B., T. Schmid, M. Kouletio, O. Kanenda. 2003. An evaluation of a communitybased approach to safe motherhood in northwestern Tanzania. *International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 82 (2): 231-40.

Balas, H. 2003. *Engaging Youth in Policymaking Improves Policies and Youth Outcomes.* Sacramento: The Center for Health Improvement.

Bergdorf, Timothy. 2008. Untapped Resources: Problems and Possibilities Pertaining to Meaningful Youth Participation. Goteborg, Sweden: Gothenburg University.

Curtis, K. 2008. *Empowering Youth, How to Encourage Young Leaders to Do Great Things*. Minneapolis, MN: Search Institute.

DFID. 2010. Youth Participation in Development, a Guide for Development Agencies and Policy Makers. London: DFID–CSO Youth Working Group.

Greene, Margaret E., Laura Cardinal and Eve Goldstein-Siegel. 2010. *Girls Speak: A New Voice in Global Development.* Washington, DC: International Center for Research on Women.

Instituto Promundo, Salud y Género, Comunicacao em Sexualidade (ECOS), Instituto PAPAI, and World Education. 2009. *Working with Young Women: Empowerment, Rights and Health.* Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Instituto Promundo.

IPPF. 2004. Setting Standards for Youth Participation: Self Assessment Guide for Governance and Programmes. London: IPPF.

IPPF. 2008 Springboard: A hands-on guide to developing youth-friendly centers. London: IPPF.

Kirby, Douglas B., B.A. Laris, and Lori A. Rolleri. 2007. Sex and HIV Education Programs: Their Impact on Sexual Behaviors of Young People Throughout the World. *Journal of Adolescent Health.* 40: 206-17.

Kumar, Anuradha, Leila Hessini and Ellen M. H. Mitchell. 2009. Conceptualising abortion stigma. *Culture, Health and Sexuality.* 11 (6): 625-39.

Ngo-Metzger, Quyen, Gillian R. Hayes, Yunan Chen, Ralph Cygan and Craig F. Garfield. 2010. Improving communication between patients and providers using health information technology and other quality improvement strategies: Focus on low-income children. *Medical Care Research and Review.* 67 (5) Supplement: 246S-267S.

Participation Works. 2008. *Evaluating Participation Works: The Guide*. London: Participation Works.

Royal College of Pediatrics and Child Health. 2010. *Not Just a Phase, a Guide to the Participation of Children and Young People in Health Services.* London: Royal College of Pediatrics and Child Health.

Save the Children. 2003. *Partnership-Defined Quality: A tool book for community and health provider collaboration for quality improvement.* Westport, CT: Save the Children.

Save the Children. 2008. *Partnership-Defined Quality for Youth: A Process Manual for Improving Reproductive Health Services through Youth-Provider Collaboration*. Westport, CT: Save the Children.

Tayo, Oliver. 2002. "An Adult's Dilemma on Youth Participation." In *What Works in Youth Participation: Case Studies from around the World*, ed. Silvia Golombek, 14-5. Baltimore: International Youth Foundation.

UN. 1966. Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. New York: UN.

UN. 1989. Convention on the Rights of the Child. New York: UN.

YouthNet and Family Health International. 2005. Youth Participation Guide: Assessment, Planning and Implementation. Arlington, VA: Family Health International.

## MODULE 4 TOOLS

TOOL 4A: Building partnerships between young people and adults handout

TOOL 4B: Working with young people

TOOL 4C: How young people can partner in, lead and transform abortion care

TOOL 4D: Barriers to establishing successful partnerships with young people and how to overcome them

TOOL 4E: Evaluating partnerships with young people

# TOOL 4A: Building partnerships between young people and adults handout

## Definition

A partnership between adults and young people is a relationship in which both parties work together to address issues facing young people, or on programs meant to serve young people. It includes:

- Voluntary and meaningful participation
- Transfer of responsibility to young people

### Benefits

- Fulfilling rights and desires
- Learning and empowerment
- Improving communication about difficult topics
- Reducing barriers and improving health care

### Partnering in abortion care

Young people must be active participants in implementing, designing and establishing the partnership. A successful partnership is based on trust, respect and civic values, including health care as a right for young people, and puts young people's best interest first.

#### Young people can:

- Define and design more accessible and appropriate abortion care for young women
- Lead and contribute to service provision
- Evaluate quality of services and influence quality improvement efforts

Barriers to a successful partnership include:

- Tokenism young people are included in name only
- Negative attitudes from adults or young people
- Stereotyping of young people
- Institutions or communities that do not value young people's participation
- Stigma based on age, sexuality, gender and abortion

### Monitoring and Evaluation

Young people should be provided skills and support to participate in or lead monitoring and evaluation activities throughout the course of a project.

## TOOL 4B: Working with young people



## Objectives

By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Use case studies to identify the different levels of young people's participation in health-related activities.
- Explore the different ways young women can participate in abortion-related services and programs at the community and clinic levels.



## Materials

- Flipchart, markers, tape
- Ladder of Participation flipchart
- Handout 1: Ladder of Participation, enough copies for each participant
- Handout 2: Case studies, enough copies for each participant



## Time

10 minutes: Introduction
 20 minutes: Group work
 20 minutes: Large group discussion
 50 minutes total time



## Preparation

- Print copies of both handouts
- Draw Ladder of Participation on flipchart and label levels



## Instructions

- 1. Review the session objectives with the participants.
- 2. Ask participants to share the different ways they have worked with young people on sexual and reproductive health issues in their facilities and communities (not just as clients). Write their responses on the flipchart.
- 3. Ask them to identify additional ways they could work with young women to better meet their needs for abortion care. Write their responses on the flipchart.

- 4. Post the Ladder of Participation flipchart and give each participant a copy of the Ladder of Participation handout. Review the definition and examples for each rung of the ladder. Conclude the review by saying:
  - The ladder shows how manipulation, decoration and tokenism are levels of non-participation.
  - There are five levels of actual participation, in which young people have varying degrees of responsibility.
  - While in the "Ladder of Participation" these different levels are presented in a hierarchical relationship to one another, many youth groups recognize that one form of participation is not always preferable over another. Rather it is dependent on the overall goal of the partnership and young people's own thoughts about how they want to participate.
- 5. Compare the different rungs of the ladder to the examples participants gave earlier on how they have worked or could work with young people on sexual and reproductive health issues. Link some of their examples to the appropriate rungs on the ladder.
- 6. Ask participants to give a few more examples for each rung of the ladder. Provide additional examples as needed, and gently point out if a participant's example actually fits better in another rung.
- 7. Divide participants into groups of three or four. Provide each participant a copy of the Case studies handout. Inform participants they have 20 minutes to review the case studies and discuss and answer the questions. Ask each group to choose a presenter.
- 8. Ask participants to return to the large group. Review the first case study. Ask the group speaker to share their responses to the first case study. Continue with each case study, encouraging discussion after one of the groups has presented their responses.

**Note to facilitator:** Refer to the Answer key below during the large group discussion. If some responses differ from the answer key, discuss them with the larger group for input and feedback rather than insisting on one right answer.

- 9. After all case studies have been discussed, ask participants to share some of their ideas for working with young people at their facilities. Use the discussion questions on Handout 2 as a guide.
- 10. Review highlights of the discussions. End the activity by reminding participants that there is no one right answer or way to partner with young people, but that young people have a right and often a desire to participate in services meant for them.
  - Partnering with young people has many positive benefits for programs meant to serve them.
  - We want to explore different ways to improve how providers can work with young people to improve abortion service delivery and access for young women.
- 11. Solicit and discuss any outstanding questions, comments or concerns with participants. Thank the group for their participation.

## Handout 1: Ladder of Participation

Rung	Definition	Example
1: Manipulation (non- participation)	Young people are not informed or do not understand what they are being asked to do, or they are pressured into doing something that will benefit adults or adult- driven causes.	A young woman is convinced to have her photo taken but she is not informed that it will be used for a brochure about abortion care services for young women.
2: Decoration (non- participation)	This looks very much like manipulation but in this case young people might understand their actions. However, young people are just used to support the adult's cause in an indirect way.	A group of girls are given flags and told to wave them as the Minister of Health arrives to open a new women's health facility in their town.
3: Tokenism (non- participation)	Young people are included, but in fact have little voice about the subject or the style of communicating it and little or no opportunity to formulate their own opinions.	A small group of university-educated young people are invited to serve as advisors on a community health board, but they are not given support or responsibility to make decisions.
4: Assigned and informed	Young people understand the aim of the project, they know who made the decisions concerning their involvement and why, and they have a meaningful role.	A group of female students are given the specific task of conducting peer exit interviews at a local abortion clinic, but they are not allowed to change the questionnaires.
5: Consulted and informed	Adults design and run the project, but young people understand the process, are consulted and their opinions are treated seriously.	A girls' club is invited to help a local maternity ward improve their waiting area for young expecting mothers by giving input on the current space.
6: Adult- initiated, shared decisionmaking	Though the projects are initiated by adults, the decisionmaking is shared with young people. At this level, a youth-adult partnership can be implemented, but since the partnership would still be adult- initiated it is especially important to make sure that there is shared and equitable decisionmaking.	Community elders invite young women to serve on the community health advisory board. The young women are able to present ideas, influence decisionmaking and advocate for the board's recommendations with local health officials.
7: Youth-led decisionmaking	When the conditions are supportive, youth can work together to design and run their own projects. At this level, a youth-adult partnership can be implemented, but since adults only play a supportive role it may not be an equitable partnership. There is no shared decisionmaking. Rather decisionmaking lies solely with the young people. Sometimes this is more appropriate to achieve the desired goal.	Young women design an abortion hotline project and seek support from adults to start it. Adults work with the young women on the project but decisionmaking rests solely with the young people running the hotline.
8: Youth- initiated, shared decisionmaking	Young people ask adults to join in an activity they have initiated. At this level, a youth- adult partnership can be implemented.	Providers and a young women's group agree to improve abortion care services for young women. They define quality of care and create a service improvement plan together. The young women's club is involved in directing and implementing abortion care services for young women.

### Roger Hart's Ladder of Young People's Participation



Adapted from Hart, R. (1992). *Children's Participation from Tokenism to Citizenship*. Florence: UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre.

Activity adapted from: YouAct. 2007. Young People's Intercultural Dialogue on Sexuality, Politics and Human Rights: Report of the study session held by YouAct in co-operation with the European Youth Centre Budapest of the Council of Europe. Hilversum, The Netherlands: YouAct.

#### Handout 2: Case studies

The case studies in this tool are based on sexual and reproductive health-care projects that are not specifically about, but are relevant to, abortion care for young women.

#### Instructions:

Read the case studies.

Review and answer the following two questions after each case study:

- What level of participation do young people have in this case?
- What could be changed in this case to increase the level of participation or establish and improve a partnership with young people? How could the case include more "youth-initiated, shared decisions with adults"?

Use the discussion questions below to explore ways to increase youth participation at your facility or in your community.

- How do you currently support youth participation in your facility?
- How would you want to include young people in your work?
- What are the benefits and challenges of working with young people in delivering abortion care to young women in your setting?
- What roles would you want young people to play? What are possible roles for young women in increasing access to abortion-related services? At the facility? In the community?
- What initial steps can you take to make that happen?

#### Case study 1: Youth counselors providing HIV testing in Uganda

Two health-care clinics in an urban area in Uganda are adding youth-oriented HIV voluntary counseling and testing to their services. Because both clinics also serve adults, the adult facility managers make arrangements to establish small "youth corners." They also hire and train youth peer counselors to conduct community outreach and provide counseling. But the youth peer counselors are not asked to make recommendations for the "youth corners," or the outreach or counseling processes, only to implement them according to the set protocols. Despite achieving programmatic success in reaching and serving more young people, several youth peer counselors report that sometimes they feel lonely in their work and less confident about their skills compared to their adult colleagues. In addition, unlike their adult colleagues, the youth peer counselors are volunteers and have to secure permanent and paid employment.

Case study inspired by research conducted by: Horizons and Population Council. 2004. Attracting Youth to Voluntary Counseling and Testing Services in Uganda. Washington, DC: Population Council.

#### Case study 2: Youth peer providers delivering contraceptive services in Ecuador

In February 2008, the Planned Parenthood Federation of America and CEMOPLAF, an Ecuadorian reproductive health organization, launched an innovative adolescent project to address the particular reproductive health needs of rural, indigenous youth in the Chimborazo province of Ecuador. Ecuadorian young people are trained to become community health workers (youth peer providers), skilled in providing contraceptive counseling and methods to peers. All youth peer providers attend a four-part training, including an introduction to injections in general; training on Depo Provera in particular; and training in bio-safety procedures. They also learn about other contraceptive options. Youth peer providers then meet weekly at a central clinic location to discuss challenges and attend further trainings. CEMOPLAF provides lunch, transportation costs and job-skills training. This program is successful in meeting the needs of a particularly underserved and hard-to-reach group of youth.



*From:* Planned Parenthood Federation of America. Ecuador Country Program. http://www.plannedparenthood. org/about-us/international-program/ecuador-country-program-19002.htm

Personal communication with Planned Parenthood Federation of American staff.

#### Case study 3: Youth group participates in resource guide creation

A local nongovernmental organization (NGO) invites a youth group to help create a resource guide about contraception for young people in their community. The young men and women in the group are excited because they often visit this NGO to get more information about contraception. The girls in the group are invited to come to the NGO for a meeting. The 15 girls who come are divided into smaller groups and led into separate rooms. Someone comes in and takes pictures of some of the girls. They are then asked questions about abortion – how they feel about it and what type of services they want. A few are interviewed as individuals, in addition to participating in the focus groups. After an hour or so they are thanked for their time and led to the door. They do not hear back from the NGO again. The NGO creates a publication about abortion care services for young women and uses some of the pictures they took of the girls in the group.

#### Answer key for case studies

The following are the current levels of participation for each of the case studies.

Case study 1: Young people assigned and informed.

Case study 2: Young people assigned and informed, or Young people consulted and informed. (There is not sufficient information in the case study to make a clear distinction between these two rungs.)

#### Case study 3: Manipulation

The following are examples of how to improve each of the case studies. Other examples may be possible. Because the case studies are either accounts of or inspired by real programs, these examples may already be implemented by the organizations. They should therefore not be considered as advice or critiques of those organizations or programs.

#### Case study 1:

- Staff and youth peer counselors (or a local or community-based youth group) conduct a youth-led assessment to find out if HIV testing is the most needed and wanted service by local young people, what other services they would like, and if the two clinics are the most suitable venues in terms of accessibility.
- Young people from the local community select their own representatives to contribute to the design, implementation and monitoring of the HIV testing services.
- Youth peer counselors and local young people have an active role in designing the services, including the youth corner (or other alternative space), and the outreach and counseling activities, protocols and materials.
- Clinic staff provides improved skills-building and professional support and mentoring for the youth peer counselors.
- Youth peer counselors are (better) compensated or rewarded for their contributions.
- The two clinics create or maintain a system for considering young peer counselors' and local young people's opinions in decisionmaking processes.
- Systems are put in place to ensure prompt replacements of youth peer counselors who "age out."
- With support from adult community stakeholders, youth peer counselors and local young people establish their own youth group which offers youth-led HIV testing services, and create a referral system between the group and the clinics that is co-run by adults and young people.

#### Case study 2:

- Staff and youth peer providers conduct a youth-led assessment to find out the sexual and reproductive health and rights needs and wishes of local young people, particularly those who are underserved and hard-to-reach, and how the project can better meet those needs (for example: Are injections the most desired contraceptive method?).
- Youth peer providers and local young people define what success for the project looks like and design ways to monitor and evaluate progress. They also participate in or lead M&E processes, analyze the findings and make recommendations for improvements.
- More experienced youth peer providers help with new and refresher trainings.
- Youth peer providers are given additional skills-building and professional support and mentoring.
- Youth peer providers are financially compensated and receive professional development opportunities.
- CEMOPLAF creates or maintains a system for considering young people's opinions in decisionmaking processes.
- Youth peer providers and local young people establish their own youth groups with support from CEMOPLAF.

#### Case study 3:

- The youth group or young women receive sexual and reproductive health and rights information or classes from the NGO. They are encouraged to assess the needs and interests of their peers in this area, as well as give suggestions on how to make improvements.
- The youth group or young women are invited to participate in or lead the design, implementation, management and evaluation of the larger project which the resource guide is meant for.
- The youth group or young women decide if this type of resource guide will best meet the needs and interests of their peers, and make recommendation for possible alternative communication methods.
- The youth group or young women design or influence the creation of the resource guide and how it is used.
- The NGO staff explains the process for creating the resource guide and its intended use more honestly and clearly, and provides opportunities for each individual young woman to decide if and how she wants to contribute.
- The NGO respects, values and recognizes the young women's inputs, and does not use their statements or photos without informed consent.
- The NGO protects the privacy of the young women in the resource guide. Using the young women's pictures in a local publication about abortion may compromise their safety and should be cautioned against until a risk analysis has been completed and each individual young woman has provided informed consent to be featured in the publication.
- The youth group or young women review and edit the resource guide. The NGO accounts for how it is using the youth group or young women's inputs, and recognizes them.

## Tool 4C: How young people can partner in, lead and transform abortion care

Planning and design of abortion care	Delivery of abortion care	Evaluation of abortion care
Young people can define high- quality abortion care and how it should be provided to maximize access. Partnering with young people can help you establish: What abortion care for young women should look like. How and from whom young women want to hear about the availability of abortion care. How and from whom young women want to receive abortion care, including preferred service providers, and where and when young women prefer to access services. What barriers young women face in accessing abortion care, and how to overcome them. How young women want to contribute to the delivery and evaluation of abortion care.	Young people can be partners in service delivery, particularly if they have received training in sexual and reproductive health and rights. Partnering with young people can help you make abortion care more accessible to young women, and improve quality of care.	Young people can lead or support the evaluation of abortion care services. Partnering with young people can help you improve quality of care and better meet the needs of young women. It can help you find out: <i>How young women perceive the</i> <i>services offered at the facility (non- clients and clients).</i> <i>What young women think of the</i> <i>services they received (clients).</i> <i>How young women think the</i> <i>services could be improved to</i> <i>better meet their needs and desires.</i> <i>How young women want to</i> <i>contribute to or lead quality</i> <i>improvement efforts.</i>
Conduct and/or participate in interviews, focus groups, surveys and non-traditional forms of information gathering, analyze responses and make recommendations for or design services.	Conduct community outreach, information and education to increase awareness of services, including designing and leading non-traditional forms of outreach that may be more appropriate for youth.	Conduct and/or participate in client exit interviews, focus groups and surveys, analyze responses and make recommendations for quality improvement.
Lead and/or participate in clinic walkthroughs to assess service delivery gaps.	Provide or direct accompaniment, resources and social support before, during and/or after the abortion.	Implement non-traditional evaluation processes designed by and for young women.
Lead and/or participate in (youth) advisory councils or boards to make strategic recommendations and decisions, including resource allocation, with adults.	Provide services, which may include pre- and postabortion counseling, medical abortion, voluntary counseling and testing for HIV, postabortion contraception counseling and provision of select contraceptive methods, or work in facility management or administration.	Serve as a young clients' advocate within the facility or district.

TOOL 4D: Barriers to establishing successful partnerships with young people and how to overcome them

Barriers	Tips
Many adults hold <b>negative and stereotypical attitudes</b> about young people, sometimes without realizing it: "[The adults in the project] believed young people could not and should not be involved in decisionmaking." <sup>3</sup> Similarly, young people sometimes hold negative attitudes about adults.	<ul> <li>Engage young people with an open mind, even if they do not look or talk like you.<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Be aware of different communication styles. Different styles of communication do not necessarily imply disrespect, disinterest or different</li> </ul>
<b>Lack of youth-driven member selection:</b> Adults commonly select which young people to invite into a partnership, sometimes leading to the overrepresentation of youth with specific attributes, such as high education, and leaving out marginalized youth. <sup>3</sup>	<ul> <li>goals and expectations.<sup>2</sup></li> <li>Offer and attend cultural competency training for adults on how to interact and communicate with young people. Attend youth-led events.</li> <li>Don't assume all young people feel the same way. Just as adults, young people feel the same way. Just as adults, young people feel the same way. Just as adults.</li> </ul>
<b>Intergenerational power dynamics</b> can lead to inequity among adults and young people. "Pretending that all participants have equal say when they don't can deeply undermine participation." <sup>3</sup>	<ul> <li>Be patient and factor in time to build trust in the partnership. Until young participants trust adults, their level of participation may be compromised.</li> <li>Support the participation of young people from diverse backgrounds,</li> </ul>
Maintaining young members: Youth is a temporary stage in life and young people "age out." This can result in the partnership losing its young participants either because they leave or because they stay on but are no longer young.	<ul> <li>taking into consideration both age and gender disparities.</li> <li>Allow young people to elect their own representatives.</li> <li>Set realistic goals and reach agreement on the process, roles, responsibilities and ground rules of the partnership together.<sup>2,3</sup></li> </ul>
Young people may struggle with other commitments that affect their <b>ability</b> <b>to participate</b> . Often young people are only offered volunteer positions and must maintain competing engagements such as school or work. This can limit their contributions and availability.	<ul> <li>Build in mechanisms to mitigate inequities between participants.</li> <li>Build in processes for recruitment of and handover to new young participants as older ones "age out" by working with youth groups, not just individuals.</li> <li>Accommodate the needs of young participants; be flexible with schedules,</li> </ul>
Many adult-controlled spaces, such as businesses, health systems and professional organizations, do not value or adhere to a <b>culture of participation</b> , or are even prejudicial against participation. "If [an] organization is operating within an autocratic and traditional style of leadership then youth participation is not expected to flourish. It is hard to preach something one does not practice." <sup>7</sup>	<ul> <li>meeting times and venues and provide transportation when needed.</li> <li>Compromise is vital.<sup>4</sup></li> <li>Make it valuable for young people to participate in the partnership by offering rewards or compensation, which can include training or skills-building opportunities, certificates of participation or references and support to gain paid employment.</li> <li>Value participation as a successful process in itself.</li> </ul>

Mistaking <b>tokenism</b> for participation: Many young participants feel that while they are present in discussions, their opinions are not considered or implemented <sup>8</sup>	<u> </u>	Get commitment 1 institution, includi
Implemented." There may be cultural or social biases against partnering with young	<	See the partnership as a mutually beneficial relationship, and an opportunity to learn from young people. Avoid one-way communication within the partnership.
people. In some communities, the word partnership may not exist in the local language, and/or young people may not be valued enough to be participants. "Unless we adults develop a major paradigm shift in how we view children	<u>–</u> ۲	Encourage young participants to present solutions to problems, rather than just problems – they may present ideas you had not thought of. <sup>5</sup> Affirm their inputs.
and youth, it will be very difficult to create a conducive environment for young people to participate." <sup>7</sup>	<u>ح</u>	Share decisionmaking with young participants: "If youth have no power to make decisions, their participation is not one of partnership." <sup>2</sup>
In a partnership on abortion there may also be <b>barriers related to</b> addressing the issue of abortion. For example: liability or fears of liability,	ر	If there is no word for partnership in the local language, or a direct translation is not suitable, consider what partnership processes already take place in the community and build on those.
that this will "promote" or "encourage" sexual activity or abortion, as well as consent issues if the partnership includes research-based activities. <sup>9</sup>	<	Become familiar with the laws that control abortion care and information dissemination and how they are implemented locally. All partners should discuss the risks and benefits of moving ahead with the partnership and give their informed decision on whether to join or not.
	<	Raise awareness among influential community members on evidence that sexuality education does not "promote" or "encourage" sexual activity: "The evidence is strong that programs do not hasten or increase sexual behavior but, instead, some programs delay or decrease sexual behaviors or increase condom or contraceptive use. " <sup>6</sup>
	<	Get commitment for the partnership from community members, including individual consent from participating young people or third parties if this is mandated for minors.
<sup>1</sup> YouthNet and FHI 2005		
<sup>2</sup> YouthNet and FHI 2005 3IPPF 2004		
<sup>4</sup> YouthNet and FHI 2005		
5Balas 2003		
<sup>6</sup> Kirby et al. 2007		
<sup>7</sup> Tayo 2002		
<sup>8</sup> Bergdorf 2008		
- villa, Laura. 2010. Fersonal communication.		

# Tool 4E: Evaluating partnerships with young people

Below are some sample questions and indicators, by topic, that can inspire the design of your monitoring and evaluation (M&E). The questions can also be reworded as indicators against which you and youth partners can monitor progress together. Remember to involve young people throughout all stages of M&E: seek their input on processes, questions and indicators, and alternative ways to evaluate the partnership, which may be more appropriate for young people in your community. With skills and support, young people can also gather data, analyze it and make recommendations based on the findings.

### Recruitment and membership

- How do young people influence the recruitment process?
- How successful has recruitment for diverse young people been? By age? Gender? Etc.
- What system is in place to replace young people "aging out"? How well is it working?
- What is the number of young people who are paid staff, interns and volunteers (by position)?
- What is the number of young people who serve on decisionmaking groups (ratio of young people to adults)?

#### Processes

- What support do young people have to participate in the partnership fully?
- How can young people influence the partnership and their/your role in it?
- How have young people influenced decisionmaking?
- What would you do if you wanted to share an idea or concern about the partnership?
- Are all members treated with respect for their ideas and opinions? What are some examples of this?

#### Effectiveness

- How do you use the resources and creativity of all members to accomplish your goals?
- Do you think that decisions have been improved by including young people? Why?
- How satisfied are you with the progress the team is making? Is it matching your expectations?
- How many members of the partnership have attended skills-building events (ratio of young people to adults)?
- How could the partnership be improved in the future?

#### Impact

- Is it valuable for you to participate in this partnership? Why?
- What have you learned about working with young people?
- What new things have you learned about young people's sexual and reproductive health and rights?
- What new things have you learned about abortion?
- What is the most valuable thing you have learned? How will you use this in other aspects of your life?

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

The following questions are suggested for use with community members who have *not* participated directly in the partnership:

- Have you heard of (name of partnership or institution)?
- What do you know about what they do?
- What do you think about their work? Why?
- Has their work benefitted you directly in any way? How so?
- What benefits do you think their work has had on young women in your community?
- What benefits do you think their work has had on your community at large?
- What else should (name of partnership or institution) do in your community?

#### Impact indicators

- Number of youth-led events or initiatives the partnership has implemented
- Number of people reached with information about young people's sexual and reproductive health and rights and/or abortion
- Number of young women who have received postabortion care and safe abortion care
- Number of young women who asked for and received postabortion contraception
- Increased knowledge about sexual and reproductive health and rights and abortion among young women
- Increased ability to access sexual and reproductive health and rights services, including postabortion and/or abortion care, among young women
- Decreased mortality and morbidity from unsafe abortion among young women

#### Some questions come from, or have been inspired by:

Royal College of Pediatrics and Child Health. 2010. Not Just a Phase, a Guide to the Participation of Children and Young People in Health Services. London: Royal College of Pediatrics and Child Health.

YouthNet and Family Health International. 2005. Youth Participation Guide: Assessment, Planning and Implementation. Arlington, VA: Family Health International.

Save the Children 2003. Partnership-Defined Quality: A tool book for community and health provider collaboration for quality improvement. Westport, CT: Save the Children.

Save the Children 2008. Partnership-Defined Quality: A Process Manual for Improving Reproductive Health Services through Youth-Provider Collaboration. Westport, CT: Save the Children.


Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

## Module 5: Making abortion care accessible



Image by Ipas's African Youth Art contestant Seble Weldeamanuel Berga of Ethiopia.

## 5.1 Introduction

Safe abortion care consists of counseling, uterine evacuation, postabortion contraception and referrals for other sexual and reproductive health needs. As seen in Module 2, young women face many barriers to safe abortion care and evidence suggests that they have a harder time accessing safe abortion care than adult women (Finer et al. 2006, WHO et al. 2006). Because of this, access to safe abortion care for young women cannot be measured only in terms of availability of appropriate services. For the purposes of this toolkit, access is therefore defined as encompassing both service provision and the use of these services by young women. This module discusses how barriers to access can be addressed and provides further guidance on how abortion care can be made more accessible for young women.

## 5.2 Addressing social barriers

Cultural beliefs and norms about gender, age, sexuality and abortion are taught to community members from birth and reinforced on a daily basis, often in unspoken, unconscious ways. Because social barriers that young women face to access abortion care often originate in cultural beliefs and norms, they can be addressed through different community interventions. For example, community groups, community members, young women and health-care providers can:

- Conduct community outreach and education (for example: through media, drama
  or street theater, tea or coffee ceremonies, or sensitization and values clarification
  activities), which can make communities more open to talking about the issue of
  unsafe abortion, and young women's rights and needs.
- Provide information to community leaders, including religious leaders, on the impact of unsafe abortion on young women, as well as the barriers to care. Core religious texts are often not specific on the issue of abortion, leaving interpretation to religious leaders and individuals. Supportive religious leaders can facilitate conversations with their congregations in support of young women's access to life-saving care.
- Set up informal or formal social support networks that provide accompaniment, resources and anonymous support (Gayen and Raeside 2010).
- Show support for and participate in community-driven interventions on abortion care for young women.

In addition to community interventions, health systems and facilities can provide opportunities such as values clarification workshops for health-care providers and staff to examine preconceived notions of gender, age, sexuality and abortion. They may also use values clarification processes to select, hire and prepare providers and staff that are bestsuited to the provision of abortion care to young women.

## 5.3 Addressing economic and logistical barriers

Economic and logistical barriers, such as financial resources and transportation, also impede young women's access to abortion care.

- A lack of financial resources is one of the most common barriers for young people; lowering the cost of health-care treatment is the most direct way providers can help alleviate this barrier.
- Providers commonly have limited influence on the amount of resources that young women have access to or control in a community. However, they can employ young women in their clinics and advocate for economic gender equality (equal pay, for example) in their community.
- Transportation issues are, for the most part, not the responsibility of a health-care system or facility. However, health systems or facilities can run a shuttle, or ask the local government to implement public transportation routes.



- Communities can set up a transportation network linking young women to facilities with trained providers (Ahluwalia 2003).
- A community fund can help clients cover costs, including care and transportation.

## 5.4 Addressing legal and policy barriers

Until legal and policy barriers are addressed, young women's access to abortion care will remain compromised. Some examples of how stakeholders – community groups, community members, young women and health-care systems and providers – can address such barriers include:

- Know the current abortion law and which law takes precedence in the case of conflicting laws (such as laws on the rights of children). This can help identify what laws act as barriers for young women.
- Educate community members about the specifics of these laws.
- Ensure that facilities are providing abortion services to the full extent of the law.
- Seek to influence abortion laws when they are being discussed by the government, making suggestions to minimize the barriers for young women. Many stakeholders have the ability to influence laws and policies to facilitate the provision of safe abortion services to young women. Providers' professional associations can make recommendations to decrease barriers to abortion care for young people. For example, professional medical and public health organizations in the United States created a consensus document stating that young people should not be required to involve their parents in abortion decisions (American Academy of Pediatrics 1996).
- It should be facility policy to ask a woman's permission in private whether she would like to include a third-party in her counseling.

"...Minors should not be compelled or required to involve their parents in their decisions to obtain abortions, although they should be encouraged to discuss their pregnancies with their parents and other responsible adults. These conclusions result from objective analyses of current data, which indicate that legislation mandating parental involvement does not achieve the intended benefit of promoting family communication but does increase the risk of harm to the adolescent by delaying access to appropriate medical care. In this statement, the AAP reaffirms its position that the rights of adolescents to confidential care when considering abortion should be protected."– American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP)

- Be familiar with clinical standards, guidelines and facility-based protocols. This will help identify possible barriers to young women's access to abortion care.
- If clinical standards, guidelines and protocols do not exist, create them to clarify the cadre of provider who can provide abortion services, at which levels of the health system, and how services should be delivered. Facility-level protocols should also be developed to give clear guidance on how services are to be provided in that facility. These implementing documents should not add any restrictions to abortion services that are not in the law, and should spell out the legal indications clearly, including any particular allowances or requirements based on age.

- Remove barrier language in existing clinical standards and guidelines and protocols when it is not required by current law. For example:
  - If there is no provision in the law on third-party notification or consent, or proof or reporting of sexual violence based on age, no such steps should be required. Requiring third-party consent by a parent or family member suspected of abusing the young woman will put her at greater risk and may result in either forced or denied care.
  - For abortion in cases of gender-based violence, which young women are especially vulnerable to, it is important not to delay or require more paperwork or proof than the law explicitly requires. When possible, requiring the woman to talk about the rape more than once should be avoided. Sexual violence support services must be offered to women who need them.
  - Any protocol should use language that is broad enough to allow the possibility of a friend or family member – not only a parent – to accompany the young woman.
  - Documents should clearly indicate that abortion fees are not to be based on acceptance of contraceptive method or vaccinations, or any other coercion.
- Implementing documents should be actively disseminated to providers. Ideally, an orientation session should be given, as many providers are very busy and may not read the documents carefully without additional support.
- If a client, young or adult, seeks abortion care, providers should try to identify a legal means for them to get that service, such as a statutory rape provision, mental health provisions, and other legal indications for abortion that may be less commonly applied because of incomplete knowledge of the law. Abortion should be provided on the first visit, with no waiting period unless required by law. Otherwise, young clients may seek an unsafe abortion, or have an unwanted child who may be abandoned or abused (Panel on Research on Child Abuse and Neglect 1993).

## 5.5 Addressing health system barriers

This is the area in which health-care systems, facilities and providers can have the most direct effect on barriers to young women seeking abortion. Communities can encourage health systems and facilities to adopt the changes necessary to make appropriate abortion services more available to young women.

Lack of or unavailability of facilities providing abortion: The number and distribution of facilities that provide abortion care that meets the needs of young women interacts with other barriers such as abortion stigma, transportation and cost (see Module 2: Barriers to care). To alleviate this, individual providers can provide abortion care for young women in their private practice as well as at a public facility; facilities can opt to add abortion care for young women to the services offered; and systems can make strategic decisions to have abortion care for young women available at geographically optimal locations. To be most effective in addressing this barrier, young women should be included in the process of determining which locations are preferable.

Open hours should be as long as possible. Where 24-hour, 7-day-per-week services are not feasible, typical schedules affecting young women such as school or work hours should be taken into account when determining open hours. When possible, ask young women what hours would best suit their schedules. Engaging and soliciting input from young women can also be a way to raise awareness of services, and to foster broader partnerships with them. (See Module 4: Building partnerships between young people and adults.)

## **Medical abortion**

Medical abortion using mifepristone and misoprostol or misoprostol only has the potential to change many aspects of abortion care: who provides it, where it's provided and/or carried out, who has access, who approves – in short, who exerts control over the decision and implementation of care. Young women are among those who would most greatly benefit from medical abortion.

Medical abortion is safe and effective for most women, including young women. Because it can be offered in a range of settings, medical abortion expands access to safe abortion for young women. Some young women prefer medical abortion because it is less invasive and in some cases may give them a more confidential, affordable and accessible option.

Lack of privacy and confidentiality: Privacy is often one of the primary issues young people raise when surveyed about their concerns with health-care services (Anh et al. 2003). Health systems and facilities can provide privacy by building facilities with private rooms in an area separate from other services' waiting and recovery rooms, and providing toilets specifically for abortion clients and of sufficient number if medical abortion is being provided onsite. Facilities and providers must ensure auditory and visual privacy during counseling and procedures with minimal interruptions. Privacy issues can also include waiting times, when the client is visible to others. Short wait times are an indicator of service quality. Efforts should be made to minimize waiting times before services and between counseling, procedure and post-procedure steps.

Confidentiality for all clients, including young people, should be assured and enforced through policies and protocols. Facilities must take steps to ensure secure recordkeeping and discretion of providers and staff. For example, completed forms should not be left in easily visible places or insecure files.

*Processes and forms:* Facility processes should not include unnecessary return visits, and should be based on facility protocols that respond to the needs of young women (see 5.4 Addressing legal and policy barriers). Forms should be neutral in regards to marital status.

Facilities and health systems should clearly prioritize the provision of care to young women and ensure providers have guidelines and are supported in providing that care.

*Cost:* If cost of care is not within the control of an individual provider, it is often within the control of the health system or facility. Many systems and facilities provide services free of charge to clients who have little or no income, or who are minors. Prices may also be presented on a sliding scale, so that the cost of services is free or low for those with no income, and rises in proportion with income to some upper limit. Abortion service prices should never be dependent upon accepting a contraceptive method, as this is coercive. However, lowering costs should not be made to the detriment of the facility, which should recover costs through efficiency, allocating funds to provide services to poor or young people and perhaps by charging those who can afford it slightly more in order to subsidize those who cannot pay.

For young people especially, but also for all health-care clients, determination of income (also called "means testing") should be as private and non-invasive as possible. For example, if a client indicates they need free or sliding scale prices, some facilities merely ask the client to tick a box in a range of incomes. "How much income do you have access to?" may be a better question for young people as they may not fully control any income they make. In some facilities, clients speak to a representative in a room where they cannot be overheard, so that they can share more information without embarrassment.

Requiring documentation of poverty may be humiliating to a client, and will delay care if the client has not brought the necessary paperwork.

Negative attitudes of health policy makers, administrators, providers and workers about youth sexuality and abortion: Health systems and facilities should provide values clarification opportunities to all staff, not just providers (see Module 6: Counseling, contraception and clinical care for full description of values clarification). Refusal of services to eligible young clients should be explicitly identified as unacceptable, and clients should be encouraged to provide anonymous feedback on services as they leave the facility, perhaps as part of regular evaluation efforts (see Module 4: Building partnerships between young people and adults).

"the sweetest smile came from the receptionist of the abortion clinic... her smile was one of comfort and peace. i had been looking for that smile for what had seemed like forever. What had surrounded we were faces of doubt, judgment, and concern.... within her face, i found my refuge." - young woman, trinidad (youth coalition 2007)

In addition to values clarification, providers should practice framing statements about sexual and reproductive health in a positive way. This can help the young person feel that sexuality is a positive part of a healthy life, rather than the common health-care perspective of sexuality as solely a source of potential disease and injury to be delayed and controlled (see Tool 6C: Counseling skills).



### Successful strategies in restrictive settings

In settings where there are few legal indications for abortion, efforts to provide safe abortion services to young women can focus on these areas:

- **Provide comprehensive and accurate information.** (See Module 3 on young women's right to information.)
- Interpret current legal indications broadly when determining whether a young woman is eligible for abortion services.
- Draft standards and guidelines to implement those legal indications how care will be delivered, which cadres of health-care providers are authorized to perform elements of abortion, and what care can be provided at each level of the health system – and train and equip providers in accordance with them (see Tool 5C).
- **Provide life-saving abortion and postabortion care** to all women who need it, independent of age.
- **Ensure the availability of misoprostol,** and have information easily available on its safe use for medical abortion.
- **Research** the knowledge of legal indications and the magnitude of mortality and morbidity due to unsafe abortion and the restrictive law.
- **Educate** health system staff, providers and communities on the existing legal indications, the consequences of restrictive laws, and legal reform as a way to save young women's lives.
- Advocate for broader legal indications, specifying availability of services to young women.
- Where no other option is available, providers can take a **harm reduction approach**, giving confidential information about safe and unsafe methods (misoprostol being the safest method explained within the context of the consultation) and providing follow-up services for women who decide to use one of those methods.

Kenyan advocates recently revised the constitution to include broader indications for abortion services. While advocating for the revisions, the Medical Practitioners and Dentists Board provided clear guidelines for providing abortion care under the current indications.

The laws of Kenya do not allow for termination of pregnancy on demand and severe penalties are meted out to those found guilty of procuring or attempting to procure an abortion or miscarriage. **There is room, however, for carrying out termination when, in the opinion of attending doctors, it is necessary in the interest of the health of the mother or baby (emphasis ours).** In these circumstances, it is strongly advised that the practitioner consult with at least two senior and experienced colleagues, obtain their opinion in writing, and perform the operation openly in hospital if he considers himself competent to do so in the absence of a gynecologist. In all cases of illegal termination of pregnancies, the sentences shall be suspension or erasure.

### 5.6 Additional resources

Alford, Sue. 2009. Best practices for youth friendly clinical services. Washington, DC: Advocates for Youth. Available online at http://www.advocatesforyouth.org/index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id=1347&Itemid=336

Bornstein, Kate. 1998. My Gender Workbook: How to become a real man, a real woman, the real you, or something else entirely. New York: Routledge Press.

De Bruyn, Maria and Sarah Packer. May 2004. *Adolescents, unwanted pregnancy and abortion. Policies, counseling and clinical care.* Chapel Hill: Ipas.. Available online at: http://www.ipas.org/Publications/Adolescents\_unwanted\_pregnancy\_abortion\_Policies\_counseling\_clinical\_care.aspx

EngenderHealth. 2002. Community COPE: Building partnership with the community to improve health services. New York: EngenderHealth. Available online at: http://www.k4health.org/toolkits/communitybasedfp/community\_mobilization/community-cope

Family Health Internationl/YouthNet. Faith-Based Family Life Education (FLE) Curricula. Family Health International. http://www.fhi.org/en/Youth/YouthNet/Publications/FLE/ index.htm

Hainsworth Gwyn, Carolyn Boyce and Ellen Israel. 2008. Assessment of youth-friendly postabortion care services: A global tool for assessing and improving postabortion care for youth. Watertown, MA: Pathfinder International. Available online at http://www.pathfind.org/site/DocServer/YFPAC\_assessment\_tool.pdf?docID=13121

Huber, Amanda and Karen Otsea. 2004. Safe Abortion Standards and Guidelines Toolkit. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Unpublished. Can be requested by emailing training@ ipas.org.

Ipas. 2010. The evidence speaks for itself: Ten facts about abortion. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Available online at: http://www.ipas.org/Publications/The\_evidence\_speaks\_for\_itself\_Ten\_facts\_about\_abortion.aspx

McSmith, Deborah, Evelina Börjesson, Laura Villa and Katherine L. Turner. 2011. *Exploring abortion: A collection of self-reflection and sensitization activities for global audiences*. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

PATH. 2003. Ensuring privacy and confidentiality in reproductive health services: A training module and guide. Washington DC. Available online at http://www.path.org/files/RH\_ensuring\_privacy.pdf.

Turner, Katherine L. and Kimberly Chapman Page. 2008. Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audiences. Chapel Hill, NC: lpas. See in particular, "Activities adapted for young women and abortion." Available online at http://www.ipas.org/Publications/Abortion\_attitude\_transformation\_A\_values\_clarification\_toolkit\_for\_global\_audiences.aspx



## 5.7 References

Ahluwalia, I.B., T. Schmid, M. Kouletio and O. Kanenda. 2003. An evaluation of a community-based approach to safe motherhood in northwestern Tanzania. *International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 82 (2): 231-40.

American Academy of Pediatrics. 1996. The adolescent's right to confidential care when considering abortion. *Pediatrics*. 97 (5): 746-51.

Anh, Hoang Tu, Vu Song Ha, Tran Hung Minh, Pham Vu Thien, Nguyen Thu Phuong, and Nguyen Anh Dung. 2003. *Exploratory study on youth-friendly services in selected Reproductive Health Projects-supported provinces.* Hanoi, Vietnam: Reproductive Health Projects.

Finer, Lawrence B., Lori F. Frohwirth, Lindsay A. Dauphinee, Susheela Singh and Ann M. Moore. 2006. Timing of steps and reasons for delays in obtaining abortions in the United States. *Contraception*, 74 (4): 334-44.

Gayen, Kaberi and Robert Raeside. 2010. Social networks and contraception practice of women in rural Bangladesh. *Social Science and Medicine*, 71 (9): 1584-92.

Panel on Research on Child Abuse and Neglect, Commission on Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education, National Research Council. 1993. *Understanding Child Abuse and Neglect.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

World Health Organization, Commonwealth Medical Association Trust and UNICEF. 2006. *Orientation Programme on Adolescent Health for Health-care Providers.* Geneva: World Health Organization.

The Youth Coalition. 2007. International Youth Perspectives on Abortion: A Collection of Essays, Poems and Drawings. Ottawa: The Youth Coalition.

## MODULE 5 TOOLS

TOOL 5A: Making abortion care accessible handout

TOOL 5B: Addressing barriers to care

TOOL 5C: Service readiness assessment questions for providing abortion care to young women

TOOL 5D: Improving abortion standards and guidelines for young women

TOOL 5E: Improving abortion access for young women

## TOOL 5A: Making abortion care accessible handout

## Addressing social barriers

- Conduct community outreach and education
- Provide information to community leaders
- Set up informal or formal social support networks
- Show support for and participate in community-driven interventions
- Values clarification workshops for health-care providers and staff

## Addressing economic and logistical barriers

- Lower the cost of abortion care
- Employ young women and advocate for economic gender equality
- Request public transport routes, or facilities can run a shuttle
- Create community-run transportation network
- Use a community fund to assist in covering costs

## Addressing legal and policy barriers

- Be familiar with current abortion law, and clinical standards, guidelines and protocols. If possible, be part of their development in order to minimize barriers.
- Educate community about the specifics of the laws.
- \* Ensure that facilities provide abortion services to the full extent of the law.
- Help professional associations make recommendations to decrease barriers.
- Create good clinical standards and guidelines if they do not exist, and remove barrier language in those that do exist.
- Disseminate those implementing documents to providers.
- Strive to identify legal indications for any client who seeks abortion care.

## Addressing health system barriers

#### Unavailability of facilities

- Provide abortion care for young women in geographically optimal locations.
- Make open hours as long as possible.
- Ensure that medical abortion medications are available locally and provide them.

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

#### Lack of privacy and confidentiality

- When possible, provide private rooms and separate toilets for abortion clients.
- Ensure auditory and visual privacy during counseling and procedures.
- Enforce confidentiality for all clients, including young people.
- Secure records and train providers and staff to be discreet.

#### Processes and forms

• Use neutral forms and do not require unnecessary return visits. Facilities and health systems should clarify their commitment to serving young women.

#### Cost

• Charge on a sliding scale based on access to funds, determined in private without documentation.

#### Negative attitudes

- Facilitate values clarification opportunities for all staff.
- Frame statements about sexual and reproductive health positively.

#### Restrictive settings

- Interpret legal indications broadly.
- Educate stakeholders on the existing legal indications and draft standards and guidelines to implement them.
- Ensure the availability of misoprostol.
- Take a harm reduction approach.



## TOOL 5B: Addressing barriers to care



## Objectives

By the end of the session the participants will be able to:

- Summarize challenges that young women face in accessing abortion care
- Identify different strategies to address those challenges
- Explore how to involve young people in addressing the challenges



- Flipchart, markers, tape
- Handout, Case studies
- Flipchart, Case studies discussion questions



Time

5 minutes: Introduction – Identifying the challenges

20 minutes: Case studies

20 minutes: Presentations and wrap-up

45 minutes total time



## Preparation

- Write the case studies discussion questions on a flipchart.
- Make copies of the Case studies handout, enough for each participant.



- 1. Review the session objectives with the participants.
- 2. Ask the participants to identify challenges that young women may face when accessing abortion care. List them on a flipchart. If the group has already completed Tool 2B, Barriers to care, summarize the answers recorded on flipcharts during that activity instead.

Note to facilitator: Responses should include social barriers (such as stigma and resistance from the community), economic and logistical barriers, legal and policy barriers, and health system barriers (such as negative provider attitudes, concerns about privacy and confidentiality and appropriate training for staff).

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

- 3. Divide the participants into at least six small groups of three or four participants. Depending on the total group size you may need to create more than six small groups.
- 4. Inform small groups that they will each review a case study describing a challenge young women or providers may encounter, or have encountered, related to abortion care, and prepare a strategy to address it.
- 5. Give each participant a copy of the Case studies handout. Assign each group a different case study. More than one group may work on the same case study depending on the number of small groups.
- 6. Post the flipchart with the Case study discussion questions and review them. Instruct groups to first read the case study, then brainstorm ideas and record answers to the discussion questions. Inform groups that they have 20 minutes to complete the task.
- 7. After 20 minutes, ask the participants to join the larger group. Ask a representative from each group to read aloud their case study and present the strategy the group created to address the challenge. If more than one group reports on the same case study, ask them to report only on the different ways they addressed the issue.
- 8. On a flipchart, record the solutions provided. Compare how different groups addressed similar issues.
- 9. Ask participants to identify any common elements that appear in the strategies, and elements that might be lacking, such as strong partnerships with young people.
- 10. Process the activity by using the following questions to facilitate discussion:
  - How did it feel to create a strategy that addresses some of the challenges that young women face accessing abortion care?
  - What, if any, were challenges that your group faced in creating that strategy?
  - Do you think you face any of these challenges in your community? If so, how would these strategies be applicable there?
  - What steps will you take when you get to your facility to address these challenges?
- 11. Close the activity by highlighting key points made by participants, and reminding them that:

Each facility is different – in the challenges they encounter and in the strategies they implement. But working with others at the facility and community levels, particularly young women in the community, is critical to properly identify the problem and choose the most viable strategy to address it.

12. Ask participants if they have any questions about the activity. Thank them for their participation.

## Case studies handout

#### Case study 1: Community resistance (social barriers)

Parents and religious leaders in the community are not happy that their primary level clinic offers abortion care services, especially to young women. They feel the clinic is promoting promiscuity, teaching the girls to hide things from their family, and going against the teachings of the church. Many young women are admitted to the clinic with complications from unsafe abortion, but few come for safe abortion care.

#### Case study 2: Cost and transportation (economic and logistical barriers)

A district hospital serves a large rural area. Not many young women come to the hospital for abortion services and when they do they usually don't have enough money to cover the cost of the service and transportation back home. They usually come alone and need to return home, a trip that takes several hours, the same day they come for the abortion.

#### Case study 3: Consent law (legal and policy barriers)

A private clinic recently started implementing the new national consent law for young women below the age of 17 who are seeking abortion care. They need to have either a parent's consent or a judicial bypass to receive the procedure. Since the clinic started implementing the new policy the number of young women who come for abortion care has reduced by half, but the number of postabortion care cases has dramatically increased.

#### Case study 4: Privacy and confidentiality (health system barriers)

Many young women are not coming to the facility for abortion services because they are afraid that they will see someone they know while they are there, or that one of the people working in the facility will tell their family or someone who knows them.

#### Case study 5: Negative provider attitudes (health system barriers)

When a young woman comes to a public health clinic in her town, the receptionist loudly repeats that the young woman is here for an abortion, asks her age twice, and then shakes her head. She then asks the young woman to pay a fee which is more than advertised. When the young woman meets the provider, he asks her age and then asks where her husband is and if he knows she is getting an abortion. He denies her request for an abortion without telling her why.

#### Case study 6: Low service use among young women (multiple or all barriers)

A tertiary referral hospital is not receiving the expected number of young women for abortion care. Yet research from the facility catchment area shows that unsafe abortion is very common among young women and several deaths from complications have been recorded.

## Case studies discussion questions flipchart

1. What are the challenge(s) identified in the case study?

2. What possible strategies exist to address the challenge(s)?

3. How could you determine which is the best strategy to implement? How would you involve young people?

4. Which do you think is the best strategy?

5. What would be the key steps you would take to implement the strategy? How would you involve young people?

6. How do you think health officers and/or facility administrators would react to the proposed strategy?

# TOOL 5C: Service readiness assessment questions for providing abortion care to young women

This tool outlines sample questions to assess a facility's readiness to provide abortion care services for young women. While the tool is intended to provide guidance on useful service readiness assessment questions, we recommend reviewing, selecting and adapting questions with local young women to ensure that their actual needs and desires for high quality abortion care are met most effectively.

#### Is the facility offering rights-based abortion care for young women?

1. Does the facility have written policies or protocols that affirm young women's rights to sexual and reproductive health-care information and services? Privacy and confidentiality? Independent decisionmaking in accordance with individual capacity?

#### Is the facility offering participatory abortion care for young women?

- 2. Are young women involved in service delivery in any other way than as clients? How?
- 3. Did young women participate or partner in the design of services? How?
- 4. Do young women participate or partner in service provision? How?
- 5. Do young women participate or partner in evaluation of services? How?
- 6. Does a partnership with young people or youth groups exist?

#### Is the facility making abortion care services accessible to young women?

#### Facility environment

Note – not all questions may be applicable to your facility. Choose questions based on what local young women have indicated they would like available.

- 7. Is the facility accessible via public transportation?
- 8. Do opening hours extend outside of typical school and work hours?
- 9. Is there a separate entrance for young women?
- 10. Do key areas of the facility provide both visual and auditory privacy?
  - a. reception and waiting room
  - b. counseling room
  - c. examination and procedure room
  - d. recovery room and bathrooms/toilet facilities
- 11. Can young women be seen without an appointment?
- 12. Does scheduling allow for the possibility of longer counseling time when needed?
- 13. Are medical records secure and never left easily visible to other clients or staff not directly involved in the client's care?

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

#### Policies

- 14. Do clinical standards and protocols for abortion care for young women exist, and if so have they been distributed to and are they known by providers?
- 15. Do facility policies or protocols require additional reporting on, or apply restrictions to, abortion care for young women not present in the law? (A "yes" answer to this question indicates an issue to be addressed.)

#### Education and information

- 16. Does the facility conduct or support community outreach and education about young women's sexual and reproductive rights, including the issue of unsafe abortion?
- 17. Does the facility have any client materials or handouts about abortion that are designed by and for young women?

#### Payment

18. Do payment options (sliding scale, free, other) exist for low-income young women?

#### Staff preparedness

- 19. Have all staff members received at least an orientation on serving young women?
- 20. Have all staff members attended a values clarification workshop on providing abortion care to young women?
- 21. Can young women be seen by a female provider if requested?
- 22. Do peer educators/counselors exist to help young women or accompany them throughout the service if requested?

#### Referrals and other health services

- 23. Are referrals made for any services not provided at the facility?
- 24. Are those referrals made as part of official referral agreements between institutions and/or are there processes to ensure client follow-up?
- 25. Are other health-care services provided during the same visit if needed?

#### Is the facility offering abortion care that is clinically appropriate to young women?

- 26. Are providers trained to counsel young women on sexuality, sexual and reproductive health, and abortion care?
- 27. Are providers trained in the clinical specifics of providing abortion care for young women?
- 28. Are providers prepared to alleviate young women's pain, keeping in mind that young women may experience more anxiety or have a lower pain tolerance than adult women?

Is the facility recording abortion care service statistics for young women? (In places which restrict access to abortion below a certain age, facilities may decide not to do this if not required by law.)

- 29. Does a logbook/register exist for abortion services, which includes client age?
- 30. Is the facility recording, and disaggregating data by age for:
  - a. Number of clients asking for safe abortion in the last year
  - b. Number of clients receiving safe abortion in the last year
  - c. Number of clients seeking postabortion care in the last year
  - d. Number of clients receiving postabortion care in the last year



- e. Percentage of postabortion clients likely to have had induced abortion (based on provider's informed opinion this data should not to be considered conclusive)
- f. Percentage of clients asking for postabortion contraception in the last year (by method if possible)
- g. Percentage of clients receiving postabortion contraception in the last year (by method if possible)
- h. Number and type of unsafe abortion complications seen in the facility in the last year

If disaggregation by age is not possible, estimate the most affected age groups, by question:

Age group	Estimated proportion (percentage)
10 – 14 years	
15 – 19 years	
20 – 24 years	
25 – 30 years	
31 years and above	

#### Adapted from:

Hainsworth Gwyn, Carolyn Boyce and Ellen Israel. 2008. Assessment of youth-friendly postabortion care services: A global tool for assessing and improving postabortion care for youth. Watertown, MA: Pathfinder International.

Osur, Joachim. 2010. *Ipas service delivery point assessment tool for initiation of abortion related services*. Kenya: Ipas Africa Alliance. Unpublished.

Senderowitz, Judith, Gwyn Hainsworth and Cathy Solter. 2002. *Clinic assessment of youth-friendly services*. Watertown, MA: Pathfinder International.

## TOOL 5D: Improving abortion standards and guidelines for young women

Creating and disseminating evidence-based standards and guidelines for legal abortion services helps to ensure that such services are safe and accessible. Yet in many countries, where an abortion would otherwise be legal, young women are often blocked from seeking and obtaining safe services by involvement laws for minors (McCulloch 2010). All standards and guidelines must address the needs and fulfill the rights of young women.

The questions below can help evaluate how appropriate existing standards and guidelines are for young women. They can also be useful when drafting new standards and guidelines to ensure that barriers for young women are not included. Sample language is given for each question where appropriate, often drawn from existing standards and guidelines. "Yes" to each of these questions is characteristic of good standards and guidelines.

1. Do they protect confidentiality of individual clients independent of age or majority status? Service statistics can and should be gathered, and disaggregated by age, but data that identifies an individual should not.

"All service providers involved in providing abortion services, taking all reasonable precautions, must keep the information confidential."

2. Do they require privacy for both the counseling and clinical services independent of the client's age or majority status?

"Each patient must have a private opportunity to discuss issues and concerns about her abortion, and be provided services in an area with at least visual, and preferably auditory, privacy."

3. Do they address potential negative attitudes of providers and facility staff?

"The national health system shall provide values clarification workshops for all providers and staff involved in providing abortion care. 'Conscientious objection' to the provision of abortion is allowed only insofar as the provider ensures an immediate successful referral to a provider willing to perform the abortion. Providers found to have refused abortion care to three or more patients who subsequently did not receive abortion care may be censured by the Ministry of Health, up to and including the loss of their medical license."

4. Do they acknowledge that violence and coercion are often related to abortion, and seek to meet the needs of those who have experienced it?

"Termination of pregnancy by a recognized medical institution within the period permitted by the profession is not punishable where the pregnancy is the result of rape or incest."

5. Does the facility provide referrals when necessary?

"A well-functioning referral system is vital to providing safe and high-quality abortion services. All health personnel involved in the care of the woman have an ethical responsibility to direct her to appropriate services at any time. Referral arrangements enable women to access routine care and prompt treatment for complications.

- Refer a woman if the type of care that she needs is beyond the capacity of your institution.
- Clearly state her condition at the time of referral, what was done, and the reason for referral on the referral paper.
- Alert the receiving health facility, particularly if the woman is suffering from complications and needs immediate care, transportation, care during transport, including accompanying health personnel, and/ or free services, as appropriate.
- The referral center should provide feedback to the referring center on the type of complication, the care provided, the outcome of the treatment, and the plan for subsequent care.
- Inform victims of rape about legal and psychological support and refer as needed.

- All women referred to the next level are entitled to care without any precondition.
- Referral arrangements for social support and care are an integral part of overall abortion care."
- 6. Do they seek to ensure that the client is not being coerced to have an abortion?

"Standard 3: Facilities should ensure that adolescents and youths make informed and free decisions without coercion from interested parties.

Guidelines:

- 1. Ensure respect of autonomy in decisionmaking without third-party authorization.
- 2. Ensure that the adolescent is adequately counseled.
- 3. Providers should act in good faith in the interest of the minor and this may involve leaving out parental or guardian consent."
- 7. Do they codify only evidence-based practices?

"Based on research that has shown third-party involvement requirements for minors do not result in increased communication with parents and other adults, and has negative consequences on the health of the minor, no third-party involvement is required, nor may be required within the authority of this document."

8. Do they avoid any restrictions or requirements as to age or majority status (such as third-party involvement for women below the age of majority), marital status, or proof of rape unless required by law?

"Consent:

- 1. The termination of a pregnancy may only take place with the informed consent of the pregnant woman.
- 2. Notwithstanding any other law or the common law, no consent other than that of the pregnant woman shall be required for the termination of a pregnancy.
- 3. In the case of a pregnant minor, a medical practitioner or a registered midwife or registered nurse, as the case may be, shall advise such minor to consult with her parents, guardian, family members or friends before the pregnancy is terminated: Provided that the termination of the pregnancy shall not be denied because such minor chooses not to consult them."
- 9. If ability to consent to an abortion procedure is legally restricted by age or capacity, are the applicable laws and source documents included, as well as the legal definition of a medical procedure, and mechanisms for proxy consent (by parents, next of kin, any adult, legal bypass, medical provider discretion, etc.) described? Are the mechanisms as easy and rapid to use as possible, given the law?
- 10. If ability to consent to an abortion procedure is legally restricted by the concept of evolving capacities (rather than or in addition to age), do they affirm the broadest possible interpretation of capacity? For example, the "principle of capability"?
- 11. If third-party involvement is required by law, do they avoid adding additional processes or restrictions?
- 12. If third-party involvement is required by law, do they affirm the woman's rights to consent to the abortion service (in addition to proxy consent by the third-party), and independent decisionmaking and consent for all other related services, for which third-party consent is not required by law (for example postabortion contraception)?

"Third-party is notified only of the provision of abortion services. The minor will also provide her own consent to the abortion service to ensure it is her free will to have such procedure. All other services provided in the course of care and their results – counseling, contraception, testing, referrals, etc. – are the sole provenance of the minor."

13. If third-party involvement is required by law, are there exceptions in cases where the young woman's life or health is endangered or she has experienced incest?

"If a criminal charge of incest is pending against a parent of such minor, or if it is determined by a licensed

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

physician that carrying the pregnancy to term would put the minor's life or health at serious risk, the written consent of such parent or other third-party is not required."

14. Do they avoid requiring any waiting period unless required by law, independent of the client's age or majority status?

"A woman must undergo the abortion as quickly as possible in accordance with good medical practice. This precludes requiring medically-unnecessary waiting periods."

- 15. Do they otherwise avoid making the process of getting abortion services more difficult or slower than the law requires?
- 16. Do they specify that postabortion contraception counseling and a range of methods should be offered to, but not required of, all clients?

"Information about contraceptives must be offered to all women during counseling, and methods provided during the postabortion recovery period if selected by the woman."

17. Do they state that the provision of abortion services, and the fee for such services, is not tied to the client's acceptance of other care such as contraceptives or vaccinations?

Below are some examples of barriers that may exist for young women or women below the age of majority in abortion standards and guidelines.

- 1. Demanding proof of age if it is not required by law.
- 2. Mandating third-party involvement for women below the age of majority if it is not required by law.
- 3. Standardizing written third-party consent forms if only verbal consent is required by law.
- 4. Requiring third-party consent by more than one adult if only one adult is required to give consent by law.
- 5. Accepting third-party consent only by the nearest relative if any adult can give consent by law.
- 6. Mandating waiting periods for women below the age of majority if they are not required by law.

If they address consent for young women or women below the age of majority, standards and guidelines should adopt language on evolving capacities, modeled in the Convention on the Rights of the Child and other applicable regional laws (McCulloch 2010). They should take the broadest interpretation of applicable national and local laws. Providing detailed recommended language for standards and guidelines requires knowledge of such national and local laws and practices. It should be done in collaboration with local stakeholders, including those who can most effectively represent different young women's interests and rights.

#### Adapted from:

Huber, Amanda and Karen Otsea. 2004. "Checklist for creating and implementing standards of safe abortion care" and "10 Steps to Developing Standards and Guidelines for Safe Abortion Care." In *Safe Abortion Standards and Guidelines Toolkit*. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Unpublished.

McCulloch, Lauren. 2010. Legal Frameworks of Medical Consent: Girl's and Adolescent Women's Access to Legal Abortion Care. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Unpublished.

National Abortion Federation. 2010. 2010 Clinical Policy Guidelines. Washington, DC: National Abortion Federation.

Republic of South Africa. 2008. Choice on Termination of Pregnancy Amendment Act, 2008. Cape Town: Republic of South Africa.

Government of the Republic of Zambia, Ministry of Health. 2009. *Standards and Guidelines for reducing unsafe abortion morbidity and mortality in Zambia*. Lusaka: Government of the Republic of Zambia.



## TOOL 5E: Improving abortion access for young women



## Objectives

By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Explore the different health system barriers that young women may encounter when seeking an abortion.
- Develop strategies to improve access to abortion care and service delivery for young women.
- Identify the ways providers may individually influence a young woman's abortion experience both negatively and positively.



- Flipchart, markers, tape
- Role play instructions handout
- Partnership defined quality flipchart
- Optional: Tool 4C, How young people can partner in, lead and transform abortion care



25 minutes: Introduction and facility mapping

35 minutes: Role plays (4 scenarios)

15 minutes: Discussion and partnership defined quality

1 hour 15 minutes total time



## Preparation

- Print copies of the Role play instructions handout, enough for each small group
- Write up Partnership defined quality on a flipchart
- Optional: Print copies of Tool 4C, enough for each participant



- 1. Review the session objectives.
- 2. Divide participants into small groups of no more than five participants per group. Assign each group a facility level: primary clinic, secondary-level hospital, or tertiary teaching hospital. You may have more than one small group per facility level depending on the total number of participants.

**Note to facilitator:** If you know what type of facilities the different participants work in, you can divide them accordingly and assign them the type of facility they are most familiar with.

- 3. Give each group flipchart papers and markers. Ask each group to draw a young woman to the left on one flipchart and then draw an image of a "typical" facility that offers abortion services at the level they were assigned on the same flipchart, next to the young woman.
- 4. Ask participants to think through and list the different elements of service delivery that the young woman would go through if she were to have an abortion at the facility, using the same flipchart or a new one if needed. Allow 5 minutes for this task.
- 5. Ask the groups to discuss and write down the potential barriers or challenges that the young woman might encounter at each step in the service delivery process. Allow 10 minutes for this discussion.
- 6. Ask the groups to share their flipcharts and briefly summarize what they discussed.

**Note to facilitator:** The elements, or steps, in the service delivery process should include the following: waiting and intake, counseling, preparation, abortion procedure, recovery and postabortion counseling.

The barriers may include: lack of trained providers and unavailable services, lack of privacy and confidentiality, processes and forms, cost, and negative attitudes among providers and other facility staff.

- 7. Inform participants that they will continue exploring the young woman's experiences through role play. Tell them that the different steps of service delivery will become four role plays: a) Waiting and intake, b) Counseling, c) Preparation and abortion procedure, d) Recovery and postabortion counseling.
- 8. Let the small groups pick which one of the four steps they wish to prepare and enact, making sure all steps are picked at least once. Ensure participants that no one has to act in the role play unless they want to, but everyone should help prepare one.
- 9. Give each small group one or a few copies of the Role play instructions handout. Ask them to review the instructions and prepare the role plays. Tell the small groups they have 10 minutes to do this.
- 10. Invite one of the small groups that prepared a) Waiting and intake, to enact their negative scenario.
- 11. At the end of the negative scenario, invite participants to comment on what they saw:
  - What problems did the young woman encounter?
  - What was the young woman's response to the different problems?
  - How could we turn these negative experiences into positive ones for the young woman?
- 12. Ask the participants who were in the role play how it felt to play each of their roles:
  - How did it feel to play the young woman who needs an abortion but does not get any support?
  - How did it feel to be a provider or individual who caused the young woman to have a negative experience?
- 13. Invite the same group to enact their positive version of the scenario.

- 14. At the end of the positive scenario invite participants to comment on what they saw:
  - How did the characters transform this experience into a positive one for the young woman?
- 15. Ask the participants who were in the role play how it felt to play each of their roles:
  - How did it feel to play the young woman who needs an abortion and gets support?
  - How did it feel to be a provider or individual that contributed to a positive experience?
  - What feels different for you between the two scenarios? Why do you think that is?
- 16. Repeat instructions # 11 16 for the remaining three steps: b) Counseling, c) Preparation and abortion procedure, and d) Recovery and postabortion counseling.

**Note to facilitator:** Depending on the role play and the group, you may want to ask participants to re-enact the positive scenario again, trying to get an even more positive experience. Encourage participants to think of outcomes where the young woman is empowered or takes power to change the scenario, not just the facility staff.

- 17. After all four steps have been enacted with both negative and positive scenarios, ask the participants to reflect on the role plays. You may wish to use the following questions to facilitate the discussion.
  - What did you learn from the scenarios about young women's experiences with abortion?
  - What different factors made the experience more positive for the young woman?
  - What does it take to transform young women's negative experiences into positive ones? At the individual level? At the facility level? At the health system level?
  - What did you learn from the scenarios about people's individual capacity and responsibility to ensure that young women have positive experiences with abortion?

Record some of the answers on a flipchart.

- 18. Remind participants that even well-intended processes to improve abortion care and service delivery for young women can fail if young women themselves are not involved. You may wish to say:
  - Even well-intended processes to improve abortion care and service delivery for young women can fail if young women themselves are not involved. Young women can share experiences and perspectives with providers that providers do not have. (See Module 4: Building partnerships between young people and adults).
  - Service delivery improvements have a better impact if they are achieved through collaborative efforts with the people they are intended to serve in this case, young women. We therefore encourage going through some of these processes together with young women in your community.
- 19. Post and review the Partnership defined quality flipchart.

**Note to facilitator:** You may also wish to refer participants to Module 4: Building partnerships between young people and adults, and hand all participants copies of Tool 4C: How young people can partner in, lead and transform abortion care.

20. Highlight key points from the discussion and summarize by saying the following:

• Providers can serve as supporters of young women who need and want safe abortion care. Improving accessibility and service delivery will lead to more positive experiences for young women in need of abortion care, and help save their lives and improve their health.

## Role play instructions handout

By enacting a scenario, first with negative outcomes and then again with positive outcomes, participants will explore how to improve access to safe abortion care for young women at the facility level. The exercise will also show participants how changes to individual behaviors can lead to more positive experiences for young women. In preparation, participants have 10 minutes to:

- 1. Select one scenario from the list below.
- 2. Prepare a brief two to four minute role play for that scenario which has a negative outcome. You may wish to use some of the health system barriers you identified earlier in this session.
- 3. Prepare a brief two to four minute role play for the same scenario, but with a positive outcome.
- 4. Assign participants the character they will play. Playing a character is voluntary.
- 5. If time allows, you may practice either or both scenarios.

#### List of Scenarios

- A. Waiting and intake
- B. Counseling
- C. Preparation and abortion procedure
- D. Recovery and postabortion counseling

#### Example

Scenario: Recovery and postabortion counseling

Roles: Young unmarried woman, recovery room nurse, counselor

*Negative experience:* The young woman is resting in the recovery room but is worried that she is bleeding too much and she feels a little nauseous. She calls across the room that she needs to use the bathroom. The recovery room nurse yells at her to quiet down and stop fussing, and says "loose girls like you should not complain when kind doctors are helping you." After ignoring her for a while the recovery room nurse tells the young woman she can go see the counselor. The counselor informs the young woman that since she needed an abortion she also needs contraceptives and prescribes birth control pills without engaging the young woman.

*Positive experience:* The young woman is resting in the recovery room but is worried that she is bleeding too much and she feels a little nauseous. She calls across the room that she needs to use the bathroom. The recovery room nurse asks her to be quiet in order not to disturb the other women and helps her to the bathroom. After ensuring that she is okay, the recovery nurse lets the young woman go to the counselor. The counselor is kind and respectful towards the young woman. They discuss contraceptive options. The young woman says she wants to prevent another pregnancy but does not want birth control pills because she is afraid of the side effects. They agree on a different method.



## Partnership defined quality flipchart

Partnership defined quality:

- Is a method to increase the quality and accessibility of health-care services for young people.
- Recognizes that young people are critical participants in processes to improve health-care services for them.
- Is collaborative and based on partnerships between health-care professionals and providers, and young people.
- Requires commitment from all stakeholders including young people.
- Includes four steps:
  - Building support
  - Exploring quality
  - Bridging the gap
  - Working in partnership

Note to facilitator: The four steps of Partnership defined quality for youth include:

*Building support:* Presents the process and obtains commitment for participation from key groups in the community, including young people (and their parents), community leaders, and health system professionals and providers.

*Exploring quality:* Creates an understanding of different perspectives of quality among young people and health-care providers. During this step meetings are held separately with young people, community members and health workers to explore their ideas in an open and safe environment.

*Bridging the gap:* Brings together health-care professionals and providers, and young people in a workshop to hear each other's' ideas. Through discussion they begin to work as a team to develop a shared vision of quality, and establish a "quality improvement team."

*Working in partnership:* Determines root causes and identifies solutions for achieving the desired level of quality. The group also establishes indicators to monitor progress.

See Partnership Defined Quality for Youth (PDQ-Y) in Module 4.





## Module 6: Making abortion care clinically appropriate



Image used with permission of Youth Coalition for Sexual and Reproductive Rights © 2007. Special thanks to the participants of the 2007 National Safe Abortion Advocacy Workshop in Ecuador.

## 6.1 Introduction

This module provides guidance for providers and others involved in service delivery on abortion counseling, and contraceptive and clinical care that is appropriate for young women. Physically, young women's clinical needs are mostly similar to those of adult women; however, their life and social circumstances are often very different, requiring care tailored to their unique circumstances, especially concerning counseling and provider attitudes.

Although more research is needed to examine clinical differences in abortion care for young versus older women in order to make evidence-based recommendations, the primary differences mostly relate to counseling and provider attitudes. For general guidance on how to provide abortion counseling, contraceptive and clinical care, please consult Ipas's *Woman-Centered Abortion Care: Reference and Trainer's Manuals* (available on the CD-ROM and at www.ipas.org).

## 6.2 Provider attitudes

Providers hold a range of attitudes – both conscious and unconscious – about young people's sexuality, which can have a significant impact on the content and quality of abortion-related care for young women. Abortion values clarification and attitude transformation (VCAT) workshops are recommended for all providers and staff who interact with young abortion clients. The abortion VCAT approach recognizes that values affecting attitudes and beliefs about abortion and related issues can change over time in response to new experiences and a deeper understanding of the issues and context. The goal of an abortion VCAT workshop is for participants to explore, question, clarify and affirm their values and beliefs about abortion and related sexual and reproductive health, such that their awareness and comfort with the provision of comprehensive, womancentered abortion care is increased (Turner and Page 2008). Abortion VCAT is a particularly important process for providers preparing to offer abortion care that is appropriate for and respectful to young women. See *Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audiences*, in particular "Activities adapted for young women and abortion," included on the CD-ROM.

Individual providers can mitigate the impact of social barriers and help young people get the care they need by providing health care in an environment in which preconceived notions of gender, age, sexuality and abortion have been thoughtfully examined, and by recognizing and respecting that young women have a right to life and health, to accurate information and the highest attainable standard of health care. Providers should make a conscious effort to keep personal beliefs from limiting their ability to give the best care possible to young women.

## 6.3 Options counseling

When a young woman requests an abortion, she is likely to have carefully considered her options and decisions prior to seeking care. However, young women may want more information on which to base their decision. For the purpose of informed consent, it is important that counselors review the woman's medical condition and the basic options available to her: to continue the pregnancy to term and then parent or release the child for adoption; or to terminate the pregnancy. Young women should be allowed to make a free, informed decision and that decision should be respected. Providers are more likely to respect a decision with which they agree (Dickens and Cook 2005), but it is important for providers to respect a young woman's decision even if they do not agree with it. If information is requested, providers should make sure that a young pregnant woman understands all of her options, help her examine how her decision will affect her and the people important to her and support her decisions.

If a third-party may be involved in the counseling, providers should ask the client in private first if she wants to involve the third-party in her decisionmaking. If she says yes, but appears nervous, they can help her decide how to discuss her feelings with the third-party.

If she says no, her decision to not include the third-party should be accepted (de Bruyn and Packer 2004). If the young woman must, by law, notify or get consent from a thirdparty, and she is not eligible for any exemption or alternative, providers should explain this obligation and offer to help her talk to the third-party (Fischer et al. 2007).

Decisionmaking on abortion often takes place mostly outside the clinic setting (Lee 2004), and a young woman may be particularly susceptible to adults' influence, especially from a partner or someone who has power over her (Bailey et al. 2004, Brown et al. forthcoming). These adults may have internalized negative stereotypes about teen pregnancy and young women's ability to be responsible, which may strongly influence the young woman's decision to terminate a pregnancy (Brady et al. 2008). Providers should ask questions to ensure that she has not been pressured or coerced by anyone, including a partner, family, community or friends, to make her decision. To make sure that her decision is fully hers:

- Meet alone with the woman first to have a private conversation free from other people's influence.
- Ask her to carefully explain her decision, paying attention to any personal views or desires she expresses.
- Listen for language that can indicate other people's influence in her decisionmaking, such as "my boyfriend thinks I should..." or "my mother wants me to..."
- She may factor in other people's views and desires, but she needs to be clear that her own life will be most directly affected by her decision and that the decision is hers to make.



Particularly in settings where abortion is legally restricted, young women need to know that safe abortion is a legitimate health-care service and be referred to medically sound health-care providers and facilities. Once the young woman has made a decision, providers should be prepared to provide abortion care or antenatal care if the client chooses to carry the pregnancy to term, including information and referrals on parenting support, financial assistance, childcare, adoption, prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV/AIDS and other topics related to maternal health (de Bruyn and Packer 2004).

"it is seen as 'you're too young' ... and when they're told - like the girl i was meeting with earlier this week - 'you can't even keep your room tidy, how do you think you'll cope with a baby?' ..., it was a very strong voice saying that was what she ought to do."

- counselor (lorady et al. 2008)

### 6.4 Abortion counseling

#### "listen to me, no one else, listen to me. it's my body, listen to me: it's my life, listen to me." - young person, united kingdom (participation works 2008)

Stigma around young women's sexuality, consent laws and policies, and cultural and social conditioning by parents create particular challenges in counseling. Providers who want to offer high-quality counseling should be aware of these particular needs, and also recognize their own underlying attitudes toward young women's sexuality which may negatively affect service provision. When possible, young women should be offered counseling from a youth peer counselor or from a support person of their choice (see Module 4: Building partnerships between young people and adults). In addition, we advise care and respect in asking and then referring to people as they prefer to be identified, regardless of their physiology.

A counselor who works effectively with young people:

- Has the ability to build rapport with young women and earn their trust;
- Respects their different life circumstances;
- Has excellent communication skills;
- Understands that young people sometimes communicate differently than adults;
- Has accurate knowledge of sexual and reproductive health and local guidelines, laws and cultural beliefs (Fischer et al. 2007).

Providers should be especially sensitive to the following:

*Respect:* All health-care clients should be treated with respect. Providers should treat young women with the respect they would give a peer, regardless of age, gender or any other consideration. A young woman's questions, concerns and opinions about her health and health care are valid. By providing a clinic environment in which young women feel comfortable talking about their aspirations and concerns, providers will support open communication. Providers should also be aware that the young woman may have experienced mistreatment or abuse by previous health-care providers and this may cause her to distrust or fear providers. A woman's experience can have a profound influence on her future care-seeking behavior and that of other women she talks to. When different treatment options are available, for uterine evacuation and pain management methods for example, providers should respect the young woman's informed decision about the treatment she prefers.



A nurse in Kenya was observed by a visiting doctor to berate a 16 year-old STI patient into tears. "I can see you think I am being a bit hard," she said. "That's how it is with these up-country girls who have no morals. I have to scare them — and it works." When asked how she knows it works, she replied, "Because they never come back!" (WHO 2002)

*Interaction and communication:* The first action a provider should take in an abortion counseling session is to affirm the positive step the young woman has taken by seeking care.

During one-on-one interactions with young women, providers should:

- Provide all relevant information on the implications of each treatment option and help the woman choose the one best suited to her needs, respond to questions fully and honestly, and respect her decision even if it is not the choice the provider wanted her to make. This is likely to increase adherence to treatment.
- Avoid lecturing or scolding.
- Pause and think before doing or saying anything that seems to come from a feeling of anger or judgment. This includes body language.
- Use positive, open body language by facing her, removing any physical barriers such as a desk, leaning slightly forward, making appropriate eye contact, and nodding.
- Provide information as neutrally but warmly as possible and listen to what the young woman asks and wants. Young people may never have been asked their opinions and may not know how to articulate them well. Providers should give the woman opportunities to express what she already knows and her opinions, through leading questions if necessary, before providing more information.
- Provide an environment in which both the provider and the young woman feel comfortable discussing sexuality. If possible (and true), providers should try to normalize the conversation by saying "I have treated a number of young women with the same concern you have."
- Use the third person where possible, as young people may feel more comfortable answering indirect questions. For example, not "Do you smoke cigarettes?" but "Do any of your friends smoke?" and then, if the answer is yes, asking "Have you ever joined them?" and then following with questions about frequency.
- When possible, provide picture-based and printed information in the woman's language if she wants it, in addition to telling her.
- Young people may use different words for various terms than the ones providers use. Providers should ask the young woman what words she uses, and ask what they mean if the provider doesn't understand those words. The provider should then explain the meaning of common medical terms such as vagina, vulva, sexual intercourse, abortion, and then use those words during counseling (de Bruyn and France 2001).

(De Bruyn and Packer 2004, WHO 2010a)

*Confidentiality:* Providers' explanation and enforcement of confidentiality are crucial elements of appropriate care for young women. Providers should begin each counseling and consultation session by reassuring the young woman that all of the information exchanged and care she receives are confidential and will not be shared without her permission. Administrators and providers need to have strong confidentiality policies and uphold them so young women feel secure seeking services, knowing their privacy will be respected. Rather than focusing only on the infrequent circumstances under which they

may be obligated to breach confidentiality, providers should clearly state their professional commitment to maintain confidentiality. Otherwise the young woman may focus only on the fact that providers can breach confidentiality; this can increase stress and fear of others learning their private information. It is useful to explain to the young woman how staff protects confidentiality in the facility.

*Educating versus counseling:* Providers should be aware that they are often seen as authority figures. Young women may be intimidated and afraid to ask for more information, options, or additional services; or may accept the provider's recommendations even if these make them uncomfortable. Providers should explicitly encourage young women to ask questions, and solicit the woman's opinion before making any suggestions (EngenderHealth and ICW 2006); this includes encouraging the young woman to voice her desires and think about possible solutions to her health-care needs, rather than only asking her to talk about her problems. To ensure that the young woman understands the information being provided, providers should ask questions that will enable them to determine any gaps in comprehension. However, providers should not ask "Do you understand?" as young women may be embarrassed to admit if they do not (Fischer et al. 2007).

Counseling is a structured interaction in which a person voluntarily receives emotional support and guidance from a trained person in an environment that is conducive to openly sharing thoughts, feelings and perceptions.

Counseling is...

- Soliciting the person's feelings and thoughts
- Accepting the person's perceptions and feelings, regardless of societal norms
- Respecting the person's privacy and confidentiality
- Focusing on the person's not the counselor's needs and concerns
- Communicating effectively
- Supporting the person in making her own decision and acting on it
- Providing information and helping the person apply that information to meet her needs and desires

Counseling is not...

- Only or mainly informing
- Giving advice
- Trying to influence the person's attitudes, beliefs and behaviors by persuading, admonishing, threatening or compelling (Herrick et al. 2004)

Length of time and presentation: Young women may have had little opportunity to learn about sexual and reproductive health, and so may need more information than many adult women. They may also not know how to ask for information, or feel uncomfortable asking for it. Young women may require that the same information be provided more than once, perhaps in different ways. They may also be uncomfortable talking about topics related to sex and sexuality and require careful rapport-building. These differences are likely to make the counseling session longer than those with older women (de Bruyn and Packer 2004, Fischer et al. 2007).

Sexuality: Young women may have little to no knowledge about sexuality. Understanding their own sexuality can give young women a solid base from which to make informed decisions about sexual activity; conversely, young women who are uninformed, misinformed, confused, embarrassed or ashamed may act in ways that detract from their health and well-being. The counseling session is an opportunity for providers to introduce and discuss sex, gender, healthy sexuality and adolescence with young women in an appropriate and respectful manner that encourages two-way dialogue and mutual learning. This may be a young woman's only opportunity to have such a conversation. Providers should present any information as positively and naturally as possible, though like many people, they may have their own biases and discomforts around sexuality.

*Risks versus benefits:* Providers should give complete information about possible complications and side effects in an objective manner, as they may be the woman's only source of accurate information; omitting information betrays the woman's trust (Fischer et al. 2007). The provider can then help her weigh the potential risks against the benefits she has identified to help her make an informed decision. It may be helpful to compare the risks of a safe abortion or a given contraceptive method to carrying a pregnancy to term or other non-reproductive health medical procedures. Young women may also have difficulty imagining the level of pain associated with the abortion or complications, compared with heavy periods or childbirth, so providers need to give other examples for comparison. Most facilities have standard language on the risks and benefits of a medical procedure as part of the informed consent process and forms.

*Countering misinformation:* A young woman may fear that an abortion will harm her, based on misinformation from adults or peers, or anti-choice campaigns and messages, which providers should be prepared to counteract. Young women may also fear that this pregnancy is their only chance to bear a child, because of stories they have heard about the unpredictability of fertility. Providers should be aware of this and be able to answer any concerns about safety accurately and completely. Men are also often targets of anti-choice campaigns (Blustain 2008, Ipas 2009a); the people who accompany young women may therefore have questions or fears as well.

## "i'm probably going to be very worried... it feels like i am going to be anxious... i feel terrified."

## - young woman, sweden, speaking about her planned induced abortion (halldén et al. 2005)

*Referrals:* Because of the barriers they face in accessing health-care services, young women may use services less than adult women. The provider should seize the opportunity to provide or refer for any other health-related information and services young women may need. These can include services related to age-appropriate physical and psychosocial development, physical and sexual abuse, substance abuse, nutritional status, vision, STIs and tuberculosis (Ministry of Health, Ethiopia 2008). Providers should know where to refer young women for services that cannot be provided at their facility, and make sure that the referrals are made to knowledgeable providers who serve young women with respect (Fischer et al. 2007).

## 6.5 Postabortion contraceptive counseling and methods

Young women's contraceptive needs vary greatly. A young married woman with one child who wants to avoid having a second may have different considerations than a young woman with more casual sexual relationships and who may be at higher risk for STIs, including HIV. Women at high risk for HIV should consider using condoms with another contraceptive method (often called "dual protection") to reduce the risk of exposure to HIV while also having a contraceptive with higher efficacy rates than condoms have in practical usage. Women being treated for HIV need information on contraceptive options in relation to their treatment regimens. Some young women may want to become pregnant immediately and not require contraception. When providing contraceptive counseling and services, it is important to ask rather than assume what the young woman's immediate and longer-term reproductive plans are and structure the discussion to match. Contraceptive counseling should also include information on fertility awareness, by asking what the client knows about her menstrual cycle and fertility and building on that to educate her about the fertile and infertile points in her cycle, or that they are erratic if her cycle is irregular. A young woman's privacy needs can also influence her selection of contraceptive method; for example, injectables may suit a young woman with high privacy needs, even if her preferred method might otherwise be something else.

Providers must bear in mind that different women experience different levels of side effects with the same contraceptive method. All reported side effects should be taken seriously by the provider, even if they are not health-threatening. It is helpful to differentiate side effects from complications and assure clients that side effects are fully reversible (Ministry of Health, Ethiopia 2008). Clients experiencing persistent, undesirable side effects should be counseled and provided better, alternative methods.

As with abortion, young women may have concerns about the safety or efficacy of contraceptive methods, which may be based on misinformation. They may not know how pregnancy occurs or is prevented. For example, they may have heard that pregnancy won't occur if they have intercourse in certain positions, in water or during menstruation. Young Nigerian women have low levels of contraceptive use and relatively high frequency of unsafe abortion, resulting in many abortion-related complications, including infertility. A qualitative study has shown that this is because many young women believe that contraception will cause future permanent infertility (Otoide et al. 2001). Because of misinformation like this, it is important that providers explain how a contraceptive works, including efficacy, potential side effects such as weight gain or breast tenderness and their incidence, and the long-term clinical implications of any such side effects. Providers can ask indirect questions such as "What are some things your friends say about how you can and can't get pregnant?" and "What are some things you heard about this method?" to find out whether a young woman is misinformed. Contraceptive counseling should be reality-based, that is, should begin by uncovering and addressing what clients believe, whether or not it is accurate, in order to avoid the method's discontinuation. Providers should also learn from the young woman what barriers she may face in using different contraceptive methods and help the young woman identify the most appropriate option for her.

#### "a lot of my friends, we discuss options for birth control, but i am not a doctor, i am not a worse. We need someone to talk to us... someone who is educated to give us better answers with respect." - young woman, united states (california bitinas for reproductive justice 2010)

Making a larger range of contraceptive methods available is correlated with increased acceptance of a method, among young and adult women (McDougall et al. 2009, WHO 2010a). In addition to her method of choice, the young woman should be offered to leave the facility with at least one dose of emergency contraception (EC), in case of accident or


contraceptive failure. In a survey of 2,560 Scottish women aged 16-29 who were given advance supplies of EC, eighty-four percent of those surveyed reported that it was good in some or all circumstances (Ziebland et al. 2005). Perceived benefits included: convenience; quicker use, with resultant greater efficacy; reductions in physician time; reductions in the embarrassment and stigma of obtaining EC from general practitioners or family planning clinics; the option of sharing supplies with friends; and the comfort of "knowing it's there" if the need arises.

# Terminology: Contraception versus family planning

The term "contraception" is used in this toolkit rather than "family planning." While the term "family planning" is more culturally acceptable in some settings, most young women receiving contraceptive services are simply trying to avoid getting pregnant as opposed to planning a family. Using the term "contraception" helps remind counselors not to make assumptions about women's reproductive intentions.

Younger women, particularly if they are unmarried, are likely to seek contraception to prevent pregnancy rather than space births (the implication of the term "family planning"). This may also be true of adult and married women, but is more likely for young women. However, "family planning" may be the more culturally acceptable term for some contraceptive services.

Clinical eligibility guidelines for postabortion contraceptives for young women are the same as for adult women. Three methods have implications for young women that bear additional discussion: sterilization, intrauterine devices (IUDs) and injectables.

#### Sterilization

There is no clinical contraindication for sterilization in young women (WHO 2010b). However, women under the age of 30 are significantly more likely to experience regret after sterilization (Curtis et al. 2006, WHO 2010b). During counseling, providers should emphasize that it is a permanent method, and make it clear that there is no extra benefit to doing the procedure at the time of the abortion versus using a non-permanent method for some time to be sure it is the method she wants. There may be laws and policies in place that affect a minor's ability to consent to permanent surgical modification and whether sterilization is an option for minors. Providers should offer information in a factual manner and support the young woman's informed decision.

#### Long-acting contraceptive methods

Young women have a higher failure rate than adult women for combined oral contraceptive pills (Dinerman et al. 1995, O'Dell et al. 1998, Templeman et al. 2000), and long-term contraceptives that do not require daily administration seem to be more effective in preventing subsequent pregnancies (Roberts et al. 2010, Stevens-Simon et al. 2001, Tolaymat and Kaunitz 2007).

*Intrauterine devices (IUDs):* Young women are medically eligible to use IUDs. There are no clinical contraindications based on age alone (WHO 2010b). IUDs are less likely to be selected by young women than by older women in some countries, as found by Roberts et al. and supported by Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) data from several countries including Honduras, Burkina Faso and Cambodia (INSD and ORC Macro 2004, National Institute of Public Health et al. 2006, Roberts et al. 2010, Secretaría de Salud [Honduras]

137

et al. 2006). It is unclear whether this is in part due to providers' reluctance to offer IUDs to young women or young women's reluctance after being given accurate, unbiased information on the method. However, a study in New Zealand found that women who did leave with an IUD in place were 70 percent less likely to return for an abortion in the next three years than those who left with combined oral contraceptive pills (Roberts et al. 2010). Providers should give this information to women but not push them to accept an IUD if the young women are not interested in doing so.

*Injectables:* Injectables include progestin-only and estrogen and progestin ("combined") formulas, including Depo-Provera (DMPA) and Mesigyna and Norigynon (NET-EN). In the same New Zealand study, DMPA was associated with a 40 percent decrease in likelihood of returning for abortion, compared to combined oral contraceptive pills (Roberts et al. 2010).

There has been some concern that DMPA may permanently decrease bone mineral density (BMD) in young women, as it does temporarily decrease BMD and adolescents have not yet attained their peak bone mass. A study specifically on adolescent women found that all of them had complete recovery of BMD within 12 months of discontinuation, and length of use of DMPA did not affect this recovery (Scholes et al. 2005). However, WHO's latest recommendations on medical eligibility for contraceptives states that most studies have found that women regain BMD after discontinuing DMPA but that it is unclear whether use in young women will affect peak bone mass, and thus list it as a category 2 method ("generally use the method" – in comparison, category 1 means "use method in any circumstances") for women under 18 (WHO 2010b).

### 6.6 Clinical care

Clinical provision of abortion care for young women is generally the same as for adult women. Specific questions can be directed to clinicalaffairs@ipas.org. A few clinical differences should be considered.

#### First pelvic exam

It is possible that this will be a young woman's first pelvic exam, and she may be nervous or afraid. As for all physical examinations, ensure that there is at least visual and preferably auditory privacy – that is, ensure that she is not visible to anyone besides the provider and any assistant, and preferably that their conversation cannot be overheard by anyone else. Explain what will be done and why, let her see the speculum if she wants to, and allow her to keep on clothes that do not have to be removed for the examination (leave on shirt or pull up dress). Do not begin to examine her until receiving her consent, even if an adult has legally consented on her behalf (WHO 2010a). Do not leave her undressed in an examination room for longer than a few minutes. If possible in that setting, offer to have a female health worker, or a relative, friend or partner, stand near her and talk to and support her during the pelvic examination if the young woman wants it.

When the pelvic examination begins, ask permission before touching her with a hand or speculum. Touch her leg first, then her labia. As you insert the speculum, ask her to bear down and take slow, deep breaths; have her continue to breathe deeply throughout the examination. Explain what you are doing at each step, and provide her with a mirror to see her vagina and cervix if she wants to. Take care to perform the examination as gently and smoothly as possible to minimize discomfort and anxiety (Ministry of Health, Ethiopia 2008). This can be especially important, as a young woman's impression of her first gynecological experience may influence future health-care seeking behavior.



#### Vacuum aspiration

Although no studies have been done on the subject, providers may find that a young, particularly nulliparous, woman's cervix may be more difficult to dilate than that of an older woman and thus may require a slower dilation process. This can be accomplished either by starting with a smaller dilator than is required by women with one or more children, or by priming the cervix with misoprostol. The latter may be clinical protocol for all uterine evacuations in some facilities. Anesthesia dosages remain the same as for older women.

"i was scared. there are four people in the room with you: the doctor, the wurse, the needle man, and some other woman. i was so nervous. oloviously i had sex but having your stuff wide open and three people staring at it - that's just uncomfortable... i was so scared." - young woman, united states (exhale 2006)

"the worse who held my hand during the abortion saved me from going into a full-blown panic. Wiping the sweat off my face and looking me directly in my eyes, she told me that i would be all right and that there was nothing for me to be ashamed of. she also told me that there is a time and place for everything, and that includes children. When the procedure was over, she helped me off the table, cleaned me up, and walked me to a recovery room and introduced me to the women there." - young woman, unites states (exhale 2007)

#### Medical abortion

Medical abortion has been proven to be safe, effective and acceptable for young women, as for adult women. Dosage regimens are the same as for older women. Efficacy rates remain at 83-98 percent overall (Carbonell et al. 2001, Creinin et al.1999, Ipas 2009b, Phelps et al. 2001), and medical abortion has actually been shown in two studies to be slightly more effective for women experiencing their first pregnancy than for subsequent ones (Chien et al. 2009, LeFebvre et al. 2008). In studies from Cuba, South Africa, Australia and the United States, most young women who chose medical abortion reported high or very high levels of satisfaction with the method (Carbonell et al. 2001, Creinin et al. 1999, Ladha 2010, Mamers et al. 1997, Phelps et al. 2001, Velazco et al. 2000) and 92 percent of the adolescents in the Cuba studies would recommend the method to a friend (Carbonell et al. 2001, Velazco et al. 2000). Young women, like adult women, often opt for medical abortion because they perceive it to be safer and more natural than aspiration abortion (Creinin et al. 1999, Gold and Coupey 1998, Harvey et al. 2001).

139

# Medical abortion and perception of pain in young women

Research indicates that young women's experiences with medical abortion are similar to those of older women. However, in studies from Cuba, the United States and the United Kingdom, pain perception appears to be related to age: The perception of pain and use of analgesia has been found to be higher in younger women than older women (Hamoda et al. 2004, Ingham and Lee 2008, Velazco et al. 2000, Westhoff et al. 2000a and 2000b). Lower parity has also been associated with more perceived pain and/or analgesia need in Finland, the United States, the United Kingdom, and in countries included in the WHO multinational study (Bartley et al. 2000, Hamoda et al. 2004, Honkanen et al. 2004, Suhonen et al. 2003, Teal et al. 2007, Westhoff et al. 2000a, Westhoff et al. 2000b). Age is not a contraindication for medical abortion, but providers who are aware that young women may be more sensitive to pain can take the necessary measures to improve a young women's abortion experience.

#### Follow-up

Young women may prefer different approaches to follow-up due to access to and comfort level with communication technology as well as social factors. A recent study suggests that where text messaging is common, it is worth exploring as an effective follow-up medium. Young women who were prescribed oral contraceptives and received daily educational text messages had higher continuation rates at six months than did those who did not receive daily educational texts (Castaño et al. 2010). Facilities may want to try innovative methods for follow-up with young women.

# 6.7 Additional resources

Herrick, Jeannine, Katherine Turner, Teresa McInerney and Laura Castleman. 2004. *Woman-centered postabortion care: Reference manual.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Hyman, Alyson G. and Laura Castleman. 2005. *Woman-centered abortion care: Reference manual.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Available on the CD-ROM and at http:// www.ipas.org/Publications/Woman-centered\_abortion\_care\_Reference\_manual.aspx

Hyman, Alyson G., Teresa McInerney and Katherine Turner. 2005. *Woman-centered abortion care: Trainer's manual*. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Available on the CD-ROM and at http://www.ipas.org/Publications/Woman-centered\_abortion\_care\_Trainers\_manual. aspx

Turner, Katherine L. and Kimberly Chapman Page. 2008. *Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audiences.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Available on the CD-ROM and at http://www.ipas.org/Publications/Abortion\_attitude\_transformation\_A\_values\_clarification\_toolkit\_for\_global\_audiences.aspx

Turner, Katherine, Teresa McInerney and Jeannine Herrick. 2004. *Woman-centered postabortion care: Trainer's manual.* Chapel Hill, NC, USA, Ipas.

#### Misinformation examples

American Life League. Abortion. American Life League. http://www.all.org/nav/index/ heading/OQ/cat/MzQ/

Campaign Life Coalition. Harm to Women. Campaign Life Coalition. http://www.campaignlifecoalition.com/index.php?p=Harm\_to\_Women

Heritage House. 2005. Abortion as your option. AbortionFacts.com. http://abortionfacts.com/literature/literature\_904AO.asp

#### Responses to misinformation

Ipas. 2010. The evidence speaks for itself: Ten facts about abortion. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas. Available online at: http://www.ipas.org/Publications/The\_evidence\_speaks\_for\_itself\_Ten\_facts\_about\_abortion.aspx

#### First pelvic exam information examples

Planned Parenthood Federation of America. Pelvic Exam. Planned Parenthood Federation of America. http://www.plannedparenthood.org/health-topics/womenshealth/pelvic-exam-4306.htm

CYWH Staff at Children's Hospital Boston. Your First Pelvic Exam. Centre for Young Women's Health. http://www.youngwomenshealth.org/pelvicinfo.html

#### Materials for those accompanying and supporting young women

Emily Louise Barcklow D'Amica, and Jessica Reyes Sánchez. 2010. Young Women and their experiences with Abortion: A guide for Activists. Mexico: DECIDIR Coalición de Jóvenes por la Ciudadanía Sexual.

Exhale. For Significant Others. Exhale. http://www.4exhale.org/others.php

Hope Clinic for Women. For Men. Hope Clinic for Women. http://hopeclinic.com/ formen.html

Hope Clinic for Women. For Parents. Hope Clinic for Women. http://hopeclinic.com/ forparents.html

141

### 6.8 References

Bailey, Nicole, Geraldine Brown, Gayle Letherby, Corinne Wilson and Heather Di Marco. 2004. Teenage pregnancy: Medical encounters. *British Journal of Midwifery*, 12 (11): 680-5.

Bartley, Julia, Stephen Tong, Dawn Everington and David T. Baird. 2000. Parity is a major determinant of success rate in medical abortion: A retrospective analysis of 3161 consecutive cases of early medical abortion treated with reduced doses of mifepristone and vaginal gemeprost. *Contraception*, 62 (6): 297-303.

Blustain, Sarah. 2008. For the new anti-choice movement, it's all about the men. *The Nation*. http://www.alternet.org/reproductivejustice/74177/?page=entire

Brady, Geraldine, Geraldine Brown, Gayle Letherby, Julie Bayley and Louise M. Wallace. 2008. Young women's experience of termination and miscarriage: A qualitative study. *Human Fertility*, 11(3): 186-90.

Brown, Geraldine, Geraldine Brady, Corinne Wilson and Gayle Letherby. Forthcoming. "Teenage pregnancy and young parenthood: Questioning the inevitability of risk, lone motherhood and social exclusion." In *Trusting New Labour: Perceptions, policy and practice,* ed. N. Johns and A. Barton. New York: Edwin Mellen Publisher.

California Latinas for Reproductive Justice. 2010. Young Women Speak Out! Perspectives and Implications of Reproductive Health, Rights and Justice Policies. Los Angeles, CA: California Latinas for Reproductive Justice.

Carbonell, José Luis, A. Velazco, Lidia Varela, R. Tanda, Carlos Sánchez, Santiago Barambio, S. Chami, Francisco Valero, S. Aragón and J. Marí. 2001. Misoprostol for abortion at 9-12 weeks' gestation in adolescents. *The European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care*, 6 (1): 39-45.

Castaño, P., R.A. Martinez, M. Lara and C.L. Westhoff. 2010. TXT Now 2 Decrease Pregnancies L8R: A randomized control trial to evaluate the effect of daily educational text messages on oral contraceptive continuation in young urban women. Presented at Reproductive Health 2010, Atlanta, Georgia.

Chien, Li-Wei, Wei-Min Liu, Chii-Ruey Tzeng and Heng-Kien Au. 2009. Effect of previous live birth and prior route of delivery on the outcome of early medical abortion. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 113 (3): 669-74.

Creinin, Mitchell D., Ellen Wiebe and Melanie Gold. 1999. Methotrexate and misoprostol for early abortion in adolescent women. *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology*, 12 (2): 71-7.

Curtis, Kathryn M., Anshu P. Mohllajee and Herbert B. Peterson. 2006. Regret following female sterilization at a young age: A systematic review. *Contraception*, 73 (2): 205-10.

De Bruyn, Maria and Nadine France. 2001. *Gender or sex: who cares? Skills-building resource pack on gender and reproductive health for adolescents and youth workers.* Chapel Hill: Ipas.

De Bruyn, Maria and Sarah Packer. 2004. Adolescents, unwanted pregnancy and abortion. Policies, counseling and clinical care. Chapel Hill: Ipas.

Dickens, Bernard M. and Rebecca J. Cook. 2005. Adolescents and consent to treatment. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 89: 179-84.

Dinerman, Linda M., Michelle D. Wilson, Anne K. Duggan and Alain Joffe. 1995. Outcomes of adolescents using levonorgestrel implants vs oral contraceptives or other contraceptive methods. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, 149 (9): 967-72.

EngenderHealth and ICW. 2006. Sexual and Reproductive Health for HIV Positive Women and Adolescent Girls: Manual for Trainers and Program Managers. New York: EngenderHealth.



Exhale. 2006. Our Truths. No. 2. Oakland, CA: Exhale.

Exhale. 2007. Our Truths. No. 3. Oakland, CA: Exhale.

Fischer, Suzanne, Heidi Reynolds, Irina Yacobson, Barbara Barnett and Jane Schueller. 2007. HIV Counseling and Testing for Youth: A manual for providers. Research Triangle Park, NC: Family Health International.

Gold, Melanie A. and Susan M. Coupey. 1998. Attitudes of inner-city female adolescents toward medical and surgical abortion. *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology*, 11 (3): 127-31.

Halldén Britt-Marie, Kyllike Christenson and Pia Olsson. 2005. Meanings of being pregnant and having decided on abortion: Young Swedish women's experiences. *Health Care for Women International*, 26: 788-806.

Hamoda, Haitham, Premila W. Ashok, Gilliam M.M. Flett and Allan Templeton. 2004. Analgesia requirements and predictors of analgesia use for women undergoing medical abortion up to 22 weeks of gestation. *BJOG*, 111 (9): 996-1000.

Harvey, S. Marie, Linda J. Beckman and Sarah J. Satre. 2001. Choice of and satisfaction with methods of medical and surgical abortion among US clinic patients. *Family Planning Perspectives*, 33 (5): 212-6.

Herrick, Jeannine, Katherine Turner, Teresa McInerney and Laura Castleman. 2004. *Woman-centered postabortion care: Reference manual.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Honkanen, Helena, Gilda Piaggio, Helena von Hertzen, Gyorgy Bártfai, Radnaabazar Erdenetungalag, Kristina Gemzell-Danielsson, Sarala Gopalan, Mihai Horga, Fridtjof Jerve. Suneeta Mittal, Nguyen Thi Nhu Ngoc, Alexandre Peregoudov, R.N.V. Prasad, Alenka Pretnar-Darovec, Rashmi S Shah, Si Song, Oi Shan Tang and Shang Chun Wu. 2004. WHO multinational study of three misoprostol regimens after mifepristone for early medical abortion. II: Side effects and women's perceptions. *BJOG*, 111 (7): 715-25.

Ingham, Roger and Ellie Lee. 2008. Evaluation of early medical abortion (EMA) pilot sites: Final report. London: Department of Health, United Kingdom.

Institut National de la Statistique et de la Démographie (INSD) et ORC Macro. 2004. Enquête Démographique et de Santé du Burkina Faso 2003. Calverton, Maryland: INSD et ORC Macro.

Ipas. 2009a. Exploring men's roles in women's decisions to end pregnancies: A literature review with suggestions for action. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Ipas. 2009b. Medical Abortion Study Guide. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Ladha, Sophia. 2010. Personal communication.

Lee, Ellie. 2004. Young women, pregnancy and abortion in Britain: A discussion of law 'in practice.' *International Journal of Law, Policy and the Family,* 18: 283-304.

LeFebvre, Phillipe, Martine Cotte, Nicole Monniez and Gerard Norel. 2008. The role of parity in medical abortion up to 49 days of amenorrhoea. *European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care*, 13 (4): 404-11.

Mamers, Pam M., Anna L. Lavelle, Amanda J. Evans, Sandra M. Bell, Jen R. Rusden and David L. Healy. 1997. Women's satisfaction with medical abortion with RU486. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 167: 316-7.

McDougall, Janna, Tamara Fetters, Kathryn Andersen Clark and Tung Rathavy. 2009. Determinants of contraceptive acceptance among Cambodian abortion patients. *Studies in Family Planning*, 40 (2): 123-32.

Ministry of Health, Ethiopia. 2008. National comprehensive reproductive health services for adolescents and youth: Participant's manual. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: Ministry of Health, Ethiopia.

143

National Institute of Public Health, National Institute of Statistics [Cambodia] and ORC Macro. 2006. *Cambodia Demographic and Health Survey 2005*. Phnom Penh, Cambodia and Calverton, Maryland, USA: National Institute of Public Health, National Institute of Statistics and ORC Macro.

O'Dell, Christine M., Christine M. Forke, Margaret M. Polaneczky, Steven J. Sondheimer and Gail B. Slap. 1998. Depot medroxyprogesterone acetate or oral contraception in postpartum adolescents. *Obstetrics and Gynecology.* 91 (4): 609-14.

Otoide, Valentine O., Frank Oronsaye and Friday E. Okonofua. 2001. Why Nigerian adolescents seek abortion rather than contraception: Evidence from focus-group discussions. *International Family Planning Perspectives*. 27 (2): 77-81.

Participation Works. 2008. *Top tips for participation: What disabled young people want.* London: Participation Works.

Phelps, Rachael H., Eric A. Schaff and Stephen L. Fielding. 2001. Mifepristone abortion in minors. *Contraception*, 64 (6): 339-43.

Roberts, Helen, Martha Silva and Sylvia Xu. 2010. Post abortion contraception and its effect on repeat abortions in Auckland, New Zealand. *Contraception*, 82 (3): 260-5.

Scholes, Delia, Andrea Z. LaCroix, Laura E. Ichikawa, William E. Barlow and Susan M. Ott. 2005. Change in bone mineral density among adolescent women using and discontinuing depot medroxyprogesterone acetate contraception. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, 159: 139-44.

Secretaría de Salud [Honduras], Instituto Nacional de Estadística (INE) y Macro International. 2006. *Encuesta Nacional de Salud y Demografía 2005-2006*. Tegucigalpa, Honduras: SS, INE y Macro International.

Stevens-Simon, Catherine, Lisa Kelly and Rachael Kulick. 2001. A village would be nice but...it takes a long-acting contraceptive to prevent repeat adolescent pregnancies. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 21 (1): 60-5.

Suhonen, Satu, Oskari Heikinheimo, Marja Tikka and Maija Haukkamaa. 2003. The learning curve is rapid in medical termination of pregnancy—first-year results from the Helsinki area. *Contraception*, 67 (3): 223-7.

Teal, Stephanie B., Angela Dempsey-Fanning and Carolyn Westhoff. 2007. Predictors of acceptability of medication abortion. *Contraception*, 75 (3): 224-9.

Templeman, Claire L., Vernon Cook, Jane Goldsmith, Jacqueline Powell and S. Paige Hertweck. 2000. Postpartum contraceptive use among adolescent mothers. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 95 (5): 770-6.

Tolaymat, Lama L. and Andrew Kaunitz. 2007. Long-acting contraceptives in adolescents. *Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology.* 19: 453-60.

Turner, Katherine L. and Kimberly Chapman Page. 2008. *Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audiences.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

Velazco, A., Lidia Varela, R. Tanda, C. Sanchez, Santiago Barambio, S. Chami, Francisco Valero, S. Aragon, J. Mari and José Luis L. Carbonell. 2000. Misoprostol for abortion up to 9 weeks' gestation in adolescents. *European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care*, 5 (4): 227-33.

Westhoff, Carolyn, Radhika Dasmahapatra, Beverly Winikoff and Shelley Clarke. 2000a. Predictors of analgesia use during supervised medical abortion. *Contraception*, 61 (3): 225-9.

Westhoff, Carolyn, Radhika Dasmahapatra and Eric Schaff. 2000b. Analgesia during athome use of misoprostol as part of a medical abortion regimen. *Contraception*, 62 (6): 311-4.



World Health Organization. 2002. Adolescent friendly health services: An agenda for change. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. 2010a. Adolescent job aid: A handy desk reference tool for primary level health workers. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. 2010b. *Medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use,* Fourth ed. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

Ziebland, Sue, Sally Wyke, P. Seaman, K. Fairhurst, J. Walker and A. Glasier. 2005. What happened when Scottish women were given advance supplies of emergency contraception? A survey and qualitative study of women's views and experiences. *Social Science and Medicine*, 60 (8): 1767–79.

# **MODULE 6 TOOLS**

TOOL 6A: Making abortion care clinically appropriate handout

TOOL 6B: Through their eyes: Young women's experiences with abortion

TOOL 6C: Counseling skills

TOOL 6D: Abortion counseling for young women skills checklist

TOOL 6E: Young women's perception of abortion care survey

TOOL 6F: Sample wall poster



# TOOL 6A: Making abortion care clinically appropriate handout

# **Provider attitudes**

Provide care in an environment in which beliefs about gender, age, sexuality and abortion have been thoughtfully examined.

# **Options counseling**

Ensure that her decision has not been coerced by anyone and that she understands the three options: carry to term and raise, adoption, and abortion. Respect her decision even if you disagree with it.

# Abortion counseling

#### Respect

• Her questions, concerns and opinions about her health and health care are valid.

#### Interaction and communication

- Affirm the positive step the young woman has taken by seeking care.
- Be warm and without bias, anger or judgment, including body language.
- Let her talk before providing more information.
- Use indirect questions.
- Explain the meaning of common medical terms. Ask what words she uses.
- Respect her decision.

#### Confidentiality

• Explain and discuss issues of confidentiality.

#### Educating versus counseling

- Encourage questions and solicit her opinion before making any suggestions.
- Ask questions to determine any gaps in comprehension.

#### Length of time and presentation

• Counseling may take longer for young women than adults.

#### Sexuality

• Objectively discuss the concepts of sex, gender, healthy sexuality and adolescence.

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit Risks versus benefits

- Directly counter inaccurate information on the risks of abortion.
- Help her weigh potential risks against the benefits she has identified for herself.

#### Referrals

• Provide or refer for any other health-related information and services she may need.

## Postabortion contraceptive counseling and methods

- Ask her reproductive goals and phrase further discussion to match those goals.
- Remember that privacy needs can influence her selection of contraceptive method.
- Offer all young women the option of leaving the facility with at least one dose of emergency contraception.

#### Side effects

• When discussing side effects, differentiate them from complications.

#### Safety concerns

• Inform on safety of methods and address any concerns.

#### Clinical eligibility

Guidelines are the same for young women as for adult women.

- Sterilization Not clinically contraindicated, but young women are significantly more likely to experience regret after sterilization.
- Injectables Due to bone mass concerns, WHO lists as category 2 ("generally use the method") for women under 18.

## **Clinical care**

Mostly the same as for adult women

#### First pelvic exam

This may be her first pelvic exam, and she may be nervous or afraid.

- Ensure that there is at least visual and preferably auditory privacy.
- Explain what you are doing at each step.
- Perform the examination as gently and smoothly as possible.

#### Vacuum aspiration

A nulliparous woman is more likely to have a tight cervix and thus require a slower dilation process.

#### Medical abortion

Safe, effective and acceptable for young women, with the same dosages.

• The perception of pain and use of analgesia has been found to be higher in younger women than older women.

#### Follow-up

• Text messaging may be an effective follow-up medium.

# TOOL 6B: Through their eyes: Young women's experiences with abortion



# Objectives

By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Understand the wide range of different experiences that young women have with abortion.
- Identify assumptions they may hold about young women's experiences with abortion.
- Recognize how their assumptions may affect abortion care services for young women.



# Materials

• 12 posters (PowerPoint printouts), flipcharts, markers, tape, paper and pens



10 minutes: Introduction and Silent journaling, Part 1

15 minutes: Gallery walk and Silent journaling, Part 2

20 minutes: Discussion

45 minutes total time



• Print the 12 PowerPoint posters



# Instructions

- 1. Tell participants that in this activity they will explore and discuss young women's experiences with abortion.
- 2. Distribute papers and pens to all participants. Ask participants to reflect on how they think a young woman receiving abortion care at their clinic would describe her experience. Instruct participants that they have a few minutes to write down their ideas. You may say:
  - Imagine a young woman receiving abortion care in your clinic. How do you think she would describe the experience? Please take a few minutes to write down your thoughts.
- 3. After five minutes, ask if anyone feels comfortable sharing their thoughts. Write down their answers on a flipchart.
- 4. Post the 12 PowerPoint printouts around the room. Tell participants that the posters are actual quotes, drawings and stories from young women about their experiences or perceptions about abortion. Remind

participants that these are only a sample and do not represent all young women's views and experiences. Invite the participants to do a gallery walk around the room.

- 5. When the participants have had a chance to see all the posters, invite them to sit down and reflect on young women's experiences and perceptions. Instruct participants that they have five minutes to write down their reflections.
- 6. After five minutes, invite a few participants to share their thoughts about the young women's experiences. Write down their answers on a flipchart. You may wish to use the questions below to guide the discussion.
  - Thank you for completing the gallery walk. Please take five minutes to write down your reflections about these young women's experiences with and perceptions about abortion.
  - What did you notice about young women's experiences? What about young women's perceptions of abortion?
  - What did they make you think or feel?
  - What do you notice when you compare your earlier thoughts with these experiences and perceptions?
- 7. Ask participants if they feel the group made any assumptions about young women's experiences, and if so, why they made those assumptions and what effect they can have on quality of care. You may wish to use these discussion questions:
  - Do you feel the group as a whole made any assumptions about young women's experiences with abortion care? What are those assumptions?
  - Do you think that providers in general make assumptions about young women's experiences with abortion care? What are those assumptions?
  - Why do you think providers make such assumptions?
  - Why should providers care about the experiences that young women have with abortion?
  - What effects may assumptions about young women's experiences have on the quality of care providers give them?

**Note to facilitator:** You may wish to gently remind participants how traditional gender roles and social power dynamics can affect assumptions about young women's experiences. For example, in many communities, some people think that a woman, particularly a young woman, should be grateful to see a provider at all and her experience may therefore not be valued. Providers may also believe that the actions that led to her need for an abortion mean a young woman does not deserve to have a good experience. Reinforce that young women have a right to high quality safe abortion care and that a positive experience can have a positive impact on future care-seeking behaviors of both her and other women she knows.

- 8. Summarize some of the main discussion points of the activity. Reinforce that young women have a wide range of experiences with abortion care, and that providers play a critical role in ensuring that those experiences are positive.
- 9. Ask if any participants have any final thoughts about this activity.
- 10. Thank participants for participating in the activity.

#### Some PowerPoint slides for this activity are from:

International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF). 2010. I decide: Young women's journeys to seek abortion care. London, UK: IPPF.

# TOOL 6C: Counseling skills



# Purpose

This activity helps participants identify important aspects of abortion counseling for young women and provides an opportunity for them to practice those skills and receive feedback for performance improvement.



### Objectives

By the end of this activity, participants will be able to:

- Identify strengths and weaknesses in an abortion counseling session.
- Give feedback to other participants on their counseling skills.
- Use others' feedback to improve their own counseling skills.

# **B**r Materials

- Flipchart or board, and pens or chalk
- Copies of Counseling role play scenarios, Abortion counseling for young women skills checklist (Tool 6D) and Counseling skills improvement plan for each participant.



5 minutes: Introduction

20 minutes: First role play demonstration and discussion

20 minutes: Reframing statements

20 minutes: Second role play demonstration and discussion

55 minutes: Role play practice and conclusion

2 hours total time



Solicit two participants who would be good at role playing an abortion counselor and young woman, demonstrating both effective and ineffective counseling skills. Alternatively, arrange for a youth educator to play the role of the young woman. Well before the activity is scheduled, ask them to participate, give them the scenarios and discuss together in detail how to demonstrate the skit, including time limits.





- 1. Introduce the activity by discussing the importance of effective abortion counseling that is tailored to the needs of young women. Refer them to the sections on options and abortion counseling in Module 6 in the toolkit and review the following:
  - Young women's clinical abortion needs are mostly similar to those of adult women, but their life and social circumstances may be very different, impacting the nature of abortion counseling for them.
  - Providers need to be particularly aware of their own underlying attitudes toward young women's sexuality that may negatively affect counseling.
  - When possible, young women should be offered to receive counseling with a support person of their choice, or from a youth peer counselor.
  - A counselor who works effectively with young people has the ability to build rapport and earn their trust, respects their different life circumstances, has excellent communication skills, understands that young people may communicate differently than adults and has accurate knowledge of sexual and reproductive health and local guidelines, laws and cultural beliefs.
  - Providers should reassure young women at the beginning of the counseling session that they will provide the service but that there is some information they need to exchange beforehand.
  - Providers should be especially sensitive when it comes to the following:
    - Respect
    - Interaction and communication
    - Confidentiality
    - Educating versus counseling
    - Length of time and presentation
    - Sexuality
    - Risks versus benefits
    - Countering misinformation
    - Referrals
    - Involvement of male partner or other person
- 2. Inform participants that they are going to watch and then discuss a role play demonstration of a young woman's abortion counseling session. Designated participants will play the roles of counselor and young woman.
- 3. Distribute and review the contents of the Abortion counseling for young women skills checklist (Tool 6D), highlighting the main skill areas:
  - Positive rapport and woman-centered approach
  - Verbal and non-verbal communication
  - Empathy
  - Privacy and confidentiality
  - Professionalism
  - Abortion-specific content
  - Resources and referrals

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

- 4. Ask participants to note the counselor's effectiveness in these main skill areas as they observe the role play.
- 5. At the end of the role play, ask the following questions to the group, noting all responses on the flipchart:
  - What did you observe happening in this role play?
  - What did you observe about the young woman's experience in this counseling session?
  - What did you observe about the counselor?
- 6. Post a flipchart with three columns labeled *Effective, Not effective* and *How to improve* and say that, drawing from the preceding discussion, you will list what the counselor did and said that was effective, not effective and how the counselor can improve skills.
  - First ask participants what the counselor did and said that was effective, noting each item under the label *Effective*. Then ask participants what the counselor did and said that was not effective, noting each item under the label *Not Effective*. Once you have the list of what was not effective, ask participants to state how the counselor can improve each skill area.
  - Ensure that participants cover the main items from the Abortion counseling for young women skills checklist (Tool 6D). Participants may also want to refer to Modules 5 and 6.
- 7. Tell participants that they are going to practice framing sexual and reproductive health information in a positive way. Provide examples, such as:
  - Negatively framed: You neglected to use contraception to prevent this unwanted pregnancy, and now you want us to perform an abortion.

Positively framed: Once you realized you had an unwanted pregnancy, I'm glad you took steps to get safe abortion care with us.

• Negatively framed: The procedure is very painful, so we'll give you pain medication.

Positively framed: We'll work with you to help you feel comfortable and safe. Some women feel very little or no discomfort and for others, it's quite painful. We will give you pain medication and take other steps to lower your discomfort, and you can tell us if you need more.

- Divide participants into pairs and give them 10 minutes to reframe negative statements in a more positive way. Some negative examples include:
  - Healthy sexuality is about protecting yourself from diseases and unwanted pregnancy.
  - You should talk to your parents about this pregnancy, because you're too young to make an important decision about abortion on your own.
  - Once you have this abortion, you'll see why you need to abstain from sex until you are married and ready to have a baby.
  - You need to tell your boyfriend that when he wants to have sex with you, he needs to wear a condom so you don't get infected or pregnant.
  - You'll probably forget to take the pill and get pregnant again; you should get a long-term contraceptive method instead.
- 8. Have participants come back together and, for each negative statement, have 1-2 pairs share their positively-framed statement. Some positive examples include:
  - Healthy sexuality means you are able to express your sexuality in a positive and pleasurable way, have opportunities for love and intimacy, and have accurate information and access to appropriate health-care to make good decisions about protecting yourself from health problems.
  - The decision to have an abortion is an important one. Have you considered talking to a trusted adult who you think can support you and not impose their own views? I can help you practice telling them if you like.
  - It is difficult to know now how you will feel about having sex after the abortion. Let's talk about how you can protect yourself from another unwanted pregnancy before you decide to have sex again.

- It can be difficult to talk to a sexual partner about using contraception and preventing STIs before you have sex. Would you like to practice having that conversation and figuring out how you can make sure you are protected so you can feel secure and enjoy yourself?
- How well do you remember to do other things on a daily basis? If you think you might forget to take a pill every day, you can consider using a long-term or other contraceptive method.
- 9. Tell participants that we will now return to the counseling role play demonstration. This time the person playing the counselor will improve the weaknesses identified in the first role play by incorporating the effective skills participants listed, as well as suggestions on framing information in a positive way.
- 10. Ask participants to observe the second role play, noting the counselor's effectiveness in demonstrating the skills outlined in the Abortion counseling for young women skills checklist.
- 11. At the end of the role play, ask participants to list what the counselor did and said that was effective and which skills still need improvement. Note all responses on a flipchart.
- 12. Tell participants that they will now have an opportunity to practice their skills for counseling young women on abortion through role plays.
  - Explain that you will divide them into groups of three: one person will play the role of the young woman, another will play the counselor and the third will be the observer.
  - Ask participants to review the Abortion counseling for young women skills checklist before beginning. The participant playing the role of the young woman can select a scenario from the Counseling role play scenarios.
  - The counselor and the woman will role play for 10 minutes, while the observer evaluates the role play using the Abortion counseling for young women skills checklist.
  - At the end of each role play, groups will take five minutes for evaluation. The counselors will complete a self-assessment on the counseling skills they felt they performed well and areas for improvement. The women and the observers will then use the checklist to give feedback to the counselors.
  - The groups will then switch roles and conduct two more role plays, allowing each person the opportunity to play the role of counselor, young woman and observer.
- 13. Monitor time closely during role play practice, indicating when groups should transition from role plays to evaluation during each of the three role plays.
- 14. Return to the large group and discuss the activity with the following questions:
  - What were the most important counseling issues to arise?
  - How were the young women feeling about the counseling they received?
  - What were skills that counselors performed well?
  - Which counseling skills needed the most improvement?
  - What are some challenges in providing effective counseling to young women?
  - What steps will we take to improve our counseling skills for young women?
- 15. Distribute the Counseling skills improvement plan handouts and instruct participants to complete the form in 10 minutes. They should identify the skill improvement needed and plans for improvement. Ask them to use these plans to improve their skills once they are back at their facilities.
- 16. Solicit and discuss any outstanding questions, comments or concerns with participants. Thank the group for their participation.

## Counseling role play scenarios

#### Scenario 1

Marianna is a 17-year-old married woman who had a manual vacuum aspiration (MVA) abortion last year. She is pregnant again. She tells you she doesn't want to continue the pregnancy and wants an abortion, but is afraid of having another MVA. She says that she was using the pill when she got pregnant. Her husband, who is a year older, came with her to the clinic and is concerned about her health.

#### Scenario 2

Anita is a 14-year-old unmarried woman who comes to the clinic with her guardian. Her guardian says she needs an abortion because she cannot care for a child. Anita is very uncertain and fearful about the procedure.

#### Scenario 3

May is a 14-year-old unmarried woman who is a refugee in your country. She was raped in the refugee camp and became pregnant. She does not want to continue the pregnancy. Her family doesn't know about the rape or the pregnancy. She can't ask her family for support because they will disown her if they find out she was raped. May wonders if the clinic can help her.

#### Scenario 4

Zahera is a 17-year-old woman who comes to your clinic for a medical abortion. She tells you she doesn't want a baby yet, but she thinks that if she has an abortion, she may never be able to get pregnant again.

#### Scenario 5

Hope is a 22-year-old married woman who is HIV-positive. She is very shy and seems intimidated by the counselor. She says she and her husband want a baby very much but they think she should terminate the pregnancy because they don't want the baby to become infected with HIV.



## Counseling skills improvement plan

*Instructions:* Write the counseling skills you do not routinely perform well in the appropriate boxes, then complete the remaining boxes for each skill. You should identify the desired skill, improvement needed and plans for improvement.

Skill	Skill not routinely performed well	Desired skills and practices	Improvement needed	Plans for improvement
Positive rapport and woman-centered approach				
Verbal communication				
Nonverbal communication				
Empathy				
Privacy and confidentiality				
Professionalism				
Abortion-specific content				
Resources and referral				
Special populations in the abortion-care setting				

*From:* Hyman, Alyson G., Teresa McInerney and Katherine Turner. 2005. *Woman-centered abortion care: Trainer's manual.* Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas

# TOOL 6D: Abortion counseling for young women skills checklist

*Instructions for self-assessment:* Check "yes" or "no" depending on whether you routinely demonstrate each skill during your counseling sessions, and write comments.

*Instructions for observation:* Silently observe and evaluate the counseling session. Do not interact verbally or nonverbally with the woman or the counselor. Check "yes" or "no" depending on whether the counselor effectively demonstrates each skill during the counseling session and write comments. Discuss your evaluation and comments to the counselor in private at the end of the session.

Positive rapport and woman-centered approach	Yes	No	Comments
Is aware of own attitudes about young women's sexuality			
Treats questions, concerns and opinions as valid			
Is aware of when educating or counseling is needed			
Explicitly encourages young woman to ask questions			
Solicits young woman's opinion before making suggestions			
Accepts young woman's decisions, whether agreeing with them or not			
Verbal communication	Yes	No	Comments
Affirms the young woman's decision to seek care			
Asks what the young woman knows before giving more information			
Provides all relevant information on each treatment option			
Responds fully and honestly to all questions			
Avoids lecturing or scolding			

Provides information neutrally but warmly			
Listens to the young woman's questions and opinions			
Normalizes the conversation			
Uses the third person where possible			
Explains the meaning of common medical terms appropriately			
Asks what terms the young woman uses or for explanation of terms she uses that are unclear			
Determines that the young woman has understood information			
Provides comparisons for pain that the young woman has experienced			
Nonverbal communication	Yes	No	Comments
Provides picture-based and printed information			
Uses positive body language towards the young woman			
Empathy	Yes	No	Comments
Avoids judgment or anger			
ls patient			
Responds to the young woman's concerns and fears			

159

Offers support from a youth peer counselor, if available			
Privacy and confidentiality	Yes	No	Comments
Explains and discusses issues of confidentiality			
Asks the young woman in private whether she wants anyone else in the session			
Professionalism	Yes	No	Comments
Separates personal beliefs from professional responsibilities			
Ensures practices conform to			
professional standards			
Abortion-specific content	Yes	No	Comments
professional standards	Yes	No	Comments
professional standards Abortion-specific content Knows applicable laws and	Yes	No	Comments
professional standards         Abortion-specific content         Knows applicable laws and policies         Seeks to find legal means to	Yes	No	Comments
professional standardsAbortion-specific contentKnows applicable laws and policiesSeeks to find legal means to provide requested servicesInforms on sex, gender, healthy	Yes	No	Comments
professional standards         Abortion-specific content         Knows applicable laws and policies         Seeks to find legal means to provide requested services         Informs on sex, gender, healthy sexuality and adolescence			



# TOOL 6E: Young women's perception of abortion care survey

*Description:* This survey can be used to evaluate young women's perception of abortion care they received so that the quality of care can be improved. While this survey is intended to address the special needs of young women as is, it is recommended that the provider or clinic partner with local youth groups or young people to adapt the form (see Tool 4B, Working with young people). The form could also easily be adapted or used as is with adult women. There are two versions of the survey. The A-version is for aspiration abortion and the M-version is for medical abortion. It is recommended that young women themselves give input on any adaptations to the survey. **Surveys should be anonymous to ensure confidentiality.** 

#### Instructions:

# Distribute the survey to ALL abortion clients on the day they have their procedure or receive their medical abortion drugs.

- 1. Tell each client that it is important for your facility's staff to understand her experience and how your facility can improve care. Assure her that the survey is completely anonymous no one will find out her name, or that she had an abortion, from the survey.
- 2. Ask the woman to fill out the survey today or tomorrow while the experience is still fresh in her mind.
- 3. Hand the appropriate version of the survey to the client.
- 4. It is helpful to review or read through the survey questions with the client (without having her answer) and address any questions she may have. If the woman has a low literacy level, offer to have someone, such as a youth peer counselor, administer the survey verbally. In this case, the survey is not technically anonymous; although her name should not be written anywhere on the survey and her confidentiality should be upheld. Another option is for her to have a friend or family member help her fill it out and still submit anonymously.
- 5. Explain how she should submit the survey. If possible, provide a postage-paid envelope so that she may mail the survey without cost to her. If mailing the survey is not possible, provide an alternative way for clients to anonymously submit surveys.

*These surveys are adapted from:* Planned Parenthood Federation of America. 2011. CAPS Patient Perception of Care Survey. New York, NY: Planned Parenthood Federation of America.

### Your experience

#### A – version

We are always trying to make our services better. Please let us know how we are doing by answering the questions below.

All survey responses are anonymous to ensure confidentiality.

Please select only one response to the questions below unless otherwise noted.

#### FIRST CONTACT

1. When you first contacted us for an appointment, was the person friendly and helpful?

	□ Yes □	Could have been better		No				
2.	Did the person te	ell you:						
	a. What would	happen at the center?		Yes	🛛 No			
	b. What to do b	efore you came in?		Yes	🛛 No			
	c. How long you	u would be here?		Yes	🛛 No			
	d. If you needed	to bring an adult or other	persor	with you Yes	? □ No			
3. Did the person answer all of your questions?  Second Yes Second No.								
IN TH	E CENTER							

4.	Were you nervous when you came to the center?	Yes	🗅 No	
	If yes, did we help you feel better?	🛛 Yes	A little bit	🛛 No

- 5. How long did you sit in the waiting area before you were brought inside the clinic area?
  - Less than 15 minutes
  - About half an hour
  - □ About an hour
  - More than an hour
- 6. Was the waiting area:

a.	Clean?	Yes	🛛 No
b.	Comfortable?	Yes	🛛 No

- 7. If someone came with you to your appointment (like a friend or relative), were you able to decide if they should be present during the information session?
  - □ Yes □ No

162

8. During the information session, was the information explained to you clearly?

□ Yes □ A little bit □ No

9. During the information session, was the information explained to you objectively (without bias)?

□ Yes □ A little bit □ No

10. During the information session, were you given enough time to ask questions?

Yes

- 11. Did you understand all of your options?
  - □ Yes □ A little bit □ No

12. Were you able to decide for yourself what option to choose?

- □ Yes □ A little bit □ No
- 13. Do you feel that your decision was respected by the people in the center?

□ Yes □ A little bit □ No

- 14. Do you feel the people in the center really listened to you?
  - □ Yes □ A little bit □ No
- 15. Were you given information on contraceptives, if you wanted them?

□ Yes □ No

If yes:

Were the options explained to you clearly and objectively (without bias)?

🗅 Yes 🔹 No

Did you leave with the method of your choice?

🗅 Yes 🔹 No

#### WITH THE DOCTOR OR CLINICIAN

16. Did the doctor (or clinician) tell you beforehand what would happen during the procedure?

□ Yes □ A little bit □ No

17. If someone came with you to your appointment (like a friend or relative), were you allowed to decide if they would be present during the procedure?

Yes

18. Did you have enough time to ask the doctor (or clinician) any questions that you had?

 $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  Not really  $\Box$  No

- 19. Did you feel comfortable asking the doctor (or clinician) any questions that you had?
  - □ Yes □ Not really □ No
- 20. Did the doctor (or clinician) answer all of your questions and provide you with any information you requested?
  - □ Yes □ Not really □ No

163

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

21. Did the doctor (or clinician) help you feel relaxed during the procedure?

□ Yes □ A little bit □ No

- 22. What type of medicine did you have before or during the procedure to help you with the pain? (Mark all that apply.)
  - □ I took pain pills before the procedure.
  - □ I got medicine in a vein in my arm.
  - □ I got an injection inside my vagina.
  - □ I got medicine that put me to sleep.
  - □ I received something for the pain, but I am not sure what.
  - □ I did not have any pain medicine for the procedure.
- 23. How painful was the procedure?
  - □ Not painful at all
  - □ A little painful
  - Painful
  - Very painful
- 24. Did the staff do enough to help you with pain or discomfort?
  - □ Yes □ A little bit □ No
- 25. How would you describe the care you received from the doctor (or clinician)?
  - Great Great Great Great

#### **RECOVERY AND GOING HOME**

- 26. Were you told what phone number to call if you were worried or needed help?
  - □ Yes □ No
- 27. Did you understand when to call if you were worried or needed help?

□ Yes □ I wasn't sure □ No

#### THINKING ABOUT YOUR HEALTH CARE

- 28. Did you have enough privacy in the center?
  - □ Yes □ Could have been better □ No
- 29. Were you assured that your information would remain confidential?
  - □ Yes □ A little bit □ No
- 30. Did we treat you with care and respect?
  - □ Yes □ Sometimes □ No

31.	The staff gave me exactly what I needed when I needed it.											
	Strongly agree											
	🛛 Ag	Agree										
	Disagree											
	🗅 St	rongly disa	igree									
32.	On th	e scale bel	ow, how	would yo	ou rate th	e health d	care you r	eceived a	t the cen	ter?		
	Worst										Best	
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
33.	My ag	je is:										
	🗅 Ur	nder 18										
	□ 18-24											
	<b>D</b> 25	or older										
34.	Do yo	u have an <u>y</u>	y suggesti	ions for h	ow we ca	an improv	/e our abo	ortion car	e?			

### Your experience

#### M - version

We are always trying to make our services better. Please let us know how we are doing by answering the questions below.

All survey responses are anonymous to ensure confidentiality.

Please select only one response to the questions below unless otherwise noted.

#### FIRST CONTACT

1. When you first contacted us for an appointment, was the person friendly and helpful?

		Yes		Could have be	en better		No			
2.	Dio	d the perso	n tel	you:						
	a.	What wou	uld h	appen at the ce	enter?			Yes		No
	b.	What to c	lo be	fore you came	in?			Yes		No
	C.	How long	you	would be here	?			Yes		No
	d.	lf you nee	ded	to bring an adu	Ilt or other pe	rson		h you? Yes		No
3.	Dio	d the perso	n an	swer all of your	questions?			Yes		No
тμ										

#### IN THE CENTER

4.	Were you nervous when you came to the center?	Yes	🗅 No	
	If yes, did we help you feel better?	Yes	A little bit	🛛 No

- 5. How long did you sit in the waiting area before you were brought inside the clinic area?
  - Less than 15 minutes
  - □ About half an hour
  - □ About an hour
  - More than an hour
- 6. Was the waiting area:

a.	Clean?	Yes	🛛 No
b.	Comfortable?	Yes	🛛 No

- 7. If someone came with you to your appointment (like a friend or relative), were you able to decide if they should be present during the information session?
  - □ Yes □ No
- 8. During the information session, was the information explained to you clearly?

□ Yes □ A little bit □ No

9. During the information session, was the information explained to you objectively (without bias)?

□ Yes □ A little bit □ No

10. During the information session, were you given enough time to ask questions?

□ Yes □ No

- 11. Did you understand all of your options?
  - □ Yes □ A little bit □ No

12. Were you able to decide for yourself what option to choose?

- □ Yes □ A little bit □ No
- 13. Do you feel that your decision was respected by the people in the center?

□ Yes □ A little bit □ No

- 14. Do you feel the people in the center really listened to you?
  - □ Yes □ A little bit □ No
- 15. Were you given information on contraceptives, if you wanted them?

□ Yes □ No

If yes:

Were the options explained to you clearly and objectively (without bias)?

□ Yes □ No

Did you leave with the method of your choice?

🗅 Yes 🔹 No

#### WITH THE DOCTOR OR CLINICIAN

16. Did the doctor (or clinician) tell you what would happen after you took the pills?

□ Yes □ A little bit □ No

17. Did you have enough time to ask the doctor (or clinician) any questions that you had?

□ Yes □ Not really □ No

18. Did you feel comfortable asking the doctor (or clinician) any questions that you had?

□ Yes □ Not really □ No

- 19. Did the doctor (or clinician) answer all of your questions and provide you with any information you requested?
  - □ Yes □ Not really □ No
- 20. Did the doctor (or clinician) who gave you the pills make you feel relaxed?
  - □ Yes □ Not really □ No

- Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit
- 21. Did the doctor (or clinician) ensure that you would have a safe place to take the pills?
  - □ Yes □ No
- 22. Did the doctor (or clinician) do a good job explaining how to take the pills at home (or other safe place)?
  - YesA little bitNo
- 23. Did the doctor (or clinician) tell you about problems you might have after taking the pills?
  - YesNot reallyNo
- 24. Were you told what phone number to call if you were worried or needed help?
  - □ Yes □ No
- 25. Did you understand when to call if you were worried or needed help?
  - □ Yes □ I wasn't sure □ No
- 26. How would you describe the care you received from the doctor (or clinician)?
  - □ Great □ OK □ Bad

#### AT HOME (OUTSIDE CLINIC)

- 27. How much bleeding did you have after you took the pills?
  - □ Much heavier than a period
  - Like a heavy day on my period
  - □ Lighter than my period
- 28. How painful were your cramps after you took the pills?
  - □ Not painful at all
  - Not too bad
  - Very painful

#### THINKING ABOUT YOUR HEALTH CARE

- 29. Did you have enough privacy in the center?
  - □ Yes □ Could have been better □ No
- 30. Were you assured that your information would remain confidential?
  - □ Yes □ A little bit □ No
- 31. Did we treat you with care and respect?
  - □ Yes □ Sometimes □ No

32.	The staff gave me exactly what I needed when I needed it.										
	Strongly agree										
	🗅 Ag	Agree									
	Disagree										
	🗅 Str	ongly disa	gree								
33.	On the	e scale bel	ow, how	would yo	ou rate the	e health d	care you r	eceived a	t the cent	ter?	
	Worst										Best
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
34.	My ag	e is:									
	🛛 Un	der 18									
	<b>1</b> 8	-24									
	<b>D</b> 25	or older									
35.	Do yo	u have an <u>y</u>	/ suggesti	ons for h	ow we ca	an improv	/e our abo	ortion car	e?		

# TOOL 6F: Sample wall poster

### Description

This is a sample wall poster that providers and health facility staff may wish to adapt and use in their facility. We recommend partnering with local young people, particularly young women, to determine if they think this is a helpful tool. Young people or youth groups can also help to adapt the content of the poster, or create their own alternative poster together with providers.



Let us know how we're doing. We want to provide you with the best care possible.



# **Glossary of Terms**

Abortion care for young women: Abortion care for young women is rights-based, participatory, accessible, and clinically safe and appropriate.

Access to health care: Encompasses the availability of health-care services and the utilization of such services.

*Contraceptive counseling:* Talking and listening to people about their needs and desires for a future pregnancy to help them determine whether they need contraceptive methods, and, if so, help them choose the most suitable methods for their needs and lifestyle. Also known as family-planning counseling.

*Contraceptive services:* The provision of contraceptive counseling, methods and care appropriate to people's needs and lifestyles that help them control their fertility by preventing, delaying or spacing pregnancies. Also known as family-planning services.

*Contraindication:* Any factor in a client's condition that renders a particular course of treatment undesirable or inadvisable.

*Emotional support:* Gentle, caring assistance that demonstrates affirmation and support and allays fears and negative feelings. Emotional support can be physical, such as holding a person's hand, verbal, such as using reassuring words and nonverbal, such as giving an encouraging nod.

*Evolving capacity:* Refers specifically to children's ability to make decisions about their lives on their own. It is also the concept that a child's ability to make decisions evolves during the transition from infancy to childhood to adolescence.

*Family-planning services:* Another term for contraceptive services. The provision of contraceptive counseling, methods and care appropriate to people's needs and lifestyle that help them control their fertility by preventing, delaying or spacing pregnancies.

*Gender:* A person's internal sense of being somewhere along a continuum of female to male, which can be different from their sex and can fluctuate throughout the life cycle. Gender roles are shaped by a culture's expectations of how females and males should behave and cultural beliefs about what is inherently feminine and masculine.

Gender discrimination: The prejudicial treatment of women and girls based on gender.

*Gender equality:* When women and men have equal opportunities, freedoms and conditions. It does not imply that women and men are the same but that they have equal value and should be accorded equal treatment. Gender equality is a human right.

*Gender identity:* The way and state of being by which individuals choose to define/identify themselves along a gender continuum.

*Gender-based violence:* Any act of violence against women, independent of age, that results in, or is likely to result in, physical, sexual or mental harm or suffering, including threats of such acts, coercion or arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or in private life.

*Human right:* Any basic right or freedom to which all human beings are entitled and in whose exercise a government may not interfere.

Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E): Monitoring is the routine assessment of health-care services in order to provide feedback for ongoing quality improvement. Evaluation is the periodic assessment of overall improvements in health-care services. Monitoring looks at what is being done, whereas evaluation examines what has been achieved or what impact has been made.

*Pain management:* The use of medications, emotional and psychological support, changes in the physical environment and other means to decrease a person's experience of pain, which can be caused by anxiety, cervical dilation (before uterine evacuation procedures), and uterine cramping (during and after uterine evacuation or medical abortion). Studies have shown that clients who are scared or nervous are more likely to experience greater levels of pain during an abortion procedure than those whose fears or concerns have been allayed.

#### Ipas Abortion care for young women: A training toolkit

*Partnership between adults and young people:* A relationship in which both parties work together to address issues facing young people or on programs meant to serve young people. In a true partnership each party has the opportunity to make suggestions and decisions and the contribution of each is recognized and valued. A partnership also implies:

Voluntary and meaningful participation. Participation implies work *with and by* people, not merely *for* them.

Transfer of responsibility to young people. When young people are either only assigned tasks or consulted about certain processes, they cannot be considered partners. As young people receive and take responsibility they transition from being beneficiaries of programs to partners and leaders.

*Partnership Defined Quality for Youth (PDQ-Y):* A method used to increase the quality and accessibility of health-care services for young people, through youth-provider collaboration.

*Peer counseling:* Counseling and support performed by those who are considered similar in age or in other respects to the person who is being counseled.

*Postabortion care (PAC):* A series of clinical and related interventions including uterine evacuation, counseling, postabortion contraception and other sexual and reproductive health services and partnership with communities designed to manage incomplete abortion and related complications.

*Principle of capability:* Young people who understand that they need to protect their reproductive health, and who request reproductive health services to that end, can be considered capable of receiving reproductive health counseling and services without parental oversight, including abortion care.

*Reproductive health:* A state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity, in all matters relating to the reproductive system and to its functions and processes. Reproductive health therefore implies that people are able to have a satisfying and safe sex life and that they have the capability to reproduce and the freedom to decide if, when and how often to do so.

*Sexual health:* Sexual health is a state of physical, mental and social well-being in relation to sexuality. It requires a positive and respectful approach to sexuality and sexual relationships, as well as the possibility of having pleasurable and safe sexual experiences, free of coercion, discrimination and violence.

*Sex:* Refers to the biological characteristics that define humans as female or male. While these sets of biological characteristics are not mutually exclusive, as there are individuals who possess both, they tend to differentiate humans as males and females.

*Sexual and reproductive rights:* They embrace human rights that are already recognized in national laws, international human rights documents and other consensus statements. They include the right of all persons to:

- be free of coercion, discrimination and violence;
- the highest attainable standard of sexual health, including access to sexual and reproductive healthcare services;
- seek, receive and impart information related to sexuality;
- sexuality education;
- respect for bodily integrity;
- choose their partner;
- decide to be sexually active or not;
- consensual sexual relations;
- consensual marriage;
- decide whether or not, and when, to have children;
- pursue a satisfying, safe and pleasurable sexual life.
Sexual violence: Violence which is specifically sexual in nature, or directed against persons of one sex because of their sex.

Sexual orientation: Refers to the primary sexual attraction to the same, opposite or both sexes.

*Sexuality:* For most, sexuality is an important aspect of being human throughout life; it encompasses sex, gender identities and roles, sexual orientation, eroticism, pleasure, intimacy and reproduction. Sexuality is experienced and expressed in thoughts, fantasies, desires, beliefs, attitudes, values, behaviors, practices, roles and relationships.

Sexually healthy person: Someone who feels they have the right and ability – through accurate information and safe, respectful and comprehensive sexual and reproductive health care – to enjoy and express their sexuality. They are able to make good decisions to protect themselves while providing themselves with opportunities for love and intimacy.

Tokenism: Occurs when young people are included in, but not allowed to influence processes or decisions.

Unsafe abortion: An abortion that is performed either by persons lacking the necessary skills or in an environment lacking the minimal medical standards or both.

Young people: Men and women aged 10-24 years old.

# References

Advocates for Youth. 2001. Building effective youth-adult partnerships. Transitions, 14 (1): 10-2.

Cook, Rebecca and Bernard Dickens. 2000. Recognizing adolescents' 'evolving capacities' to exercise choice in reproductive healthcare. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*. 70: 13-21.

DFID. 2010. Youth Participation in Development, a Guide for Development Agencies and Policy Makers. London: DFID–CSO Youth Working Group.

Hyman, Alyson G. and Laura Castleman. 2005. *Woman-centered abortion care: Reference manual*. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas.

International Planned Parenthood Federation. 2009. *Sexual rights: An IPPF declaration, abridged version.* London: International Planned Parenthood Federation.

Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). 2002. National AIDS Councils: Monitoring and Evaluation Operations Manual. Geneva, Switzerland: UNAIDS.

UNFPA. 1995. Report of the International Conference on Population and Development, Cairo. New York: UN.

United Nations. Discrimination and the Rights of the Child. New York: UN. http://cyberschoolbus.un.org/ student/2010/rights\_of\_the\_child\_\_backgrounddoc.pdf

World Health Organization. Sexual Health. World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/topics/sexual\_health/en/

YouthNet and Family Health International. 2005. Youth Participation Guide: Assessment, Planning and Implementation. Arlington, VA: Family Health International.

# WORKSHOP TOOLS

Four-day workshop agenda

Pre-workshop survey

Post-workshop survey

Workshop survey answer key

Workshop evaluation form

Certificate of completion





# Abortion care for young women Four-day workshop agenda

# DAY ONE

Time	Activity	Materials <sup>1</sup>
30 minutes	Participant registration	
10 minutes	Workshop pre-survey	
30 minutes	Workshop introduction <sup>2</sup>	
15 minutes	Introductory icebreaker <sup>3</sup>	
	Module 1: Introduction	•
5 minutes	Introduce Module 1	PPT slides
20 minutes	Young women are	Tool 1B
15 minutes	BREAK	
40 minutes	VCAT activity: Comfort continuum <sup>4</sup>	
5 minutes	Interactive lecture: Section 1.1	PPT slides
40 minutes	VCAT activity: Reasons why⁴	
40 minutes	Gender and abortion	Tool 1C
1 hour	LUNCH	· · · · · ·
5 minutes	Interactive lecture: Section 1.2	PPT slides
25 minutes	Defining a sexually healthy young person	Tool 1D
5 minutes	Energizer	
40 minutes	VCAT activity: The last abortion <sup>₄</sup>	
5 minutes	Interactive lecture: Section 1.3	PPT slides
15 minutes	BREAK	·
1 hour	Support we needed as youth	Tool 1E
10 minutes	Module 1 summary	Tool 1A
5 minutes	Daily evaluation	
	Co-facilitators debrief	

# DAY TWO

Time	Activity	Materials <sup>1</sup>				
Module 2: Barriers to care						
10 minutes	Review yesterday's activities/preview today's agenda					
10 minutes	Icebreaker					
5 minutes	Introduce Module 2	PPT slides				
50 minutes	Barriers to care	Tool 2B				
20 minutes	Interactive lecture: Sections 2.1-2.6	PPT slides				
10 minutes	Module 2 summary	Tool 2A				

15 minutes	BREAK				
Module 3: A rights-based approach to care					
5 minutes	Introduce Module 3	PPT slides			
50 minutes	VCAT activity: Four corners <sup>4</sup>				
1 hour, 15 minutes	Young women, international rights and abortion	Tool 3B			
1 hour	LUNCH				
5 minutes	Energizer				
10 minutes	Interactive lecture: Sections 3.1-3.2	PPT slides			
1 hour, 15 minutes	The principle of capability	Tool 3C			
15 minutes	BREAK				
5 minutes	Interactive lecture: Section 3.3	PPT slides			
10 minutes	Module 3 summary	Tool 3A			
5 minutes	Daily evaluation				
	Co-facilitators debrief				

# DAY THREE

Time	Activity	Materials <sup>1</sup>				
10 minutes	Review yesterday's activities/preview today's agenda					
10 minutes	Icebreaker					
Module 4: Building partnerships between young people and adults						
5 minutes	Introduce Module 4	PPT slides				
50 minutes	Working with young people	Tool 4B				
15 minutes	Interactive lecture: Sections 4.1-4.4	PPT slides				
15 minutes	Review and discuss: How young people can partner in, lead and transform abortion care	Tool 4C				
15 minutes	BREAK					
15 minutes	Review and discuss: Barriers to establishing successful partnerships with young people and how to overcome them	Tool 4D				
5 minutes	Interactive lecture: Section 4.5	PPT slides				
15 minutes	Review and discuss: Evaluating partnerships with young people	Tool 4E				
10 minutes	Module 4 summary	Tool 4A				
	Module 5: Making abortion care accessible					
5 minutes	Introduce Module 5	PPT slides				
45 minutes	Addressing barriers to care	Tool 5B				
1 hour	LUNCH					
5 minutes	Energizer					
20 minutes	Interactive lecture: Sections 5.1-5.5	PPT slides				
15 minutes	Review and discuss: Service readiness assessment questions for providing abortion care to young women	Tool 5C				
15 minutes	Review and discuss: Improving abortion standards and guidelines for young women	Tool 5D				

176

1 hour, 15 minutes	Improving abortion access for young women	Tool 5E
15 minutes	BREAK	
10 minutes	Module 5 summary	Tool 5A
1 hour	VCAT activity: Talking about abortion <sup>4</sup>	
5 minutes	Daily evaluation	
	Co-facilitators debrief	

# DAY FOUR

Time	Activity	Materials <sup>1</sup>			
Module 6: Making abortion care clinically appropriate					
10 minutes	Review yesterday's activities/preview today's agenda				
10 minutes	Icebreaker				
5 minutes	Introduce Module 6	PPT slides			
45 minutes	Through their eyes: Young women's experiences with abortion	Tool 6B			
15 minutes	BREAK				
2 hours	Counseling skills	Tools 6C/D			
1 hour	LUNCH				
5 minutes	Energizer				
20 minutes	Interactive lecture: Sections 6.1-6.6	PPT slides			
15 minutes	Review and discuss: Young women's perception of abortion care survey	Tool 6E			
15 minutes	Review and discuss: Sample wall poster	Tool 6F			
10 minutes	Module 6 summary	Tool 6A			
15 minutes	BREAK				
15 minutes	Workshop closing				
25 minutes	VCAT activity: Closing reflections <sup>4</sup>				
20 minutes	Post-workshop survey and evaluation				
15 minutes	Presentation of Certificates of participation				
	Co-facilitators debrief				

<sup>1</sup> Please refer to the materials list for each activity.

<sup>2</sup> See Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audiences for a sample workshop introduction (available on the CD-ROM and at www.ipas.org).

<sup>3</sup> See *Effective training in reproductive health: Course design and delivery* for examples of icebreakers and energizers (available on the CD-ROM and at www.ipas.org).

<sup>4</sup> See Abortion attitude transformation: A values clarification toolkit for global audience for the VCAT activities suggested in this agenda (available on the CD-ROM and at www.ipas.org). Use activities adapted for youth, where available.

Abortion care for young women

# Pre-workshop survey

Please answer the following questions according to your knowledge and beliefs at this time. Please do not include your name. You will create a unique identifier to allow us to match your pre- and post-survey responses while maintaining your confidentiality. Responses without identifying information may be used for evaluation purposes and professional presentations and publications. Thank you!

Your unique identifier:

	Number of sisters:	Birthday month:	Last 3 digits of your mobile phone number:	Name of the region where you were born:
Example:	0	April	024	Ashanti Region
Your information:				

# PLEASE NOTE: The term "young" in this survey refers to people ages 10-24.

## Please circle TRUE, FALSE or I DON'T KNOW for each question below.

- 1. Pregnancy and childbirth-related complications continue to be one of the leading causes of death for women 15-19 years old.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 2. Gender is the same as sex.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 3. Stigma is a characteristic or attribute for which a person is considered tainted or lesser.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 4. Young women often do not seek access to safe abortion care because they do not have access to money.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.

- 5. The Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989) states that children and young people have the right to independent decisionmaking in accordance with their capacities. The Committee on the Rights of the Child (2011) has interpreted this to apply to abortion.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 6. The Committee on the Rights of the Child (2009) affirms that children of any age have a right to private and confidential medical counseling and advice only with parental consent.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 7. Tokenism occurs when young people have full participation in a partnership with adults.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 8. A partnership between adults and young people includes both voluntary and meaningful participation and a transfer of responsibility to young people.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 9. Facilities should be open between 9am and 5pm to ensure access to young women.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 10. Providers and staff with negative attitudes towards abortion care for young women are recommended to attend values clarification workshops.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 11. Counseling sessions with young women will usually be shorter than with adult women.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know

- 12. The provider should help the young woman make her decision based on what the provider knows is best.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know

## Please circle only ONE correct response for each question below.

- 13. In 2003, young women accounted for approximately \_\_\_\_\_\_ of the estimated unsafe abortion-related deaths globally.
  - a. 10 percent
  - b. 25 percent
  - c. 45 percent
- 14. One of the social barriers that young women face when seeking safe abortion care is:
  - a. Gender discrimination
  - b. Cost
  - c. Transportation
  - d. None of the above
- 15. The principle of capability states that young people who understand that they need to protect their reproductive health, and who request reproductive health services to that end, can be considered capable of receiving reproductive health counseling and services:
  - a. with parental consent.
  - b. without parental involvement, excluding abortion.
  - c. without parental involvement, including abortion.
- 16. A successful partnership between young people and adults should be based on:
  - a. Tokenism
  - b. Trust, respect and civic values
  - c. Stereotyping of young people
  - d. Young people always getting what they want
  - e. Both b and d
- 17. Which of the following strategies could reduce economic or logistical barriers to safe abortion care for young women?
  - a. Lower the cost of abortion care.
  - b. Ensure auditory and visual privacy during counseling and procedures.
  - c. Create community-run transportation network.
  - d. Educate community about the specifics of the laws.
  - e. Both a and c

- 18. What is the first thing a provider/staff person should do when a young woman comes in for safe abortion care?
  - a. Let her talk before providing more information.
  - b. Encourage questions and solicit her opinion.
  - c. Affirm the positive step she has taken by seeking safe care.
  - d. Explain and discuss issues of confidentiality.

# Please circle ALL of the correct responses for each question below. (There may be more than one correct response.)

- 19. The Four Pillars of abortion care for young women are:
  - a. Confidentiality
  - b. Privacy
  - c. Respect for young women and their rights
  - d. Participation by young women in all stages of service delivery
  - e. Safety and appropriateness
  - f. Countering misinformation
  - g. Accessibility
- 20. The benefits of a partnership with young people and adults can include which of the following?
  - a. Fulfilling rights and desires
  - b. Adults have less work to do
  - c. Learning and empowerment
  - d. There are no benefits
  - e. Improving communication about difficult topics
  - f. Reducing barriers and improving health care
- 21. Which of the following may require special considerations for young women?
  - a. Pelvic exam
  - b. No touch technique
  - c. Vacuum aspiration
  - d. Medical abortion
  - e. Sterilization

# Please respond below based on your current beliefs and comfort levels. Please circle only one response for each question.

		Please	e circle	e one:	
	Stro disa			Stron agr	
I support the sexual and reproductive rights of young people.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel comfortable discussing young people's sexuality.	1	2	3	4	5
I agree that young people have a right to accurate information about sexual and reproductive health.	1	2	3	4	5
I support the provision of contraceptive services to young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel comfortable working to increase access to contraceptive services for young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I support the provision of abortion services to young women as permitted by law in my country.	1	2	3	4	5
I support young women's right to decide whether, when and with whom to have a child.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel comfortable working to increase access to abortion services for young women as permitted by law in my country.	1	2	3	4	5
I agree that by voluntarily seeking safe abortion care, young women should be presumed capable of informed consent to such care as permitted by law in my country.	1	2	3	4	5
I agree that young women deserve respectful and nonjudgmental abortion care.	1	2	3	4	5
I agree that young people have the right to be actively involved in designing, providing and evaluating abortion services for young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I would feel comfortable observing an abortion procedure on a young woman.	1	2	3	4	5
I would feel comfortable performing or assisting an abortion procedure on a young woman.	1	2	3	4	5
I am clear about my personal values concerning abortion care for young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel very conflicted about abortion care for young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I can clearly explain my personal values concerning abortion care for young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I can respectfully explain values concerning abortion care for young women that conflict with mine.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel empathy for young women who have experienced abortion.	1	2	3	4	5
All young women should have access to safe, comprehensive abortion care.	1	2	3	4	5
Young women's access to abortion should be restricted to certain circumstances.	1	2	3	4	5

182

Please briefly describe your greatest values conflict about abortion care for young women. (This is a conflict between two or more different values concerning abortion care for young women.) *Please copy the exact wording of your values conflict on a separate paper where you can refer to it again for the post-workshop survey.* 

I intend to do the following within the next six months:	Pl	ease cir	cle one:
Learn more about the need for safe, comprehensive abortion care for young women in my community.	Yes	Yes No	
Raise awareness about the need for safe, comprehensive abortion care for young women in my community.	Yes	No	
Advocate making safe, comprehensive abortion care widely available to young women in my community.	Yes	No	
Work to reduce the barriers to abortion care for young women that exist in my community/facility.	Yes	No	
Educate members of my community, including young women, about safe abortion services.	Yes	No	
Refer young women seeking abortion to safe services.	Yes	No	
Partner with young people to improve abortion services for young women in my community/facility.	Yes	No	
(For health-care workers) Provide or assist with safe, comprehensive abortion procedures on young women.	Yes	No	Not applicable
(For clinical trainers) Train other providers to perform or assist with safe, comprehensive abortion procedures on young women.	Yes	No	Not applicable

## Please respond below so we can plan a productive, satisfying workshop:

Two topics I hope we will address in this workshop are:

1. \_\_\_\_\_

2. \_\_\_\_\_

What else would you like the facilitators to know as they are leading this workshop?

Please provide us with some information about you.	
Your gender:	
Your religious or faith affiliation:	
Your primary professional affiliation: (Please select one)	
Ob-gyn	
Nurse midwife	
Other health-care provider (please specify):	
Health facility administrator	
Lawyer	
Ministry of Health	
NGO staff	
Women's group	
Media professional	
Elected official	
Other (please specify):	

184 Pre-workshop survey

# Abortion care for young women

# Post-workshop survey

Please answer the following questions according to your knowledge and beliefs at this time. Please do not include your name. You will create a unique identifier to allow us to match your pre- and post-survey responses while maintaining your confidentiality. Responses without identifying information may be used for evaluation purposes and professional presentations and publications. Thank you!

Your unique identifier:

	Number of sisters:	Birthday month:	Last 3 digits of your mobile phone number:	Name of the region where you were born:
Example:	0	April	024	Ashanti Region
Your information:				

# PLEASE NOTE: The term "young" in this survey refers to people ages 10-24.

## Please circle TRUE, FALSE or I DON'T KNOW for each question below.

- 1. Pregnancy and childbirth-related complications continue to be one of the leading causes of death for women 15-19 years old.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 2. Gender is the same as sex.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 3. Stigma is a characteristic or attribute for which a person is considered tainted or lesser.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 4. Young women often do not seek access to safe abortion care because they do not have access to money.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.

- 5. The Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989) states that children and young people have the right to independent decisionmaking in accordance with their capacities. The Committee on the Rights of the Child (2011) has interpreted this to apply to abortion.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 6. The Committee on the Rights of the Child (2009) affirms that children of any age have a right to private and confidential medical counseling and advice only with parental consent.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 7. Tokenism occurs when young people have full participation in a partnership with adults.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 8. A partnership between adults and young people includes both voluntary and meaningful participation and a transfer of responsibility to young people.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 9. Facilities should be open between 9am and 5pm to ensure access to young women.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 10. Providers and staff with negative attitudes towards abortion care for young women are recommended to attend values clarification workshops.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 11. Counseling sessions with young women will usually be shorter than with adult women.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know

- 12. The provider should help the young woman make her decision based on what the provider knows is best.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know

#### Please circle only ONE correct response for each question below.

- 13. In 2003, young women accounted for approximately \_\_\_\_\_\_ of the estimated unsafe abortion-related deaths globally.
  - a. 10 percent
  - b. 25 percent
  - c. 45 percent
- 14. One of the social barriers that young women face when seeking safe abortion care is:
  - a. Gender discrimination
  - b. Cost
  - c. Transportation
  - d. None of the above
- 15. The principle of capability states that young people who understand that they need to protect their reproductive health, and who request reproductive health services to that end, can be considered capable of receiving reproductive health counseling and services:
  - a. with parental consent.
  - b. without parental involvement, excluding abortion.
  - c. without parental involvement, including abortion.
- 16. A successful partnership between young people and adults should be based on:
  - a. Tokenism
  - b. Trust, respect and civic values
  - c. Stereotyping of young people
  - d. Young people always getting what they want
  - e. Both b and d
- 17. Which of the following strategies could reduce economic or logistical barriers to safe abortion care for young women?
  - a. Lower the cost of abortion care.
  - b. Ensure auditory and visual privacy during counseling and procedures.
  - c. Create community-run transportation network.
  - d. Educate community about the specifics of the laws.
  - e. Both a and c

- 18. What is the first thing a provider/staff person should do when a young woman comes in for safe abortion care?
  - a. Let her talk before providing more information.
  - b. Encourage questions and solicit her opinion.
  - c. Affirm the positive step she has taken by seeking safe care.
  - d. Explain and discuss issues of confidentiality.

# Please circle ALL of the correct responses for each question below. (There may be more than one correct response.)

- 19. The Four Pillars of abortion care for young women are:
  - a. Confidentiality
  - b. Privacy
  - c. Respect for young women and their rights
  - d. Participation by young women in all stages of service delivery
  - e. Safety and appropriateness
  - f. Countering misinformation
  - g. Accessibility
- 20. The benefits of a partnership with young people and adults can include which of the following?
  - a. Fulfilling rights and desires
  - b. Adults have less work to do
  - c. Learning and empowerment
  - d. There are no benefits
  - e. Improving communication about difficult topics
  - f. Reducing barriers and improving health care
- 21. Which of the following may require special considerations for young women?
  - a. Pelvic exam
  - b. No touch technique
  - c. Vacuum aspiration
  - d. Medical abortion
  - e. Sterilization

# Please respond below based on your current beliefs and comfort levels. Please circle only one response for each question.

		Please circle one:			
	Stro disa			Stron agre	
I support the sexual and reproductive rights of young people.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel comfortable discussing young people's sexuality.	1	2	3	4	5
I agree that young people have a right to accurate information about sexual and reproductive health.	1	2	3	4	5
I support the provision of contraceptive services to young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel comfortable working to increase access to contraceptive services for young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I support the provision of abortion services to young women as permitted by law in my country.	1	2	3	4	5
I support young women's right to decide whether, when and with whom to have a child.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel comfortable working to increase access to abortion services for young women as permitted by law in my country.	1	2	3	4	5
I agree that by voluntarily seeking safe abortion care, young women should be presumed capable of informed consent to such care as permitted by law in my country.	1	2	3	4	5
I agree that young women deserve respectful and nonjudgmental abortion care.	1	2	3	4	5
I agree that young people have the right to be actively involved in designing, providing and evaluating abortion services for young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I would feel comfortable observing an abortion procedure on a young woman.	1	2	3	4	5
I would feel comfortable performing or assisting an abortion procedure on a young woman.	1	2	3	4	5
I am clear about my personal values concerning abortion care for young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel very conflicted about abortion care for young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I can clearly explain my personal values concerning abortion care for young women.	1	2	3	4	5
I can respectfully explain values concerning abortion care for young women that conflict with mine.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel empathy for young women who have experienced abortion.	1	2	3	4	5
All young women should have access to safe, comprehensive abortion care.	1	2	3	4	5
Young women's access to abortion should be restricted to certain circumstances.	1	2	3	4	5

Please rewrite here the same values conflict about abortion care for young women you wrote on your pre-workshop survey.

I intend to do the following within the next six months:		Please circle one:		
Learn more about the need for safe, comprehensive abortion care for young women in my community.	Yes	No		
Raise awareness about the need for safe, comprehensive abortion care for young women in my community.	Yes	No		
Advocate making safe, comprehensive abortion care widely available to young women in my community.	Yes	No		
Work to reduce the barriers to abortion care for young women that exist in my community/facility.	Yes	No		
Educate members of my community, including young women, about safe abortion services.	Yes	No		
Refer young women seeking abortion to safe services.	Yes	No		
Partner with young people to improve abortion services for young women in my community/facility.	Yes	No		
(For health-care workers) Provide or assist with safe, comprehensive abortion procedures on young women.	Yes	No	Not applicable	
(For clinical trainers) Train other providers to perform or assist with safe, comprehensive abortion procedures on young women.	Yes	No	Not applicable	

190

### Please provide us with some information about you.

Your gender: \_\_\_\_\_

Your religious or faith affiliation:

Your primary professional affiliation: (Please select one)

- \_\_\_\_ Ob-gyn
- \_\_\_\_ Nurse midwife
- \_\_\_\_ Other health-care provider (please specify): \_\_\_\_\_
- \_\_\_\_ Health facility administrator
- \_\_\_\_ Lawyer
- \_\_\_\_ Ministry of Health
- \_\_\_\_ NGO staff
- \_\_\_\_ Women's group
- \_\_\_\_ Media professional
- \_\_\_\_ Elected official
- \_\_\_\_ Other (please specify): \_\_\_\_\_

191

# Abortion Care for Young Women

# Workshop survey answer key

# Correct answers appear in bold.

1. Pregnancy and childbirth-related complications continue to be one of the leading causes of death for women 15-19 years old.

## a. True

- b. False
- c. I don't know.
- 2. Gender is the same as sex.
  - a. True

## b. False

- c. I don't know.
- 3. Stigma is a characteristic or attribute for which a person is considered tainted or lesser.

## a. True

- b. False
- c. I don't know.
- 4. Young women often do not seek access to safe abortion care because they do not have access to money.

### a. True

- b. False
- c. I don't know.
- 5. The Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989) states that children and young people have the right to independent decisionmaking in accordance with their capacities. The Committee on the Rights of the Child (2011) has interpreted this to apply to abortion.

### a. True

- b. False
- c. I don't know.
- 6. The Committee on the Rights of the Child (2009) affirms that children of any age have a right to private and confidential medical counseling and advice only with parental consent.
  - a. True
  - b. False, without parental consent.
  - c. I don't know.



- 7. Tokenism occurs when young people have full participation in a partnership with adults.
  - a. True
  - **b.** False, young people are included in name only.
  - c. I don't know.
- 8. A partnership between adults and young people includes both voluntary and meaningful participation and a transfer of responsibility to young people.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 9. Facilities should be open between 9am and 5pm to ensure access to young women.
  - a. True
  - b. False, make open hours as long as possible.
  - c. I don't know.
- 10. Providers and staff with negative attitudes towards abortion care for young women are recommended to attend values clarification workshops.
  - a. True
  - b. False
  - c. I don't know.
- 11. Counseling sessions with young women will usually be shorter than with adult women.
  - a. True
  - **b.** False, they may take longer.
  - c. I don't know
- 12. The provider should help the young woman make her decision based on what the provider knows is best.
  - a. True
  - **b.** False, the provider should help her weigh the benefits and risks and solicit her opinion before making any suggestions. The provider should respect the young woman's final decision.
  - c. I don't know
- 13. In 2003, young women accounted for approximately \_\_\_\_\_\_ of the estimated unsafe abortion-related deaths globally.
  - a. 10 percent
  - b. 25 percent
  - c. 45 percent

14. One of the social barriers that young women face when seeking safe abortion care is:

## a. Gender discrimination

- b. Cost
- c. Transportation
- d. None of the above
- 15. The principle of capability states that young people who understand that they need to protect their reproductive health, and who request reproductive health services to that end, can be considered capable of receiving reproductive health counseling and services:
  - a. with parental consent.
  - b. without parental involvement, excluding abortion.

# c. without parental involvement, including abortion.

- 16. A successful partnership between young people and adults should be based on:
  - a. Tokenism

## b. Trust, respect and civic values

- c. Stereotyping of young people
- d. Young people always getting what they want
- e. Both b and d
- 17. Which of the following strategies could reduce economic or logistical barriers to safe abortion care for young women?
  - a. Lower the cost of abortion care.
  - b. Ensure auditory and visual privacy during counseling and procedures.
  - c. Create community-run transportation network.
  - d. Educate community about the specifics of the laws.

### e. Both a and c

- 18. What is the first thing a provider/staff person should do when a young woman comes in for safe abortion care?
  - a. Let her talk before providing more information.
  - b. Encourage questions and solicit her opinion.

# c. Affirm the positive step she has taken by seeking safe care.

d. Explain and discuss issues of confidentiality.



- 19. The Four Pillars of abortion care for young women are:
  - a. Confidentiality
  - b. Privacy
  - c. Respect for young women and their rights
  - d. Participation by young women in all stages of service delivery
  - e. Safety and appropriateness
  - f. Countering misinformation
  - g. Accessibility
- 20. The benefits of a partnership with young people and adults can include which of the following?
  - a. Fulfilling rights and desires
  - b. Adults have less work to do
  - c. Learning and empowerment
  - d. There are no benefits
  - e. Improving communication about difficult topics
  - f. Reducing barriers and improving health care
- 21. Which of the following may require special considerations for young women?
  - a. Pelvic exam
  - b. No touch technique
  - c. Vacuum aspiration
  - d. Medical abortion
  - e. Sterilization

# Workshop evaluation form

*GOAL:* The goal of this workshop is to engage providers, health-care professionals and other stakeholders to ensure access to rights-based, participatory, clinically safe and appropriate abortion care for young women.

OBJECTIVES: By the end of this workshop, participants will be able to:

- Articulate how their perceptions and assumptions may affect their interactions and delivery of abortion care for young women.
- Demonstrate increased empathy for young women seeking abortion.
- Articulate how assumptions about gender and sexuality may affect their attitudes about young women's needs for abortion care.
- Define a sexually healthy young person.
- Describe the different barriers young women encounter when seeking safe abortion care.
- Identify human, sexual and reproductive rights that support a young woman's right to safe abortion.
- Describe their role in ensuring a young woman's right to safe abortion.
- Identify the assumptions they make about the decisionmaking capabilities of young women.
- Determine if a young woman can be considered capable of deciding if she needs abortion care, using the "principle of capability."
- Explore how young women can participate in abortion-related services and programs at the community and clinic levels.
- Identify different strategies to address the challenges young women face in accessing abortion care, including involvement of young people.
- Develop strategies to improve abortion access and service delivery for young women.
- Identify strengths and weaknesses in an abortion counseling session.

Please rate the workshop on each item below using the following scale. Please use the comments section to provide more information about the rating and suggestions for improvement.

# 4 = strongly agree 3 = agree 2 = disagree 1 = strongly disagree

Rating

The workshop fulfilled its goal and objectives (see above).

Comments:



The workshop was well organized.

Comments:

The workshop topics were appropriate. Comments:

The facilitators used effective training methods. Comments:

The facilitators responded to participants' needs. Comments:

The workshop materials (handouts, worksheets, etc.) were effective. Comments:

There were enough opportunities for discussion. Comments:

The break, lunch and other logistical arrangements were satisfactory. Comments:

What suggestions can you make to improve this workshop in the future?

Your general comments and suggestions:



Workshop	CERTIFICATE OF PARTICIPATION Awarded to	Name	Date Completed	ure Hours Completed
		I	Place	Signature

**Abortion Care for Young Women** 

















a global leader in reproductive health

